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www.pbsp.org.ph

About PBSP
Philippine Business for Social Progress 
is the largest business-led NGO at 
the forefront of strategic corporate 
citizenship and business sector 
leadership, contributing to sustainable 
development and poverty reduction. 
Established in 1970, PBSP remains a 
consultant and partner of choice of 
companies and donors. 

PBSP scales up impact by adopting 
the Collective Impact strategy to solve 
large, complex, systemic problems.  
PBSP organizes Platforms for 
Collective Engagements (PlaCEs) to 
ensure alignment and sustainability of 
initiatives by multiple stakeholders.

Responding to the changing landscape 
of CSR, PBSP’s brand of corporate 
citizenship taps into the core business 
competencies of companies and 
promotes inclusive business as a 
strategy. PBSP also continues to 
strategically engage companies 
through social investment, responsible 
business practices, and philanthropy.

PBSP creates sustainable solutions to 
societal problems in its core program 
areas which are Health, Education, 
Environment, and Livelihood and 
Enterprise Development. It also 
provides off-the-shelf options for 
engagement of companies and their 
employees. 

With a proven track record, PBSP 
provides end-to-end services in 
development consulting which include 
project and grants management, 
events and backroom management.    

About the Cover
The cover, composed of die-cut 
letters of PBSP overlapping a photo 
collage of the organization’s initiatives 
with its member-companies and 
partners, symbolizes PBSP’s strength 
and expertise in strategic corporate 
citizenship and business sector 
leadership. As the largest business-
led NGO known for its excellent 
track record in project and grants 
management and strong multi-
sectoral links, PBSP continues to be 
the foundation of choice for many 
corporations for its ability to scale 
up initiatives that seek to provide 
sustainable solutions to the country’s 
systemic problems. 

VISION
To lead the business 

sector’s efforts to 
reduce poverty in the 

Philippines

MISSION
PBSP is committed to 
poverty reduction by 
promoting business 
sector leadership in, 
and commitment to 

programs that lead to 
self-reliance
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PRIVATE ENTERPRISE, by creatively and efficiently utilizing capital, land, 
and labor, generates employment opportunities, expands the economic 
capabilities of our society, and improves the quality of our national life.

PRIVATE ENTERPRISE, must discharge its social responsibility towards 
society in a way which befits its unique competence. It should involve itself 
more and more in social  development for the total well-being of the nation.

THE MOST VALUABLE RESOURCE, in any country is the person. The higher  
purpose of private enterprise is to build social and economic conditions, 
which shall promote the development of the person and the well-being of 
the community. 

PRIVATE ENTERPRISE, is financially and technologically equipped to 
participate actively in social development. In terms of scientific technology 
and managerial competence, private enterprise can help provide the total 
approach for social development in our depressed communities.

THE GROWTH AND VIGOROUS DEVELOPMENT, of private enterprise must 
be anchored on sound economic and social conditions. 

PRIVATE ENTERPRISE, together with other sectors of society, shares 
obligations and responsibilities, which it must discharge to the national 
community. The ultimate objective of the private enterprise is to help create 
and maintain in the Philippines a home worthy of the dignity of the person. 

THEREFORE, To better fulfill its social responsibilities, private enterprise 
must earmark a portion of its income for social development. 

We hereby declare our commitment  to Philippine Business for Social 
Progress, which shall be private enterprise’s social  development 
arm dedicated to the empowerment of the poor and self-reliance of 
communities.
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We believe...
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Dear Friends,

As we celebrate our 46th year, you can rely on your organization to remain strongly 
committed in creating and scaling up inclusive, collective, and sustainable solutions to 
the different problems our society faces.  We continue our work to improve access to 
better health services and quality education, provide gainful employment and inclusive 
opportunities to increase income through sustainable livelihood, help with clean water 
and sanitation facilities; and build capabilities of vulnerable communities to become 
more resilient to the impact of disasters and climate change.

OUR HEEL PROGRAMS AND THE SDGs

We have adopted the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) as a framework to uplift 
the lives of many poor Filipinos. It provides us with standards and measurements 

that are universally accepted and locally adopted. This enables us to design, 
monitor, and evaluate better our initiatives, communicate to our stakeholders 
our success; and establish a trajectory path towards impact.  The SDGs have 
been the basis of our different flagship programs offering solutions in health, 
education, environment, and livelihood and enterprise development.

OUR STRATEGIES AND APPROACHES

Strategic CSR.  Responding to the changing landscape of CSR, PBSP 
continuously provides options for corporate engagement through 
initiatives on philanthropy, social investments, responsible business 
practices, and inclusive business.  Last year, we posed the question: 
“Who will finance these solutions?”  Companies responded well to this 

by investing in solutions through philanthropy and social investments 
via customized and needs-based projects that are either company-

advised or in support of an existing PBSP-funded project. Moreover, we 
have seen an uptake of the “Give a Gift of Change” campaign that not only 

enabled companies to invest in off-the-shelf solutions, but also provided a 
platform for employee engagement and volunteering.  

On responsible business practices, we promote workplace health by building 
the capabilities of companies through the “iFLY Program Management 

Training” sessions, and by engaging them on water and solid waste 
management.  We also provide technical assistance to companies in creating 
effective and responsive programs on workplace health and water demand as 
well as to LGUs and water districts on septage management. 

Our Inclusive Business imperative (IB) thrust encourages companies to 
provide more livelihood and employment opportunities for the poor and 
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marginalized. Through the IB Center, we make IB support services and knowledge more accessible to companies 
and other stakeholders by serving as a coordinating hub and repository of insights and best practices in IB.

Business Sector Leadership.  We have seen more companies join our platforms for collective engagements 
(PlaCEs), with the latter gaining traction by producing more concrete action points that shape different business 
sector-led agenda.  For the Bayanihang Pampaaralan (BP), we were able to organize the BP consortium and form 
regional coalitions that will work to localize leaderships in planning and strategize solutions to strengthen the 
Senior High School implementation. The Water Alliance has made big strides in its effort to promote water security 
through consultations and discussions, and the creation of investment packages that support its goals. 

Project and Grant Management. PBSP continues to maintain its track record of managing projects and grants 
from local and international donors.  We have been managing two of the largest tuberculosis control projects in the 
Philippines:  the Global Fund-funded “Intensifying and Mainstreaming Integrated DOTS in the Philippines Project 
(since 2009) and the USAID-funded “Innovations and Multisectoral Partnerships to Achieve Control of Tuberculosis” 
or IMPACT.  For Global Fund, we continue to achieve ratings of “B2 to A1” for our exemplary programmatic and 
financial performance that continue to meet targets in TB control and treatment. We also continue to manage the 
DFAT-funded classroom construction project since 2013.  In the previous fiscal year, PBSP has received grants 
from Oxfam, H+D, International Rescue Committee, and United Way Worldwide. All these are a testament to PBSP’s 
position as a trusted partner with a strong project management system and financial stewardship.

The question, “Why should the business sector concern itself with the welfare of our people?” has been asked 
countless times and the answer, while taking on different forms, remains the same:  it makes good business sense.
Business’ traditional role is to provide goods and services for a profit.  Profit is a necessary condition for any 
company to discharge its responsibility to shareholders, provide compensation to its employees, and sponsor social 
programs – in fact, to survive.  No company can simply endure losses over the long-term and live. Our programs 
empower people to be healthier and to be empowerd to participate in economic activities.  They become part of our 
market base.  A strong and satisfied market base contributes to a company’s profit goals.  

But in these evolving times, the bottomline has also changed – business and society are integrated.  Thus, 
businesses are called to take a more active role in helping communities become self-reliant, and to create a more 
productive workforce with jobs creation and endorsement, thereby making lives and welfare better.

Let us continue to scale up and further innovate solutions together for the sake of our people.

On behalf of the Board of Trustees,

MANUEL V PANGILINAN
Chairman of the Board
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It was a productive year 
for the Luzon Regional 
Center as it ended the 
fiscal year achieving its 

targets in resource mobilization 
and disbursement. Thank you 
to our members and partners, 
we closed with at least 36 new, 
both short-term and long-term, 
projects amounting to PhP 46 
million pesos. 

For fiscal year 2016-2017, 
the Luzon Regional Center 
has committed to work with 
Laurel, Batangas and Ocampo, 
Camarines Sur as its five-year 
Collective Impact areas. Aside 
from these, it will continue to 

JOSE ANTONIO 
T. BANSON
Luzon Regional Executive 
Committee

engage the business sector 
in its other collective impact 
sites --- for health (Manila), 
education (Pasay and Quezon 
City), environment (Marikina 
Watershed) and livelihood 
(Laur, Nueva Ecija). In these 
sites, we will show that as 
PBSP, we have the ability to 
gather people together for a 
common purpose.

Also this year, with the regional 
centers now mandated to 
oversee PBSP’s membership, 
it is important to instill the 
value that the work we do 
should continue to inspire 
more companies and to bring 
about that deeper sense of 
commitment to do more for 
our people.

Thank you again to our donors, 
partners, volunteers and 
friends for the kind support 
and confidence you have 
given PBSP.  We welcome 
this year with the hope that 
you join us again to face the 
many and new challenges that 
continue to beset our country. 
Collectively, we can make a 
positive difference.

My dear friends and 
fellow member-
companies,
as chairman of 

the Visayas Regional Board, it 
is an honor to greet all of you 
on the 46th founding of PBSP 
and celebrate the milestones 
we accomplished as well as 
the challenges we weathered 
by reaching this far.

As it has always been, our 
collective endeavors allowed 
us to achieve things greater 
than what each one of us 
could have accomplished 
individually. In the Visayas 
region, our pooled efforts have 
pushed us to complete all 

the rehabilitation interventions 
we have committed to deliver 
after Super Typhoon Yolanda 
wrecked thousands of 
communities in 2013. Now, we 
are finally seeing the last stages 
of our implementation and the 
positive impact of our actions to 
our beneficiaries.

With our strong membership 
base, we have paved the way 
for more companies to do 
corporate social responsibility 
strategically. Allow me to 
personally note and thank the 
efforts of the Dow Chemical 
Group and its Leadership in 
Action program that helped 
us provide more sustainable 
sources of potable water to our 
hillyland communities in Cebu. 
The potable water system they 
have designed for the Buhisan 
Watershed will ensure that 
communities will still be served 
with potable water for at least 
10 years, even with changes on 
weather patterns and increase 
in population.

Our ‘power of the collective’ has 
served its purpose well. Our 
multi-stakeholder partnerships 
paved the way for the 
Bayanihang Pampaaralan (BP) 
to lay its groundwork in Cebu. 
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PAUL G. 
DOMINGUEZ
Mindanao Regional 
Executive Committee

As we close a 
particularly 
challenging fiscal 
year and welcome 

another year of opportunities 
to work for poverty alleviation, 
allow me to express our 
gratitude to our members and 
partners in development. At 
the end of the fiscal year, MRC 
was able to disburse a total of 
PhP 35.7 million for projects 
along our Health, Education, 
Environment, and Livelihood 
and Enterprise (HEEL) 
platforms.

Last fiscal year, we continued 
to implement projects 
focused on issues related to 
access basic services for the 
poor and the marginalized. 
With our shared resources, we 
provided venues for women 
of reproductive age to access 

Members of the BP 
coalition are now focusing 
all its support in improving  
the senior high school 
education of Barrio Luz 
National High School, which 
we identified as one of our 
collective impact (CI) sites 
in the Visayas. We are also 
continuing our efforts in the 
Buhisan Watershed, another 
of our CI site, by bringing in 
more member-companies, 
agencies, and local partners. 
In the succeeding years, 
our efforts on the Buhisan 
Watershed will focus on 
sustainable livelihood, 
watershed management 
and disaster risk reduction 
and management, all of 
which are aligned to the 
Sustainable Development 
Goals.  

As we move forward, let us 
continue working together in 
achieving what we have all 
envisioned for the coming 
years. Let us continue to be 
responsible members of the 
business community and do 
our work well for this nation. 
Let us continue helping each 
other as we provide more 
sustainable solutions to 
poverty.

JOSE 
ANTONIO Y. 
ABOITIZ
Visayas Regional 
Executive Committee

information and services 
to ensure optimum health 
and wellness. We continued 
to ensure that Mindanao 
school children are provided 
with a school environment 
that is conducive to learning. 
We enhanced the capacity 
of local government units 
to implement their Disaster 
Risk Reduction and 
Management programs.
We led the discussions 
among the business sector 
in promoting inclusive 
growth in Mindanao. We 
partnered with Mindanao 
Development Authority 
(MinDA) in disseminating 
and validating the result 
of World Bank’s Mindanao 
Jobs Report (MJR) among 
key industry players of 
agri-business in the island. 
This year, we will be working 
to ensure that the results 

of this study will lead to 
specific action programs 
that would create more and 
better jobs.

On behalf of PBSP 
Mindanao Regional Center, 
again, I thank you for your 
support. We are grateful 
to have you as partners 
in development. Let us 
continue to unite and uplift 
lives.

Warm wishes,
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THE FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016

With the Platforms for Collective Engagements (PlaCEs) already functional and 
gaining traction, the past fiscal year brought out some of the best solutions that 
are strategic, inclusive, collective, and sustainable.  These solutions contributed 
to PBSP’s goals for the past year and set a strong foundation for our desired 
outcomes on health, education, environment, and livelihood and enterprise 
development. New and continuing partnerships with international institutions and 
corporations enable us to innovate and deliver these solutions. 

On health, our Tuberculosis control projects continue to be our largest investment 
and this year, we have intensified the implementation of these projects.  We 
expanded our services to cover more areas in the Philippines with the provision of 
additional GeneXperts, treatment centers, and TB culture centers. To promote safe 
motherhood, a growing number of companies have funded caravans resulting 

to an increased coverage of women receiving life-saving information and 
services. We also implemented the iFLY program that led to the conduct 

of management training sessions in Luzon, Visayas, and Mindanao and 
contributed in building the capabilities of the participating companies 

on the design and management of workplace health programs 
responsive to their employees’ needs.

On education, we continued to construct classrooms for public 
schools through the generous assistance of the Australian 

government and our corporate partners.  The past fiscal year 
also marked the beginning of PBSP’s support to the rollout 
of Senior High School by exploring models for industry-
academe linkages. These include provision of inputs such 
as scholarships, enhancement of facilities, and defining 
school-level partnerships for immersion and job skills 
matching. We were also able to organize national and 
regional coalitions under the Bayanihang Pampaaralan 
(BP) flagship program to participate in school and division-
level planning and implementation of the Senior High 
School. 



On environment, the aggressive campaign for the Water Alliance resulted to consultations 
and a finalized set of investment packages geared towards attaining its objectives.  We 
also continued our work in watershed management and started supporting PDRF’s “15K in 
5” Initiative to continuously protect the Marikina Watershed and plant 15,000 hectares of 
trees in five years. We have also mobilized our member-companies and partners to support 
the recovery of communities in Nueva Ecija and Cagayan Valley that were affected by the 
Typhoons Lando and Lawin respectively.  Finally, the revolving fund was created for Local 
Government Units to tap for septage management projects. 

On livelihood and enterprise development, we strengthened our promotion of inclusive 
business to influence more companies to innovate the way they do business and create 
more livelihood opportunities for low-income communities. We sharpened our focus on 
agribusiness development and established partnerships with more organizations as we 
remain confident that improvements in the agricultural sector potentially mean improvements 
in lives of more Filipinos. We facilitated dialogues and sectoral consultations towards shaping 
a better business environment in the country. Specifically for the Bangsamoro areas, we 
started to implement the Brokering Business Investments in the Bangsamoro project to 
facilitate the development of business investment standards that will empower both the 
communities and businesses to engage into sustainable business enterprises. This year, we 
continued to promote easier and more affordable access to financing through development 
finance programs such as the Small and Medium Enterprise Credit (SMEC) and Micro-
Enterprise Disaster Assistance Fund for Resiliency (MIDAS) project.

In the following pages, we shall show you how key accomplishments in our program areas 
on Health, Education, Environment, and Livelihood and Enterprise Development through our 
strategies and approaches on strategic CSR, business sector leadership, and project/grant 
management, created an impact on the lives of underserved communities.
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Health Program

The goal of our Health Program is to support 
the attainment of national targets on reducing 
maternal and child mortality; promoting 
healthy lifestyle, and combating infectious and 
communicable diseases.

Our Health Program is focused on tuberculosis 
control, safe motherhood, lifestyle diseases and 
workplace health.

K
E

Y
 

A
C

C
O

M
P

L
I

S
H

M
E

N
T

S

c Amlag

SOLUTIONS TO



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6   | 19

PBSP’s TB Control projects aim to support the 
National Tuberculosis Program (NTP) under 
the Department of Health to attain the targets 
of the Philippine Plan of Action to Control 

Tuberculosis in case finding and case holding, and in 
securing an enabling environment for TB control.

INTENSIFYING AND MAINSTREAMING INTEGRATED 

DOTS IN THE PHILIPPINES PROJECT (FUNDED BY 

THE GLOBAL FUND TO FIGHT AIDS, TUBERCULOSIS 

AND MALARIA)

The project aims to contribute to the goal of the NTP to 
reduce the prevalence, incidence and mortality of TB by 
50% in 2015 and beyond 50% thereafter from a baseline 
established in 2000.  Strategies involved (1) accelerating 
and intensifying Directly Observed Treatment, Short-
Course (DOTS) to improve access to quality DOTS services 
and case finding to address inequity and performance 
variation; (2) Mainstreaming Programmatic Management 
of Drug-resistant TB (PMDT) to increase program 
coverage while reducing default and improving quality 
service delivery;  (3) Enhancing TB-HIV collaboration 
to establish systems and protocols to efficiently 
manage TB-HIV co-infection and reduce morbidity; 
and (4) Strengthening health systems by enhancing 
integrated Tuberculosis Information System and logistics 
management.  Target beneficiaries are the TB patients 
with limited access to TB services including poor and 
vulnerable groups, health care providers involved in TB 
diagnosis and treatment, health care workers to be trained 
on the management of all types of TB and community 
groups.

INNOVATIONS AND MULTISECTORAL PARTNERSHIPS 

TO ACHIEVE CONTROL OF TUBERCULOSIS PROJECT 

(IMPACT)

IMPACT complements the health programs of USAID/
Philippines and other development partners. Its activities 
are aligned with the principles of the United States 
Government Global Health Initiative and the Government 
of the Philippines’ Universal Health Care agenda 
(Kalusugan Pangkalahatan). 

H E A L T H  F L A G S H I P  P R O G R A M :  T B  C O N T R O L

PBSP’s TB Control Projects

The Project seeks to achieve three objectives: (1) 
Strengthen demand for TB services through adoption 
of healthy behaviors within families; (2) Improve supply 
of TB services, including the availability and quality 
of public sector services and selective expansion of 
private sector providers; and (3) Remove policy and 
systems barriers to support supply of and demand for 
TB services.   It is guided by a harmonized blueprint 
of technical assistance and research initiatives and 
the USAID TB Portfolio Results Framework, and 
works with other USAID cooperating agencies and key 
partners involved in TB control. IMPACT measures 
the outcomes of project interventions against a set 
of national program indicators and targets identified 
in the enhanced Philippine Plan of Action to Control 
Tuberculosis (PhilPACT) 2010-2016.   IMPACT started 
operations in October 2012 and will run through 
September 2017. 

According to the WHO Global TB Report 2015, the 
Philippines has achieved the following in 2014:
• 288 per 100,000 population TB incidence rate 

(country target is 251 per 100,000 population)
• 417 per 100,000 population TB prevalence rate 

(country target is 430 per 100,000 population)
• 10 per 100,000 population TB mortality rate 

(country target is 25 per 100,000 population)

The country’s performance and results on managing 
TB are therefore a result of the combined efforts 
of the NTP, Department of Health Regional Offices, 
local government units, public and private hospitals 
and health care service providers, non-government 
organizations and community partners, and other 
donor-funded TB projects.
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Being put in prison could be the most 
tragic part of 24-year-old Josel 
Martinez’s life. After being charged 
with a drug-related case together with 

his cousin, he was detained inside the Quezon 
City (QC) Jail for almost two years while waiting 
for the court’s decision. 

In a sad reunion, he joined his father and uncle 
who are also detainees there and have been 
waiting for their cases’ fate for several years now. 
What makes it more painful is that he had to 

leave his family including his old grandmother 
and three half siblings who mostly relied on his 
meager income from cleaning shoes. 

Just when he thought that his situation couldn’t 
get any worse, Martinez was diagnosed with 
Multi-Drug Resistant Tuberculosis (MDR-TB) – 
a more serious strain of TB – after his pre-
admission screening results were released.

“I was shocked when I found out that I have 
TB and that it is MDR, it’s not even the ordinary 

PBSP’s TB program in QC jail gives hope to detainees
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one. I know what TB is and that it can be cured 
after six months of treatment, that’s why I was 
surprised when the nurse explained to me what 
MDR-TB is. I was surprised that my disease is 
already very serious,” he said.

The succeeding sputum test confirmed his 
diagnosis and the need to undergo a two-year 
intensive medication which started in August 
2015.

BLESSING IN DISGUISE

Although being jailed is undeniably hard for him, 
Martinez is thankful that this incident led to a 
life-saving diagnosis.

He said, “Being imprisoned turned out to be 
a blessing in disguise. If it was not for my 
detention here, I would not know that I have TB 
and it could have gotten worse.”

Amid the side effects he experienced during 
the first phase of his medication, Martinez is 
still determined to finish his treatment this year 
and see his family without a face mask. He is 
looking forward to the day that he will be cured 
from TB and break free from this disease that 
almost cost him his life. 

“At first it was really difficult, I almost gave up. I 
told myself that I cannot handle the treatment 
because of the side effects: dizziness, nausea, 
loss of appetite. I could not even stand up. But 
I also told myself that I have to get well for 
my family. They are my source of courage to 
continue the treatment and be cured,” he said.

TB IN JAILS

Martinez is just one of the many detainees 
that Philippine Business for Social Progress 
(PBSP), together with The Global Fund to Fight 
AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, provided with 
a second lease in life through TB treatment in 
Quezon City Jail.

The detention facility also became the pilot 
area for an active TB case finding initiative in 
2011 through the International Committee 
on Red Cross (ICRC), and PBSP with support 
from the United States Agency for International 
Development (USAID) and the Global Fund. 
The system has been replicated in various jails 
across the country.

Through this initiative, QC Jail was able to 
screen 80 percent of consented detainees. 
Thanks to the mass screening, more than 70 of 
them were found to have MDR-TB in 2015.

“QC Jail is the pilot jail for the program. Instead 
of the detainees coming to us to get screened, 
we come to them. They don’t just undergo 
checkup but X-ray examination as well,” said 
Dr. Allan Fabella, Public Health Specialist of 
IMPACT, a USAID-funded project managed by 
PBSP. 

To provide state-of-the-art services to the 
detainees, ICRC donated a digital X-ray 
machine, while PBSP with support from USAID 
provided data management. PBSP-Global 
Fund also donated a Gene Xpert machine (a 
new molecular test for TB which diagnoses 
the disease by detecting the presence of TB 
bacteria) and sputum cups. Manpower was 
provided by the local government of Quezon 
City and the Bureau of Jail Management and 
Penology (BJMP). 

With all these help, Martinez together with other 
detainees will soon breathe free of TB.

“I am grateful to the donors, for the goodness 
they’ve given to the patients who are currently 
fighting, and to those who have already won the 
fight against TB. I wish that you reach out to 
more people in the country. I would also like to 
thank the nurses because without their help, I 
may no longer be here in this world,” he said.

Martinez also encouraged fellow patients to 
come out and not be ashamed to seek TB 
treatment. He said that being cured will not only 
benefit the patients but their families as well.

“They should think of their loved ones and of 
what could happen to them if they don’t seek 
treatment. Their family may also get the disease 
so patients should really do what is best for 
them because their health is also for the good 
of their family.”

c Madrid
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No one understands this phrase  
better than Sonny Abellon, 
26 years old, from Barangay 
Bagocboc in Opol, Misamis 

Oriental. In May 2016, Abellon a hired 
hand in a neighbor’s rice field, increasingly 
felt too weak to weed the rice plots under 
his care. His huge appetite used to be 
something his mother teased him about, 
but now he couldn’t bring himself to eat 
what little food they had in their hut. And 
worse, he coughed constantly, which kept 
him awake and unable to get the rest he 
needed. He wanted to visit the health 
center, but traveling 18 kilometers via a 
habal-habal (motorcycle taxi) to the town 
center would eat up nearly Php120 each 
way of the trip. And he’d have to forego his 
daily wage, too. This was way too much for 
Abellon who earned just about Php1,000 
a month. He’d rather spend the fare to buy 
his two-year-old son some milk and fruits.

It’s a good thing he saw his cousin 
Merzin Pangalo at the village’s sari-sari 

(convenience) store. Pangalo is a health 
volunteer and member of Katauhang Opol 
Misamisnon Batok TB (KOMBaT), which 
literally means people of Opol against 
tuberculosis. KOMBaT orients mothers, 
retired teachers, and other community 
members on the basics of tuberculosis 
and deploys them in the barangay (village) 
to hold individual or group briefings on TB. 
Pangalo disclosed that through KOMBaT 
“we came to understand that left untreated, 
a person can die of TB.” There’s a bright 
side to it though. “The good thing is that 
tuberculosis can be cured,” she pointed out. 

“With the right medicines and proper care, a 
person with TB can go back to being his or 
her productive self again,” she elaborated. 

Hence, apart from discussing the cause 
of tuberculosis and how it is passed on to 
other people, KOMBaT members discuss 
with the villagers the need to get correctly 
diagnosed  through a sputum test and/or 
chest X-ray and to complete treatment to 
get cured. 

KOMBaT was organized by the Misamis 
Oriental Provincial Health Office (PHO) 
along with the Municipal Health Officer 
(MHO) of Opol. Technical assistance from 
USAID through IMPACT (Innovations 
and Multisectoral Partnerships to 
Achieve Control of Tuberculosis) project 
implemented by Philippine Business 
for Social Progress was critical to its 
success.

Opol’s TB case finding has remained well 
below the national target of 90 percent 
in the last five years. Hence, Lorna Liloc, 
nurse coordinator for Misamis Oriental’s 
provincial TB program, wanted to reach 
Opol villages with the right TB information 
to prompt the residents to seek diagnosis 
and appropriate care. 

However, limited staff and transportation 
resources deterred this move. This led 
her to tap a resource available right in the 
community. With the MHO and IMPACT, 
Liloc organized parents, village leaders, 

K
E

Y
 

A
C

C
O

M
P

L
I

S
H

M
E

N
T

S

MERZIN PANGALO, a 
KOMBaT community volunteer, 
talks about tuberculosis with 
village women using a simple, 
easy-to-understand leaflet 
on TB. (Photos by RLCarlos/
Catnip)
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and other residents willing to learn about 
TB and share that knowledge with their 
neighbors. Pangalo was one of those who 
joined this group that subsequently evolved 
into KOMBaT. 

“Twenty-five of us from our purok (zone) 
joined the volunteers from 115 other puroks 
in the TB orientation held by the PHO, 
MHO, and IMPACT in several batches. We 
learned how to identify individuals with TB 
symptoms, and encourage them to go to 
the health center for a sputum test that 
will determine if they have TB,” Edeliza 
Barangot, another KOMBaT member, 
revealed. 

Thereafter, KOMBaT members went 
on house-to-house visits to share TB 
information. They also posted easy-to-
understand leaflets on TB in strategic 
places such as the purok market. 

Thanks to the municipal mayor’s support, 
villagers whom Barangot and other 
KOMBaT members referred successfully 
obtained the needed laboratory 
examinations. Mayor Maximino Seno 
ensured that those who needed a chest 
X-ray available in a tertiary hospital in 
Cagayan de Oro City were transported 
by an ambulance to the province’ capital. 
Barangay Captain Eddie Lumajang, 
meanwhile, made the village-owned 

motorcycle available to community 
members in remote zones  who needed 
to consult at the rural health unit. Abellon 
was thus able to go to the health center to 
have his sputum examined and start his 
treatment. 

Thus far, 2,925 volunteer members 
have trained on TB education and 
communication since KOMBaT was 
organized in April 2015. Of this number, 
2,632 (90) are currently fully functional as 
shown in the record of the zones’ weekly 
and monthly meetings. The number of 
referrals that community volunteers made 
from July to December 2015 speaks for 
them. KOMBaT members referred 124 
(21) of 595 TB presumptives during the 
period. Of the 86 found positive for TB, 
46 (53) were from the cohort referred by 
KOMBaT volunteers. In the first quarter of 
2016, KOMBaT referred 62 (52) of 121 TB 
presumptive cases. Seventeen (38) of the 
44 patients with TB during that period were 
referred by KOMBaT. These figures register 
way above the PhilPACT (Philippine Plan of 
Action to Control Tuberculosis 2010-2016) 
target of 10 community contribution to 
total notified TB cases, all forms.

Today, Abellon feels so much better. 
While he still has a month to go before he 
completes TB treatment, he is buoyed by 
the hope that he will fully recover and be 

productive again. For that, he has KOMBaT 
and its network of community volunteers, 
health providers, and local officials to thank 
for.

WEAKENED BY tuberculosis and unable to earn 
a living, Sonny Abellon found life bleak and 
hopeless.  But with KOMBaT supporting him, 
and only a month to go before he completes 
treatment, the thought that he will soon be 
productive again buoys him up.  (Photos 
byRLCarlos/Catnip)
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The goal of our Education Program is to contribute to the increase 
in completion rate leading to improvement of achievement and 
cohort survival rate in target public elementary and high schools.

There is a strong interest among donor agencies to support the 
universal access to basic education by building classrooms 
and laboratories, training teachers and school administrators, 
providing in-school feeding, donating desks, computers, 
and books, offering scholarships, and providing internet 
connectivity.

Education Program
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Classroom construction continues to be PBSP’s flagship program for education.  In the past three years, we 
were able to secure resources to build 696 classrooms.  Of this, 305 classrooms were constructed in the 
past two fiscal years (FY 2013-2014 and FY 2014-2015) and additional 96 classrooms were built in the 
previous fiscal year (2015-2016). 

For this fiscal year, some 129 classrooms are under construction while 166 more are scheduled to be built. 

classrooms completed in FY 2013-2015  --          305 
classrooms completed in FY 2015-2016  --             96
classrooms in various stages of construction --  129
classrooms under procurement   --               166  
Total                  696

The classrooms we built are better, stronger, and designed to be more resilient to various types of disasters. These 
can withstand a 250-kph wind load and are elevated by one meter from the natural ground in case of flood. They are 
equipped with stairs and a roof deck that can withstand winds and serve as a place of refuge in case another storm 
surge occurs. Other key features are its PWD-friendly toilets as well as right- and left- handed student arm chairs.  We 
also installed water systems in the schools we assisted. 

In support of the education reforms of the country, particularly the K-12 program, we supported the implementation 
of the Senior High School, together with our partners.  Scholarships were provided to poor and deserving Grade 11 
students with school supplies, uniforms and transportation allowances.  We also helped schools build their capacities 
to offer technical-vocational courses in high school by providing equipment and other needs.

E D U C A T I O N  F L A G S H I P  P R O G R A M

Classroom Construction
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Eighteen-year-old Glenn Superales of Palo, 
Leyte is not like most teenagers.

For his first class in the morning, he would 
rush inside the classroom, looking harried, and utter 
apologies to his adviser for his tardiness. He would 
try to focus on his lessons which usually take a while 
to accomplish, depending on his circumstances. 
By lunchtime, he may be in school, eating with his 
classmates, or he goes missing again until afternoon 
class starts. At the end of the day, he is among the lot 
that leaves the classroom first.

Unlike some teenagers his age who pass the time by 
engaging in online games or other stuff, Superales 
spends most of his time on the streets, working as a 
pedicab driver. On weekends, he takes part-time jobs in 
construction sites.

Superales, the eldest in the family, had no choice but to 
be the breadwinner because his father and stepfathers 
abandoned them. With a mother and four siblings to 
take care of, he willingly assumed the duties so he can 
put food on the table. 

A working student from Palo, Leyte, gets a chance to finish school 
through the help of PDRF and PBSP
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“I remember I was 14, and we have no money 
at all. I remembered thinking that we can’t rely 
on our fathers forever so I need to be the father 
for my siblings. I became a pedicab driver at 14. 
I asked one of my stepfathers what work gives 
daily income and that was what he suggested. 
He helped me find someone who has a pedicab 
and who accepts payment in an installment 
basis,” he said.

The pay for his hardwork ranges Php120.00 
to Php250.00 a day and that even includes 
sleepless nights just for the guarantee of 
surviving the next day. Sometimes, he would 
have to sacrifice not going to school the whole 
day so he could earn enough to feed his family.

“Sometimes, I feel like giving up, especially when 
I go home feeling exhausted. I always have 
muscle pains and my back hurts a lot because 
of the heat of the sun. To vent, I sometimes 
bicker with my mother. Most of the times, I just 
cry it out. Then I go back to work again in the 
morning. I can’t give up because if I do, then 
we’ll have nothing,” Superales said.

A PROMISING FUTURE 
Fortunately, his hardwork is now paying off 
as he was chosen to be one of the recipients 
of a senior high scholarship at Palo National 
High School.  Philippine Disaster Resiliency 
Foundation (PDRF), Embracing the World, 
and PBSP funded a two-year, Php15-million 
scholarship project that supports 530 students 
from Palo, Leyte and San Jose, Tacloban City. 

The scholarship covers the students’ annual 
allowance for school supplies, shoes and 
uniforms. It also includes monthly allowances 
for the students’ transportation expenses and 
school projects.

“It was really overwhelming because I felt so 
pampered with all the assistance I was given. 
We also attended a leadership training and 
workshop where we were taught how to be 
a better leader and to help others. What I am 
excited about are the internships we will have in 
other companies so we can improve our skills,” 
Superales said.
 
With this project, he was given the chance 
to continue and finish his studies without 
jeopardizing his family’s needs. He now studies 
in a school that is closer to his mother and 
siblings and is able to save money for their 
other needs. More importantly, the project has 
changed Superales’ perspective of his life in the 
future and raised his hopes of finding a better 
job after graduation.
 
“Before, I just settled for an NC-II since this 
is the only one TESDA can offer. But with my 
scholarship in Palo, I can now complete NC-I to 
NC-IV. With my future internship, I can gain more 
experience and develop my skills. Now, plan to 
finish my course so I will have more chances of 
getting work not only here in the Philippines but 
also outside the country,” he said.
 
Indeed, the scholarship has allowed Superales 
to dream big and imagine a simple but 
comfortable life for his family. 

He said: “When I graduate, I will stop driving 
pedicabs and get a better job. I will be the best 
electrician I can be. Then I will have enough 
money to buy our own house and lot so we 
won’t need to pay our monthly rent all the time. 
I can finally relax and my siblings will not live a 
life that is harder than mine. That is my future.” 
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GLENN SUPERALES serves as an 
inspiration to his schoolmates to 
continue studying amid hardships 
in life.
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Within the context of climate change, the 
Environment Program of PBSP focuses on 
contributing to water security, increasing 
resiliency of natural resources and enhancing 
the ability of communities to adapt to the 
effects of climate change effects.

Environment 
Program
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Environment Flagship Programs

Watersheds provide water to downstream 
cities and communities. Healthy 
watersheds also provide ecosystem 
services such as flood control, wildlife 

habitat, and recreational opportunities. However, the 
continuous exploitation of watersheds poses a serious 
threat to communities. For instance, the Marikina 
Watershed is one of the sources of water of Metro Manila 
while the Central Cebu Protected Landscape (CCPL) 
supplies water to Cebu City and nearby towns. These high 
growth areas need more water to cope with development 
and increased population. Their survival could also mean 
survival of these mega cities. 

PBSP engages companies to adopt sites in the Marikina 
Watershed and CCPL by reforesting protected areas 
and agroforestry sites. Guided by foresters and experts, 
employee volunteers plant appropriate tree species with 
local organizations. In adherence to the ecosystem-
based approach, PBSP is part of the consortia in these 
watersheds and the reforestation component supports 
the overall rehabilitation effort in these areas. 

PBSP also organizes and builds capacities of community 
organizations to maintain the reforested sites, manage 
their livelihood activities, participate in policy discussions, 
implement information campaigns and sustain their 
respective organizations. The organizations become 
responsible for preparing the plantation site, maintaining 
the planted areas for two to three years through 
sustainable methods and replacing dead trees to achieve 
85% survival rate. Communities are also engaged in 
nursery establishment and agroforestry activities which 
become their alternative livelihood, to veer them from 
unsustainable practices such as charcoal making.  

WATER SECURITY

PBSP initiatives under water security addresses both 
the lack of access of poor communities to safe drinking 
water and the need to lower risks due to impending water 
scarcity. It is estimated that 13.7 million Filipinos still 
do not have access to water. And while the Philippines 
is endowed with abundant water resources, continuous 
depletion of forests, uncontrolled ground water extraction, 
pollution, and climate change have resulted to water 
shortages. 

PBSP provides safe drinking water through installation 
of community water systems that are managed and 
sustained by community associations and are designed 
with climate-resilient features. PBSP believes that the 

success of any community water system relies on 
the correct assessment of the water source’s yield, 
appropriate design, community engagement, and strong 
local organization. Throughout the process, PBSP involves 
the community which would then be organized and 
trained into effective water associations. 

PBSP taps the expertise of companies and deploys 
volunteer experts to perform technical assessments of 
the area, designing of the system, conducting operations 
and management training, and coaching on business 
planning. 

PBSP also explores other ways to bring water to 
communities. This is through provision of chlorinators to 
existing barangay water associations (BWASA) to improve 
water quality. Furthermore, PBSP gives generator sets 
to help water districts provide 24/7 water supply, and 
support them in an emergency context. 

DISASTER RISK REDUCTION

The World Risk Index 2016 ranked the Philippines as 
third in risks, exposure and vulnerability. This is in terms 
of exposure to natural hazards and inherent vulnerability 
of Filipinos towards suffering from impacts when facing 
these hazards. Though response systems are in place 
at the national level and in selected municipalities 
and provinces, PBSP envisions communities that can 
response to disasters through disaster risk reduction 
(DRR) practices.

PBSP’s DRR project is focused on building the capacities 
of disaster organizations–provincial, municipal, barangay 
and community DRR offices–to plan, prepare, respond 
and improve ability to bounce back from disasters. PBSP 
provides strategic planning workshops designed to 
facilitate the formulation of a three to five-year disaster 
risk reduction and management strategic plans for 
provinces and municipalities.  PBSP also conducts 
trainings on contingency planning, evacuation center and 
camp management, communication and coordination 
protocol, basic emergency response, and simulation 
exercises and evacuation drills. 

PBSP integrates disaster preparedness in its projects 
such as providing training and contingency planning 
workshops for schools, BWASAs, and local organizations 
in watershed communities. Disaster resiliency has also 
been integrated in the designs of water systems, schools 
and livelihood centers. 
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WATERSHED MANAGEMENT



|   R O A D  T O  5 O :  S C A L I N G  U P  S O L U T I O N S  T O G E T H E R36

K
E

Y
 

A
C

C
O

M
P

L
I

S
H

M
E

N
T

S



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6   | 37

K
E

Y
 

A
C

C
O

M
P

L
I

S
H

M
E

N
T

S



|   R O A D  T O  5 O :  S C A L I N G  U P  S O L U T I O N S  T O G E T H E R38

In Sitio Impakibel, Barangay 
Aposkahoy, in the municipality of 
Claveria, Misamis Oriental there 
was high incidence of diarrhea, 

particularly during the wet season, 
affecting mostly school children. This 
was attributed to the community’s lack 
of access to safe drinking water. 

Residents relied on a spring water source 
that was three kilometers away uphill, 
accessible by traversing steep and 
muddy trail from the community’s main 

street. Later, the community placed a 
long hose into the spring opening to 
bring water to the community. Though 
this helped, households had to wait in 
long queue to get water. Some used to 
get water from an unprotected dug well 
which was prone to contamination. 
During extreme rainy weather, water 
became too muddy to use. 

With funding support from Elena 
Tan and Salome Tan Foundations, 
technical assistance from USAID Be 

Secure project and community labor, 
PBSP constructed a level 2 water system 
benefitting 575 people in the sitio.  The 
water system included a developed 
spring as source and connected the 
entire sitio through 14 strategically 
located tap stands. The system was 
extended to Aposkahoy II Elementary 
School, providing access to its entire 
school population of 204 pupils and 
teachers. 
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THANKS to a potable water system, 
residents in Misamis Oriental no 
longer have to risk their health and 
safety.

Sitio Impakibel, Bgy. Aposkahoy
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PBSP organized a community water association, Impakibel Community Water Association (ICWA) with elected officers. The 
association crafted an organizational and an operational policy which were approved during their general assembly.

ICWA President Edwin Pagapon said during the turn-over event, that the water system has been completed due to the 
cooperation of each organization and partner. He said that he himself will ensure that the community gets sustained access to 
water. Barangay Chairperson Vilma Ebonia called on the community to  ensure that they will sustain the water system and care 
about water. 

HACIENDA MARIA ELEMENTARY SCHOOL WATER SYSTEM, SAN  ISIDRO, LEYTE

Typhoon Yolanda damaged the pipelines of Hacienda Maria Elementary School while its dug well dried up because of El Niño, 
rendering its water tanks, hand washing facilities 
and toilets useless.

Because of this, pupils were tasked to fetch water 
from a well across a national road to clean the 
classrooms. They had to climb the well and reach 
down to the water level and then walk around 100 
meters uphill to their school. In an unfortunate 
event, a child once fell into the well while fetching 
water and drowned.

PBSP approached BASF Philippines to support 
the installation of a water system in the school. 
BASF employees supported the idea and 
submitted the concept to its headquarters in an 
internal competition which was later approved 
with a grant to establish the water system. 

Today, 345 pupils and teachers of Hacienda Maria 
Elementary School are benefitting from safe 
drinking water. The water system is equipped with 
a chlorinator and connected to all handwashing 
and toilet facilities. A two-faucet tap stand 
strategically located within school premises was 
also installed. Experts from neighboring Baybay 
City Water District provided technical advice on 
the search for a suitable ground water site and 
provided necessary training on operations and 
maintenance. 

School Principal Estelito Balmoria expressed 
his gratitude to the donors and partners in his 
acceptance speech. He announced his plan 
to expand the water system to connect all 
school buildings using the school’s allocated 
maintenance and other operating expenses 
(MOOE) next year. Barangay Chairwoman 
Concepcion Pacampara is glad that the children 
will no longer have to do the dangerous task of fetching water from the well. The water system will be maintained by the 
school’s Parent-Teacher Association which underwent a series of trainings to effectively perform this task. 
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Livelihood 
Program
PBSP’s Livelihood and Enterprise 
Development (LED) program continues 
to promote Inclusive Business, where 
companies play a crucial role in 
creating and delivering more livelihood 
and employment opportunities for the 
poor and marginalized sector. 
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L I V E L I H O O D  &  E N T E R P R I S E  D E V E L O P M E N T  F L A G S H I P  P R O G R A M S

INCLUSIVE BUSINESS IMPERATIVE

Banking on PBSP’s rich experience in community 
development and its wide network of business 
and community-based organizations, the LED 
program improves its strategies by advancing 

its knowledge of Inclusive Business and analyzing how 
businesses and communities benefit from each other’s 
linkages in the value chain.

The Inclusive Business Center was established to become 
a coordinating hub and repository of learnings and best 
practices in IB, and make IB support services and knowledge 
more accessible to the companies and other stakeholders 
interested to develop IB projects. An IB database is also 
developed as a matching facility to effectively guide us all 
in making inclusive development happen. This will be made 
available through the IB Knowledge portal and we encourage 

our partners and all stakeholders to help us build the 
database. 

Building a more robust appreciation and understanding of 
Inclusive Business entailed the documentation of cases 
of ongoing company practices and actual engagements 
of other companies in the processes. Some companies 
realized that they can have their CSR programs support 
IB initiatives or transform them as IB activities. An 
example is Accenture’s Skills to Succeed program, a talent 
development training program for voice talents and IT, 
which caters to the needs of the company and the entire 
BPO industry.

“Among the many lessons we’ve 
learned at PBSP is that growth 
and development come fastest, 
and with least disruption when 
economic opportunities are 
shared equitably across all 
economic sectors. The case of 
Inclusive Business is not only 
a matter of social justice, it is 
simple business logic. Growth 
with, and through inclusion, 
makes social justice possible – a 
touchstone for democratic and 
egalitarian societies -  and a 
lasting foundation for business 
sustainability.”

By MANUEL V PANGILINAN
CEO Forum on Inclusive Business
October 6, 2016
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Crossing the Bridge 
of Trust

Accenture trains millennials 
to be better prepared 
for the future
Competition has become intense in the outsourcing 
industry which has been growing by about 12 percent 
every year, and is seen to bring in over $30 billion to the 
local economy in the next few years. BPO firms are moving 
to more urban centers outside Metro Manila to ensure 
their manpower pipeline and gain competitive advantage 
from lower salary scales and cheaper overhead.
 
Accenture Philippines, has adopted a decidedly Inclusive 
Business model, that extends training, employment and 
other benefits to its young workforce. Many trainees come 
from more vulnerable communities and were unemployed 
and disadvantaged by their socio-economic background. 
Together with lessors and service providers to Accenture, 
trainees who meet the company’s employee skills 
requirements become part of its value chain.

In these programs, PBSP provided support in the selection 
of youth beneficiaries, facilitation of their enrolment in 
schools accredited by TESDA and their job referral through 
the Department of Labor and Employment. The process 
transforms the youth beneficiaries from cash grant 
recipients to gainfully employed citizens.

LED program strengthened ties 
with relevant organizations to 
promote and address cross-
cutting issues. 

PBSP partnered with the 
Department of Agrarian 
Reform and Catholic Relief 
Services to help agrarian reform 
communities become producers 
of raw materials and link them 
to corporate markets. Three 
communities in Central Luzon 
were visited by companies to 
assess their capabilities and were 
assisted by partners to become 
accredited suppliers. 

LED enhanced its efforts to shape the business enabling 
environment in the ARMM. Australia Department of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade supported the BRIDGe project that will develop the 
business sustainability standards for Bangsamoro investments. 
PBSP formed a partnership with Hineleban Foundation to 
implement the project in three selected sites in ARMM. Part of 
their activities is to build the capacity of ARMM communities to 
engage in business partnerships. PBSP, together with John Perrine 
of Unifrutti, and Atty. Ishak Mastura of ARMM-RBOI will promote 
Bangsamoro as a new investment hub.
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NINETEEN-YEAR-OLD Nesselda Marcel i no used to struggle with her previous jobs due to insufficient skills. But thanks to Accenture Philippines' Skills to Succeed 
Near Hire and Employment Facilitation Program, she  is now one the most esteemed employees in the hotel where she works today.
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Utilizing its homegrown technology on 
wholesale lending, PBSP developed and 
implemented the MIDAS Resiliency Fund 

program from 2015 to 2016. It provided support to 
micro-finance institutions to make available funds 
at a faster time and modest interest rate to enhance 
livelihood recovery of their client micro-enterprises.

With a total Php132 million loan fund from the United 
States Agency for International Development (USAID), 
the program was able to extend loans to 39,980 
micro-entrepreneurs in Typhoon Yolanda-affected 
areas in Leyte. The clients were engaged in various 
economic activities- 11% in farming, 78% in trading 
and services, 10.95% in fishing and livestock, and 
0.05% in repair of business sites. The primary clients 
of the program were women entrepreneurs. The 
results of the evaluation study showed that 33% of 
clients who invested in economic activities realized a 
62.5% increase in business income, which contributed 
to a 7% increase in average household income from 
Php10,966 to Php11,686. Overall, this accounted for 
a 9% reduction of households with income below the 
poverty threshold.

Bridging livelihood recovery through 
financing

PBSP worked with four MFIs for the implementation of the 
program, namely: Center for Agriculture and Rural Development, 
Inc. (CARD), ASA Philippines Foundation, Taytay sa Kauswagan, 
Inc. (TSKI) and the Negros Women for Tomorrow Foundation, Inc. 
(NWTF). 

After two years of implementation, MIDAS program has spun-off 
into a new entity called Restart Micro-Enterprise, Inc. (RESTART 
ME) that will bring about a coordinated and immediate response for 
livelihood recovery during time of calamities.

ADELA MORA is among the thousands of Yolanda survivors in 
Leyte who benefitted from the MIDAS program.

We managed two financing programs namely, the Small and Medium Enterprise Credit (SMEC) and the Micro Enterprise 
Disaster Assistance Fund for Resiliency (MIDAS) Program. These programs help improve the access to financing of 
marginalized communities and MSMEs.
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FISH VENDOR Vilma Rebamonte leads 
the Madridejos Fish and Food Processing 
Association (MFFPA) in Cebu composed 
of other female entrepreneurs. MFFPA 
received a multi-commodity solar dyer 
from PBSP, Help from Germany, and the 
Intenational Labor Organization (ILO). With  
this equipment, they can now continue 
producing dried goods even during the 
rainy season, giving them a more stable 
income. 
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In the last 46 years, PBSP witnessed how corporate 
social responsibility evolved to respond to the 
changing societal needs and demands over time. 
We now see a variety of ways  in which  companies 
have expressed their social responsibility. While 
philanthropy is the more popular approach in 
“giving back , ” there are companies who  now   
engage in more strategic CSR initiatives . To 
achieve this,  companies put value on partnerships 
where they can leverage their resources and 
complement efforts to reach more and achieve 
better results. If they have the resources, some  of 
them simply increase their social investments to 
address problems at a larger scale.  Others adhere 
to responsible business practices that not only 
have impact on the company’s bottomline but 
enable them to comply with government laws on 
environment protection and promotion of a fair 
and healthy workplace . In recent years, companies 
heeded the call for inclusive growth and initiated 
action for their businesses to be more inclusive.  A 
number of  them have started testing and adopting 
inclusive business as a strategy to engage the poor 
not as beneficiaries but as partners and/or clients.  
The following featurettes are examples of strategic 
CSR initiatives of selected companies.
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Accenture Philippines scaled 
up the fourth year of their 
tree-planting initiative with 
PBSP by adopting two 
hectares of agro-forestry 
and reforestation sites of 
the Marikina Watershed in 
Brgy. Calawis, Antipolo City. 
A hundred of their employee 
volunteers planted 1,250 
fruit-bearing seedlings in the 
identified sites. In the last 
three years, Accenture has 
adopted 15 hectares in Brgy. 
Mascap, Montalban, and 

Dow Chemical has 
supported the installation 
and rehabilitation of potable 
water systems in Yolanda-
affected areas on Bantayan 
Island and in San Dionisio, 
Northern Iloilo. Through its 
funding support, PBSP has 
installed four water systems 
benefiting 2,792 people with 
safe drinking water. After the 
typhoon struck, Dow Chem 
immediately provided a 
mobile water filtration system 
and a generator set to help 

Brgy. Calawis. The program 
aims to restore the vitality of 
the Upper Marikina River Basin 
Protected Landscape through 
reforestation to prevent another 
severe flooding like what 
happened in Metro Manila in 
2009 during Typhoon Ondoy. 
The company’s dedication 
to the cause pushed them to 
continue their support to the 
program.

bring water to communities in 
Leyte and support bulk water 
supply for distribution of the 
Metro Leyte Water District. 
The generator set was later 
transferred to Baybay City 
Water District in Leyte to 
ensure 24/7 water supply to 
the city that benefitted 22,180 
people. Dow Chem is currently 
providing technical assistance 
for the installation of a water 
system in Buhisan, Cebu.

Planting trees with Accenture

Providing access to water with Dow Chem
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SMART Communications 
provided InfoCast to USAID 
Be Secure-assisted cities of 
Iloilo, Ormoc, Cagayan de Oro, 
Cotabato and Zamboanga. 
It is a web-based system 
that provides cities and its 
barangays access to weather 
bulletins and emergency 
advisories through text 
messages sent directly to 
Disaster Risk Reduction 
Management Office actors. 
LGUs will also receive other 

Mercury Drug Foundation, 
Inc., through its “Operation 
Pa-Tubig,” supported the 
installation of 17 water 
systems in Luzon and Visayas, 
benefitting 1,743 households, 
a barangay health center, and 
an elementary school with 
clean drinking water.

This year, MDFI funded the 
installation of a water system 
in Barangay Cawayan in Real, 
Quezon that benefitted around 

information such as reports, 
media updates, and press 
releases which they can share 
to inform the public and raise 
their awareness. PBSP brokered 
the partnership with SMART 
and USAID this year. In 2012, 
PBSP successfully piloted the 
system in Southern Leyte and 
has since been used by many 
local government and national 
agencies to aid in early warning 
and response. 

500 people. The community 
used to rely on a lone spring 
water source, accessible via 15 
minutes trekking to an isolated 
location. The project consisted 
of development of the spring 
water source, installation of 
intake tank and distribution 
tank, and transmission 
pipes. PBSP also organized a 
community water association 
that manages the day-to-day 
operations and maintenance of 
the water system. 

Smart Communications' web-based 
tool aids cities in DRRM

Mercury Drug gives communities access 
to drinking water
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Vivant Corporation is an active supporter of PBSP’s 
Central Cebu Protected Landscape reforestation 
caravan. In the last three years, some 80 employee-
volunteers of Vivant helped in the reforestation of six 
hectares in the Mananga Watershed. This fiscal year, 
Vivant employees planted 5,000 coffee and guyabano 
seedlings in the agro-forestry site of the watershed at 
Barangay Pung-ol Sibugay. 

Vivant Corporation 
supports Central 
Cebu reforestation 
caravan

Unilever Philippines initiated a 
scalable and sustainable waste 
segregation program in partnership 
with PBSP. “Misis Walastik” focuses 
on the collection and recycling 
of flexible plastics.  The urgent 
need to recover sachets and 
other flexible plastics compelled 
Unilever to carry out this initiative 
as their products packaged in mini-
sizes and sachets add up to the 
increasing volume of solid waste 
generated in the country, which 
usually end up being dumped in 
waterways, roads, and landfills. 

Under the program, the 
collected flexible plastics are 
converted into cement pavers. 
Other conversion opportunities 
are also being explored. To 
date, the flexible plastics 
collection has reached a total of 
95,145 kilograms. These were 
generated from six barangays 
in three cities in Metro Manila, 
namely Barangays 649 
(Baseco), 849, 850, and 868 in 
Manila, Barangay Don Bosco in 
Parañaque City, and Barangay 
Pinagbuhatan in Pasig City.

Unilever Philippines steps up 
solid waste campaign through 
'Misis Walastik'

S
T

R
A

T
E

G
I

C
 

C
S

R



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6   | 51

Cargill Philippines donated coconut 
seedlings to farmers in Tabango, 
Leyte as part of the long-term 
rehabilitation o  f   the coconut farms 
damaged by typhoon s  in the area.

Apart from this, Cargill also taught 
farmers to intercrop corn with  
coconut to give them an alternative 
source of livelihood while waiting 
for the coconuts to grow and bear 
fruit.

Bali Oil Palm Produce Corp. (BOPCC) received assistance from PBSP in the 
implementation of its IB project, particularly in capacitating its partner-organization 
in Kalilangan Oil Palm Growers Association (KOPGA) and its members to become 
suppliers of oil palm fresh fruit bunches. Organization training, nursery and farm 
development, and marketing support for oil palm intercrops were provided to KOPGA. 

BOPPC has a vision to build sustainable communities with focus on the integrated 
value chain in agriculture for the inclusive growth and benefits of its stakeholders, 
comprising of the base-of-the-pyramid low income farmers, suppliers, customers, 
partners and shareholders, and the surrounding communities it serves. 

Bali Oil is implementing the key elements of its Inclusive Business model: value chain 
approach, assured market and fair pricing for its contract growers, superior technical 
plan and training assistance to growers and oil mill processing, organizational and 
human capital development, and social and environmental plan in partnership with 
public and private stakeholders.

Farmers were also trained on 
Integrated Farming  System 
(IFS), backyard gardening, 
organic farming, vermi  
composting, and livestock 
raising. A demo farm was was 
also installed where they can 
learn new farming methods 
and technologies particularly in 
cultivating high-value crops.

Cargill Philippines' agricultural 
assistance helps Leyte farmers 
rise from disasters

Bali Oil builds sustainable 
communities through inclusive 
business
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MANUEL BONIAO, chairman of Bali Oil 
Palm Produce Corporation
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PBSP has always taken pride in its capability to harness the collective 
strength of the business sector with the strategic intent to harmonize priority 
development programs with the agenda of the national government and 
international donor institutions.  Working on the foundation built from PBSP’s 
role as secretariat to the Business and the MDGs initiative and intensified 
advocacy through our Platforms for Collective Engagements (PlaCEs), PBSP 
continues to step up to the challenge of leading the business sector’s efforts 
to contribute to the achievement of the Philippine SDG agenda.
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Collective Heroism for Education

BAYANIHANG 
PAMPAARALAN
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In 2011, Bayanihang Pampaaralan 
(BP) was organized as a 
consortium among the Department 
of Education (DepEd), 57-75 

Movement, Philippine Business for 
Education (PBEd), League of Corporate 
Foundation (LCF), Children’s Hour and 
PBSP, which serves as the consortium 
secretariat.  At that time, BP focused 
only on classroom construction to help 
address the classroom shortage in 
the country.  In a span of three years 

until 2014, BP was able to build 
5,000 classrooms nationwide from 
the collective efforts of various 
organizations, donors and partners.

FROM LEARNING TO EARNING 
Inspired by its gains, we expanded 
BP this year, not only in terms of its 
membership but also its focus.  This 
was a result of the need to address 
other issues in education in order to 
achieve the desired outcomes and 

impact such as improved access to quality 
basic education of all school-aged children 
and youth as measured by increase in 
cohort survival and completion rates.  

With a grant from Citi Foundation, we 
diversified its agenda with particular focus 
on the implementation of the Senior High 
School component of the K to 12 education 
system.  Envisioned to serve as a platform 
for the private sector’s collective action 
in supporting education reforms, BP shall 
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leverage business sector involvement to 
sustain government action and harmonize 
development aid assistance for education 
reform.  Aside from the national level 
consortium, we also organized sub-national 
BPs in NCR, Visayas and Mindanao with a 
total of 38 top corporate officials sitting in 
the steering committees.
 
BP is now working on capacity building of 
schools that implement Senior High School 
(SHS) to enable them to produce graduates 
who are ready for work, equipped with 
skills and competencies that match the 
demand of the industries (job fit), and ready 
to pursue higher learning.  Through BP, we 
hope to contribute in fulfilling the promise 
of SHS – that is to make SHS graduates 
more employable.

RESPONSES FROM THE 

PRIVATE SECTOR 

To jumpstart these initiatives, Citi in 
the Philippines partnered with PBSP in 

improving the employability of 750 SHS 
students in selected schools in the National 
Capital Region, Cebu City and Cagayan de 
Oro City by helping them acquire relevant and 
appropriate technical competencies and life/
employability skills. The first year is focused 
on identifying job market priorities through a 
job market study. This will help redirect skills 
development to match SHS graduates with 
industry demand.

Through career orientation sessions, we aim 
to better assist students in choosing their 
career pathways.  We are also establishing 
strong collaboration and strategic 
partnerships with schools, government and 
local industries for training and employment. 

In Tacloban City and Palo, Leyte, 530 SHS 
entrants and survivors of Typhoon Yolanda 
were at risk of dropping out but through 
various strategic interventions, they were able 
to bounce back and serve others.    

The Philippine Disaster and Resiliency 
Foundation (PDRF) with funding 
assistance from Embracing the World 
(EtW), a global network of regional 
humanitarian organizations, provided 
school supplies, school wear and 
transportation allowances to the 
students. Aside from in-kind and 
monetary support, they also underwent 
leadership trainings and exposures to 
industries to help them grow not only 
academically and professionally, but 
also as individuals.  After their training, 
they organized themselves into a club 
for peer support.  We and our partners 
are so inspired that all of the 38 students 
who took the Food and Beverage 
Services course of SHS passed the NC II 
certification exam of TESDA.
Several more companies have redirected 
their corporate social responsibility 
programs to support BP’s advocacy.  
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This fiscal year saw the 
increased engagement of the 
Water Alliance, a multi-sectoral 
partnership initiated by CEOs 

from the country’s leading companies 
to help find solutions to water security 
challenges in the Philippines. 

Organized in partnership with the 
United States Agency for International 
Development (USAID), the alliance is 
composed of 52 members representing 
the private sector, academe and research 
institutions, government and civil society. 
According to Water Alliance Chairman 
Edgar O. Chua of Shell Companies in 
the Philippines, “The Water Alliance was 
formed to bring together like-minded 
groups and individuals to make the whole 
country aware that there is a water crisis 
which will be more acute by 2025 and to 
identify and implement measures that 
each one can do to help address the 
problem.”               

This year, it established task-based 
committees and a technical working 
group (TWG) consisting of Energy 
Development Corporation, SMART/PLDT, 
Maynilad, Manila Water, Nestle, Aboitiz, 
McCann Worldgroup and Coca-Cola to 
assist in direction setting, provide input 
and technical assistance in areas of 
strategic importance, and help push 
the alliance's agenda in their respective 
industries. 

Its regular meetings became platforms 
to update members on the state of water 
security in the Philippines, analyze issues 
and discuss essential policy reforms. 
These have successfully stirred interest 
among the members and inspired 
action for their respective companies 
and communities. It also paved the way 
for companies to improve their water 
efficiency. The meetings also came 

WATER ALLIANCE 

up with investment packages to aid 
companies in selecting projects to 
support.

To enhance local discourse, the 
alliance this year brought international 
experts to the Philippines. Stuart White 
from the Institute for Sustainable 
Futures in Sydney, Australia shared 
how Sydney brought down its demand 
for water as a result of long-term 
supply demand planning and drought 
response planning. Jordan’s Former 
Secretary General of the Ministry 
of Water and Irrigation shared their 
efforts in making a water-efficient 
agriculture sector. Alliance for Water 
Efficiency’s Mary Ann Dickinson 
discussed how businesses can be 
water-efficient.

A number of coordination meetings were 
held with government, business and 
academic networks such as the European 
Chamber of Commerce (ECCP) and UN 
Sustainable Development Solutions 
Network Philippines (SDSN). As a result, 
the alliance was able to advocate for 
government support to rural water 
systems; established partnership to 
engage more European companies and 
partner in policy reform efforts, information 
campaigns, technology sharing and 
research. 

Lastly, with the advocacy work and 
concrete actions started by the alliance, 
it was showcased in international 
conferences –Shell Powering Progress 
Together Asia 2016, WaterLinks Forum 
2016, and Rotary Club International - Water, 
Sanitation and Hygiene Conference. 

“We believe that there are many 
groups and individuals who want 
to do something but are unsure of 
where to start and how to make 
an impact. Banking on the spirit 
of Bayanihan, when people realize 
that there’s a Water alliance, it 
will inspire them to join or do 
their part and this will enable us 
to have scale and impact.  While 
the starting members of the 
Water Alliance are companies and 
organisations, everyone can be 
part of it. Water is a very limited 
and valuable resource so we all 
have a part to play in ensuring that 
it is managed well in a sustainable 
way so that we can continue to 
have clean water for the future.”  

- Edgar O. Chua, Water Alliance 
Chair
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CLOCKWISE from top left shows the proponents 
of the Water Alliance during its launch at the 
Intercontinental Hotel; SMART Communications' 
Mon Isberto takes part in the ceremony 
signifying the company's pledge of support; 
former Chairman of the Water Alliance Ed Chua 
(third from right) and former PBSP Executive 
Director Rafael Lopa (rightmost) with leaders from 
government, civil society and international aid 
organizations during the launch;  and alliance 
members in one of their meetings. 
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“Our role in PBSP, together with 
MinDA and the government, is to 
create the conditions and provide 
the support wherever we can, to 
companies which are prepared to 
actively participate in inclusive 
business models.  It is hoped 
that the conversations among 
companies will not only encourage 
you to start looking into it, but 
also encourage you to tell us what 
assistance you might require 
whether the focus is in agriculture  
infrastructure that will make 
your companies more capable of 
carrying out or participating in this 
issue..”

Paul G. Dominguez
Inclusive Business Forum in 
Mindanao
August 2016

Mindanao is one of our primary hubs in IB. 
Recognizing PBSP’s strength in convening 
various stakeholders and the business 
community, the World Bank partnered with 

PBSP for the conduct of the Mindanao Jobs Report 
(MJR) study. 

PBSP supported World Banks’ Mindanao Jobs Report 
(MJR) study by engaging the business sector and other 
key stakeholders in a series of consultation sessions 
to provide inputs and insights to enhance the findings 
and recommendations of the MJR. The study aimed 
to map out opportunities for job creation from 14 
crop value chains in Mindanao. Across the different 
value chains, the common areas of constraints are 

JES-IBIM supports Mindanao Jobs Report

INCLUSIVE BUSINESS 
IMPERATIVE

production, farmers associations’ capacity, agricultural 
infrastructures, access to financial support, lack of 
government support, including extension service 
inadequacies. Findings and recommendations of the 
study are to be translated into action plans and monitored 
as part of the agenda of the Joint Enabling Secretariat for 
Inclusive Business in Mindanao or JES-IBIM. Organized in 
2014, JES-IBIM is a partnership program between PBSP 
and Mindanao Development Authority to facilitate support 
of programs and resources for IB implementation.  

The complexity of the problem of poverty requires us who 
are in the business of poverty reduction to identify diverse 
and cross-cutting issues, and find context-specific and 
localized solutions. 
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Starting 2015, PBSP opened up the discussion 
about the development of Bangsamoro with the 
private sector. To attract more investments in 
the Bangsamoro region, a series of stakeholders’ 
dialogues between the companies and the 
Bangsamoro authorities were convened by PBSP.

PRIVATE MEETING AT CAMP DARAPANAN
PBSP, in partnership with World Bank, organized 
a group of high-level officials of companies and 
international development organizations to visit 
Camp Darapanan in Cotabato City in September 
2015 and meet with the Bangsamoro leaders 
headed by MILF Chairman Al-Hajj Murad Ebrahim. 

Chairman Murad described the visit as a concrete 
manifestation of the business sector’s interest in 
helping achieve the aspirations of the Bangsamoro 

people. He expressed MILF’s commitment to be the 
business sector’s partner in development.

This private meeting served as a prelude to a 
series of meetings on investments and provided 
the participants with the opportunity to identify 
the roles their companies could play in the 
development of the area.

BRIDGe is a project designed to prepare the 
business enabling environment in ARMM and the 
communities for inclusive business investments. 

“We know that we can do little 
and we will not be successful 
unless we involve the private 
sector. We are happy now that the 
private sector has shown their 
support. Their coming here will 
send a strong message to our 
people that the hope of everybody 
will be realized with this, God 
willing.” 

– MILF Chairman Murad
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With a proven track record, PBSP provides effective and 
efficient end-to-end services in project and grants 
management
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The USAID Be Secure Project in the Philippines promotes good 
governance, builds capacity for long-term water security, improves 

access to water and wastewater treatment services, rehabilitates 
typhoon-damaged water systems, and builds communities that are 

more resilient to climate change. 

As a subcontractor of the project, Philippine Business for Social 
Progress (PBSP) is focused on engaging the private sector through the 
development of private sector alliances in the provision of community 

water services, capacity-development of water service providers (WSP), 
and innovative interventions on disaster risk reduction and climate 

change adaptation project development and financing.

BRIDGe is an 18-month project designed to increase 
business investments in the Bangsamoro area by 
increasing mutual confidence between business firms 
and local communities. The Australian Government’s 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade donated 
PHP35,063,392 for the project with Philippine Business 
for Social Progress (PBSP). Hineleban Foundation 
is the sub-grantee and implementing organization. 
The project which is from May 2016 to October 2017, 
will be implemented in Maguindanao and Lanao del 
Sur. Beneficiaries are the local communities of these 
provinces as well as the ARMM Regional Board of 
Investments, Philippine companies and local investors. 

Water Security for Resilient 
Economic Growth and Stability 

(BE SECURE) Project

Brokering Business Investments in the Bangsamoro to Achieve 
Inclusive Development and Growth (BRIDGe)

It is expected that through this project, a three-tiered change shall be 
more visible among the top key players interacting with each other: 
a more facilitative ARMM - Regional Board of Investment (ARMM-
RBOI) that is aggressively promoting investments suitable in the 
Bangsamoro; local communities that are prepared and capable to 
engage and partner with investors; and more business firms primed 
to invest in an area known for its distinctive social, cultural and 
environmental dynamics.  Further, the interaction of these three key 
players shall be governed by an established business performance 
standards and practices captured in a documented manual  that 
shall be tested and accepted by the key stakeholders in the ARMM 
area.

SOME OF OUR PROJECTS PLUS PHOTO
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Every year, thousands of tonnes of septage 
(the contents of septic tanks) are disposed 
of indiscriminately in the environment 
causing pollution and contaminating water 
resources. To help address this threat to 
public health and the environment, global 
aid agency Oxfam established a Septage 
Management Revolving Fund (SMRF) in 
partnership with Philippine Business for 
Social Progress (PBSP) to help improve 
sanitation services and reduce public 
health risks in Yolanda-affected areas in the 
Visayas. 

The loan facility through the SMRF aims 
to enable municipalities to finance capital 
investment of their Septage Management 
Programs (SMP). PBSP is operating this 
first financing facility dedicated to septage 
management under pilot conditions, with 
the end goal of establishing a sustainable 

The International Rescue Committee (IRC) funded the 
installation of potable water systems and provision of 
chlorinators in five communities in Iloilo. The project, 
which aims to address the limited access to safe 
drinking water, will benefit 490 to 2,350 households 
in the municipalities of Estancia, Batad, Calinog, and 
Badiangan.  

An international non-profit organization based in New 
York, USA, IRC has been a partner of PBSP since 2013 
during the early recovery and rehabilitation assistance 
to six Typhoon Yolanda-affected municipalities in Iloilo. 
More than 5,000 households directly benefitted from the 
provision of shelter kits and unconditional cash grants, 
motorized boats and fishing gears, financial assistance 

OXFAM Philippines 
partners with 

PBSP on Septage 
Management

International Rescue 
Committee funds water 
systems, DRR and early 
recovery of typhoon 
survivors 

model that can maintain the 
revolving fund. The initiative has 
also provided technical assistance 
to municipalities on creating their 
septage management programs, 
business planning, implementation 
of their information awareness 
campaigns, designing their 
treatment facilities and crafting 
their local policies. Oxfam sent 

technical experts to assist PBSP as 
well as conduct training and coaching 
sessions to transfer knowledge to 
PBSP staff for this initiative.

PBSP is currently supporting the 
municipalities of Palo and Tanauan 
in Leyte, Sante Fe and Bantayan in 
Northern Cebu and Catbalogan in 
Samar. 

to women-micro entrepreneurs, rehabilitation of fishing port and 
fish landing areas, installation of 1,100 artificial reefs and 11 
payaos, and reforestation of 54 hectares of mangrove areas.

In 2014, IRC also provided funds for emergency response for 
the victims of Typhoon Ruby in Daram, Samar. The support 
was used for the conduct of a rapid needs assessment, relief 
operations, and provision of unconditional cash grants. IRC is 
also continuously providing capacity building support to PBSP in 
developing its DRR capabilities through training and mentorship.
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For 2016-17, Australia is providing 
AUD81.9 million of development 
assistance to the Philippines. Of 
this, AUD40.8 million is invested in 

the education sector, including the Australia 
Awards Scholarships.  Australia focuses on 
basic education and commits AUD23 million this 
year to two major education programs that help 
deliver the Philippines K-12 reform agenda; and 
improve basic education outcomes in ARMM, 
the poorest and lowest-performing region in the 
Philippines.  Australia and the Philippines both 
recognize education as critical to improving 
livelihood opportunities here in the Philippines and 
enabling those living in poverty to participate in 
the economy. Australia's objective is to support the 
Philippines to improve learning outcomes for boys 
and girls. We want to increase participation and 
access to quality education in schools, particularly 
targeting disadvantaged groups and improving 
education governance to help the Department of 
Education improve service delivery. 

Australia’s partnership with Philippine Business 
for Social Progress (PBSP) spans over five 
years, represents an investment of AUD26.25 
million for the construction of 509 classrooms 
in the Philippines, and brings together private 
sector engagement that enhances development 
outcomes. Stakeholders in education have realized 
that it's not just up to the development community 
to support progress and growth but also requires 
private sector engagement.  This is vital in 

FELICITY LEE
First Secretary,
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade,
Australian Embassy in the Philippines

helping the Philippines produce graduates with 
qualifications and skills that meet industry 
needs. PBSP is a strong advocate for linking 
private sector and industry with the education 
system to ensure that moving forward, the 
Philippines' economic growth can continue to 
grow with a workforce equipped with the right 
skills.

MESSAGE FROM

"PBSP is a strong advocate for linking private sector 
and industry with the education system to ensure 

that moving forward, the Philippines' economic 
growth can continue to grow with a workforce 

equipped with the right skills."
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The experience of the Humanismo y Democracia 
Foundation in the Philippines started in 2000, 
in partnership Philippine Business for Social 
Progress. This collaboration has continued 

since the first project of Access to Water that H+D and 
PBSP had accomplished in the Philippines in 2000 up to 
present.

Over the past 17 years of joint work, the relationship 
between H+D and PBSP has strengthened, thanks to the 
continuous teamwork and smooth coordination between 
both organizations. H+D and PBSP have implemented 
development projects in the Philippines for over 8 million 
euros, bridging funds from the Spanish Government and 
within the sectors of education, access to water, gender, 
maternal health and disaster risk reduction management, 
involving livelihood rehabilitation and disaster 
preparedness for local governments and communities. 

Our interventions have reached urban and rural 
communities in seven regions and nine provinces, 
targeting the most vulnerable population in order to 
improve their quality of life.  H+D initiatives have benefitted 
more than 800,000 persons in Ilocos, Bicol, Iloilo, Negros 
Island, Caraga, Zamboanga Peninsula and Davao.

The partnership between H+D and PBSP helps to expand 
and make possible our interventions in the Philippines 
towards the H+D objective of poverty reduction. For 
H+D, it is of vital importance that the projects shall be 
executed in coordination with the competent local public 
authorities and we emphasize as a PBSP strength their 
excellent relationship with the institutional level in the 
Philippines. This allows all our projects to be inserted in 
public policies in order to defend the rights of the country's 
most vulnerable population. Together with PBSP, we 
have contributed to the institutional strengthening of 
local, provincial and regional public administrations and 
numerous civil society organizations such as Parents, 
Teachers & Community Associations-PTA, Barangay 
Water and Sanitation Associations - BAWASA, Farmer's & 
Handicraft Producers Associations, among others. 

Other benefits of the partnership are the know-how and 
local knowledge of PBSP on the Philippines which allows 
our projects to be culturally sensitive and reflective of 

MARIA ISABEL ALAÑON
General Director,
H+D

the reality of the communities where H+D serves. This 
is especially important when it comes to identifying, 
designing and implementing interventions that are 
coherent, significant and sustainable to communities. The 
intervention’s sustainability is another advantage of our 
work with PBSP once external aid ceases. Another added 
value of PBSP is its presence in the areas of intervention 
and capacity to reach any area of the Philippines, thanks 
to the regional offices strategically located and personnel 
available on the field. 

The overall mission of H+D is to work in a more harmonious 
human development to help fight poverty and social 
exclusion as well as strengthening democratic values of 
good governance. H+D is an NGO inspired by the values of 
Solidarity, Freedom, Transparency and Occidental Christian 
Humanism based on respect for human dignity, the pursuit 
of social justice and peace

The projects implemented in the Philippines, in partnership 
with PBSP, are in line with the H+D mission approach in 
favor of strengthening both local government and civil 
society, equal opportunities and non-discrimination against 
people, especially between women and men.
  

OUR DONORS
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The Global Fund to fight AIDS, 
tuberculosis and malaria is a financing 
institution, providing support to 
countries in the response to the 

three diseases. By challenging barriers and 
embracing innovative approaches, the Global 
Fund partnership strives for maximum impact. 
Working together, we have saved millions of lives 
and provided prevention, treatment and care 
services to hundreds of millions of people, helping 
to revitalize entire communities, strengthen local 
health systems and improve economies.
 
In the Philippines, the current Global Fund 
investment for TB amounts to US$ 90 million. The 
partnership with Philippine Business for Social 
Progress (PBSP) in the implementation period 
from 2014 to 2016 aimed at further reducing TB 
incidence, prevalence and mortality. The priorities 
set in the grant are focused in the following four 
areas: 1) accelerating and intensifying DOTS 
(directly observed treatment) services, to improve 
the case notification rate; 2) mainstreaming 
Programmatic Management of Drug-resistant 
TB services with DOTS network to increase the 
enrolment of the MDR-TB cases and improve 
the treatment success rate; 3) enhancing TB-HIV 
collaboration to scale up HIV testing among TB 
patients and ensure treatment coverage among 
HIV positive TB patients, and 4) strengthening 
monitoring and evaluation system and capacity.
 
The Global Fund partnership with Philippine 
Business for Social Progress (PBSP) has been 
significant to achieve the objectives set in the 

QI CUI
Senior Fund Portfolio Manager,
The Global Fund

grant and goals of national TB program , most 
notably due to the good capacity demonstrated 
in terms of program management, strong 
cooperation with the national program and 
partners, close oversight from the Country 
Coordination Mechanism and active 
participation from communities and key affected 
populations. With the support of Philippine 
Business for Social Progress, the TB programme 
in the Philippines has been able to confirm and 
successfully treat around 200,000 patients 
since 2014.
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"With the support of Philippine Business for Social Progress, 
the TB programme in the Philippines has been able to 

confirm and successfully treat around 200,000 patients 
since 2014."
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DR. SUSAN BREMS
USAID Mission Director
United States Agency for International 
Development (USAID)Congratulations to Philippine Business 

for Social Progress for 46 years of 
connecting, linking, and leveraging 
support with business leaders to uplift 

lives and reduce poverty in the country.

PBSP’s mission resonates roundly with us at 
USAID as we continue to support the Philippines 
in its fight against tuberculosis.  The U.S. 
Government is committed to a world free of 
tuberculosis.   At the core of this vision is a deep 
commitment to work with global partners to 
reach every person with TB, cure those in need of 
treatment, and prevent the spread of disease and 
new infections.

An unrelenting public health problem, tuberculosis 
affects an estimated 325,000 Filipinos, the 
majority of them in the most economically 
productive age group. Further, the Philippines 
continues as one of 30 high-burden countries for 
both TB and multidrug-resistant TB.
In 2015, the U.S. Government released two 
landmark documents, its five-year TB Strategy, 
2015-2019, which outlines current U.S. 
Government TB goals, and its National Action Plan 
for Combating Multidrug-Resistant Tuberculosis, 
which identifies interventions and articulates 
a strategy to respond to the domestic and 
global problem on multidrug-resistant TB.  The 
elimination of tuberculosis will require strong and 
sustained measures by governments, industry, 
civil society, the private sector, and international 
partners.  In the Philippines, we are privileged to 

have Philippine Business for Social Progress as 
a key partner in this endeavor.

The American people are proud to collaborate 
with the Philippines to address this global 
challenge. By helping the country eliminate 
tuberculosis, the U.S. Government is supporting 
the Philippines to build healthy, resilient 
communities that are essential in reducing 
poverty, maintaining stability, and sustaining 
development gains.  
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"PBSP’s mission resonates roundly with us at USAID as 
we continue to support the Philippines in its fight against 

tuberculosis.."
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ROAD TO 50

PBSP is turning 50 in four years.  It is a major milestone in our organizational life that requires celebration, recognition, and 
introspection.  We wish to celebrate the work that we have done by highlighting  accomplishments, sharing the learnings and insights 
based on experience and track record, and present the change in quality of life in areas we operate. We want to recognize the people 
that brought PBSP to its current state.  These are the founders, members, employees both past and present, and partners.  Finally, we 
plan to define the direction of the next 50 years through environmental scanning and consultations with members and partners, aligning 
with the sustainable development goals (SDGs) and Ambisyon 2040.

9TH FIVE-YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN 2017 TO 2021

For the immediate future, PBSP has finalized the 9th five-year strategic plan with the approval of the Board of Trustees. 

The process of formulating this 9th PBSP Five-Year Strategic Plan (9PFYP) facilitated deeper understanding of the changing 
development context from the global, national and sub-national levels, drawing from the analyses, lessons and insights of various 
stakeholders consulted, to arrive at a better informed strategic directions and priorities.  We envision being bolder in our aspiration, more 
focused on results, and more driven to achieve operational excellence.

PBSP has since been supportive of the international and national social development agenda, particularly those that address poverty, 
inequality, and environmental sustainability. We are committed to supporting the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by 
all member states of the United Nations in September 2015 with the ambitious objectives across the three dimensions of sustainable 
development – economic development, social inclusion, and environmental sustainability.  Alignment with the SDGs and the Philippine 
Development Plan is central to this plan. In the Philippines, we take cognizance that relatively high economic growth has not led to 
significant reduction in poverty.  Poverty remains a mainly rural phenomenon, though urban poverty is on the rise.  Three of the main 
causes of poverty include:

• Weakness in employment generation and the quality of jobs generated; 
• Failure to fully develop the agriculture sector; and
• High and persistent levels of inequality (incomes and assets), which dampen the positive impacts of economic expansion

The majority of the poor lives in rural areas and work in the agriculture sector mostly as farmers and fishers. In the urban centers, such 
as Metro Manila, they are found in slums and the informal sector.Agriculture, which employs about 30% of the labor force, is beset with 
low incomes and productivity due to diminishing farm size, low investment in irrigation and transport infrastructure, poor rural linkages, 
and weak credit for small farmers.

Studies show that poverty levels are strongly linked to educational attainment. The implementation of the K+12 Education Reform 
Program aims to improve education outcomes and uplift the quality of education in the Philippines to be globally competitive.  However, 
despite the aggressive preparations of the Department of Education, many public schools still have unfilled needs to effectively 
implement senior high school.

Tuberculosis or TB, an infectious disease, remains a major public health problem in the Philippines.  The 2010 data shows that there 
are about 480,000 people who have active TB.  Worse, the poor carries twice as much TB burden compared to non-poor.  It is the 6th 
leading cause of death, with case detection rate for all forms at 82% versus 85% global target. Incidence of multi-drug-resistant TB 
(MDR-TB) is increasing at 4% among newly diagnosed TB cases, and 21% among re-treatment cases, annually.  Out of the estimated 
12,000 MDR-TB cases, only about 2,618 are enrolled and the situation is worsened by high default rate among them.

Maternal mortality rate (MMR) is currently at 221 for every 100,000 live births versus the MDG target of 52 for every 100,000 live births 
in 2015. Key factors contributing to high MMR includes insufficient access to affordable quality health services and commodities by 
poor families; poor health-seeking behavior among women of reproductive age; and lack of viable financing schemes for health services 
delivery.

Way Forward
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There is a water crisis in the country.  Some 15.7 million Filipinos still have no access to safe water.  By 2025, according to studies 
by Japan International Cooperation Agency and the Philippine Environment Monitor, there will be a deficit in water availability 
in several river basins and all major cities are expected to experience water shortage. Uneven distribution of water resources is 
highlighted by the fact that some 455 municipalities mostly in rural areas are considered “waterless.”  
The degradation of natural resources and the serious effects of climate change pose threat to adaptation and resilience to 
disasters, increase the vulnerability of people, and hamper development.

The assessment of the Development Finance and Aid in the Philippines (NEDA 2014) reveal the following key finding and 
recommendations:
• Starting 2004, there has been drastic reduction of grants both in levels and as a percentage of GDP.  It is expected that 

grants will occupy a very minor role in development finance in the future.
• Trends indicate that the country could raise the necessary financing to support the development agenda. Domestic resource 

mobilization and more efficient domestic financial markets will be the main sources of development finance flows in the 
future.

• Use ODA to have a more strategic and catalytic role in attracting private capital to finance development programs.  Engage 
donors in a dialogue to determine how their respective country assistance strategies contribute to attainment of desired 
development outcomes.

• Collaborate with the private sector in making CSRs more strategic and better targeted.

MOBILIZING THE BUSINESS SECTOR TOWARDS THE SDGS

In the next five years, PBSP is committed to strengthening the results focus of its development programs within the context of 
the SDGs. Crucial, therefore, is to ensure that initiatives of all players have buy-in and aligned with the SDGs.  PBSP, as an initial 
attempt, conducted an inventory of projects implemented last fiscal year with member companies and plotted its potential 
alignment with specific SDGs.  Out of the 66 corporate-funded projects, below is a crude frequency distribution presentation of 
SDG alignment of projects:

Moving forward, we wish to engage more companies 
on initiatives that directly contribute to the SDGs, 
document these, and capture these in a database.  
We shall intensify our GET LISTED campaign with 
the objective of producing a comprehensive profile of 
strategic corporate engagement and their collective 
and sustainable solutions that addresses the SDGs.

Let us continue solving problems and scaling up 
solutions together!

Very truly yours,

REYNALDO ANTONIO D. LAGUDA
Executive Director

NO. OF PROJECTS 
PER SDG
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On behalf of the Board of Trustees, I am pleased to present the financial 
results of operations for the fiscal year and the financial condition of your 
Foundation as of September 30, 2016.

The fiscal year 2015-2016 plan and budget highlighted your Foundation’s renewed 
commitment to scale up our development programs by building and strengthening 

meaningful partnerships for collective action. 

Committed to uplifting the lives of many poor Filipinos and eradicating various forms of 
poverty, your Foundation mobilized and managed resources from members, donors 

and partners to provide access to better health services and quality education; 
to create opportunities for increased incomes, gainful employment, and 

sustainable livelihoods; to strengthen capacities for reduced vulnerability 
and improved resiliency to disasters and climate change risks.

Total support and income recorded a total of PhP2.138 billion for 
the year, a decrease by 4% over last year’s PhP2.225 billion.  The 

substantial portion of the support and income came from 
external grants and other contributions for restricted projects 

at PhP2.045 billion, down by 3% from last year’s PhP2.104 
billion.

The combined contributions from our member-
companies reached PhP76.06 million.  These donations, 
while lower than prior year’s PhP84.14 million, attracted 
external funding of more than 26 times.

The unrestricted portion of grants and other contributions 
declined by 54% to PhP28.06 million from PhP61.45 

million last year.  Note, however, that this would have reached 
PhP56.63 million if not for the reimbursement to USAID of PhP28.57 million 
corresponding to a five-year adjustment in the negotiated indirect cost 
rate that was implemented this year.  Trust that the management and the 
Board have already put in place policies to mitigate similar scenario in the 
future.

The judicious management of our investible funds by our trustee banks 
led to PhP25.50 million net investment income, as compared with 
PhP16.68 million in 2015, or an increase by 53%. Our thrust in deriving 
other sources of revenue from the traditional inputs is slowly but surely 
gaining ground.



Our commitment to our donors, partners and beneficiaries remains steadfast as shown by 
the total project disbursements of PhP2.045 billion, surpassing our annual target of PhP1.686 
billion by 21%.  Total disbursements correspondingly exceeded target to PhP2.159 billion, 
although 2% lower than prior year’s PhP2.211 billion.

Ever mindful of its role as steward of other people’s resources, your Foundation continues to 
exercise prudence in managing its total operating expenses at slightly lower PhP99.16 million 
versus PhP105.58 budget in 2016.  As a result, operating expenses, as a percentage of total 
expenditures and total support and income, registered only 4.11% and 4.09%, respectively.  
Grants expenses account for 95.75% of total expenditures.

The refund (to USAID) caused by the adjustment in the negotiated indirect cost rate 
mentioned earlier has resulted in a shortfall of support and income over expenditures of 
PhP20.72 million.

We closed the fiscal year with a still respectable Balance Sheet position of PhP1.742 billion, 
down by 13% from the previous years’ PhP1.992 billion.  Of this amount, 72% to PhP1.270 
billion are committed funding for ongoing and future projects.  In addition, allocations have 
been made to further strengthen our capacity to better manage our programs and improve 
your Foundation’s ability to serve its members.  The fiscal year 2016-2017 started with a fund 
balance of PhP443.39 million, lesser only by 3.19% from last year’s PhP457.93 million.

Given the challenges we faced in the middle of the fiscal year, your Foundation’s overall 
performance for the fiscal year proved to have fairly positive outputs, and the delivery of 
services to its intended beneficiaries have surpassed expectations.  

Collectively, we are leading the partnership for uplifting the lives of many Filipinos.  The tasks 
at hand as outline in the 17 Sustainable Development Goals are enormous compared to what 
each of us can do.  But working together in finding and harnessing sustainable solutions 
to hunger and malnutrition, poverty and lack of access to better livelihood opportunities, 
insufficient access to quality education, impending water crisis and the degradation of natural 
resources, and many others, our chances of making an impact is higher.

On behalf of the Board of Trustees and the management, let me express my sincerest 
gratitude to all our members, donors, partners and beneficiaries, who together, make our work 
possible and meaningful.  We thank you for your continued and energetic support, trust and 
confidence in PBSP.

PEDRO E. ROXAS
Treasurer
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THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
PHILIPPINE BUSINESS FOR SOCIAL PROGRESS 

Further to our oversight role, we confirm that:

• All members of the committee are independent and non-
executive directors. Together, the audit committee members 
possess the relevant financial experience required to discharge 
the committee’s duties;

• We have reviewed and discussed the audited financial 
statements of the Philippine Business for Social Progress 
(PBSP) as of and for the year ended September 20, 2016 with 
PBSP’s Management, which has the primary responsibility 
for the financial statements; and with Punongbayan & Araullo 
(P&A), PBSP’s independent auditor, who is responsible for 
expressing an opinion on the conformity of PBSP’s audited 
financial statements with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards;

• We have discussed with P&A matters requiring discussion, as 
mandated by the audit committee charter;

• We have discussed with PBSP’s Internal Auditor and P&A, 
and we have approved, the overall scope and plans for their 
respective audits;

• We have met with PBSP’s Internal Auditor and P&A, to discuss 
the results of their examinations, their evaluations of PBSP’s 
internal controls and the overall quality of PBSP’s financial 
reporting;

• Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, 
relying on both PBSP’s management and P&A, and subject to 
the limitations of our role, we recommended to the Board of 
Trustees the inclusion of PBSP’s audited financial statements 
as of and for the year ended September 30, 2016, in PBSP's 
Annual Report to its member-companies;



• The Board has approved the recommendation to include PBSP's audited financial 
statements as of and for the year ended September 30, 2016 in PBSP's Annual Report to 
its member-companies; and

• Based on a review of P&A’s performance and qualifications, and  taking  into consideration 
management recommendation, we recommend the reappointment of P&A as PBSP’s 
independent auditor.

On behalf of the audit committee:

ATTY. CIRILO P. NOEL

Chairman
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PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO

 By:    Mailene Sigue-Bisnar
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November 24, 2016

The Board of Trustees    
Philippine Business for Social Progress, Inc. 
(A Non-stock, Non-profit Corporation)
3rd Floor, PSDC Building    
Magallanes corner Real Streets    
Intramuros, Manila

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Business for Social Progress, Inc., which comprise the statements of financial position as at 
September 30, 2016 and 2015, and the statements of profit or loss, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in fund balance and statements of 
cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards 
on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Business for Social Progress, Inc. as at September 30, 2016 
and 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information for the year 
ended September 30, 2016 required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue as disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards; it is also not a required 
disclosure under Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 of the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission. Such supplementary information is the responsibility of 
management.  The supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, 
is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Punongbayan and Araullo
20th Floor, Tower 1
The Enterprise Center
6766 Ayala Avenue
1200 Makati City
Philippines

T +63 2 988 2288
F +63 2 886 5506
grantthornton.com.ph

REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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Notes  2016 2015

A S S E T S

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 7 P 945,516,798  P 1,254,399,739  
Available-for-sale financial assets  -

Trustee-managed funds 8 228,382,342  175,294,561  
Receivables - net 9 172,228,018  106,605,580  
Biological assets 2      1,375,880       1,375,880  
Other current assets 12      79,760,632       16,727,044  

Total Current Assets 1,427,263,670    1,554,402,804    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets: 8

Trustee-managed funds     265,643,958  287,518,303  
Investment in bonds      25,437,954       24,645,815  

Property and equipment - net 10      11,758,535       11,998,230  
Investment properties 11      9,061,744       9,061,744  
Other non-current assets - net 12      2,351,968  104,824,747  

Total Non-current Assets 314,254,159    438,048,839    

TOTAL ASSETS P 1,741,517,829    P 1,992,451,643    

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 13 P 192,509,377    P   149,074,655   

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Post-employment defined benefit obligation 18      23,700,334       15,530,348  
Deferred support 14 1,081,914,051  1,369,916,675  

Total Non-current Liabilities 1,105,614,385    1,385,447,023  

      Total Liabilities 1,298,123,762  1,534,521,678  

FUND BALANCE 15 443,394,067  457,929,965  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE P 1,741,517,829    P 1,992,451,643    

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 | Amounts in Philippine Pesos

See Notes to Financial Statements.

STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 | Amounts in Philippine Pesos

STATEMENTS OF
PROFIT OR LOSS

  2016    2015  

  Notes  Unrestricted  Restricted  Total  Unrestricted  Restricted  Total  

SUPPORT AND INCOME
Support

Members' donations  P 28,452,830  P 47,603,370  P 76,056,200  P 33,652,297  P   50,491,949  P   84,144,246  
Grants and other contributions 3 28,056,802  1,998,077,175  2,026,133,977  61,454,464  2,053,689,577  2,115,144,041  

Investment income - net 16 25,498,390  -         25,498,390  16,676,798  -         16,676,798  
Income from small enterprise 

facility trust fund 8, 21  4,107,882  -         4,107,882       2,859,063  -         2,859,063  
Other income - net 7, 11      6,717,631  -         6,717,631       6,257,836  -         6,257,836  

   92,833,535  2,045,680,545    2,138,514,080    120,900,458    2,104,181,526  2,225,081,984   

EXPENDITURES
Grants expenses 17      9,203,831  2,045,680,545    2,054,884,376  13,462,677  2,104,181,526  2,117,644,203  
Project development and monitoring expenses 17, 18 35,158,236  -      35,158,236  28,500,268  -       28,500,268  
General operating expenses  17 64,009,265  -      64,009,265  59,447,400  -       59,447,400  
Depreciation and amortization 10      2,341,499  -         2,341,499       1,967,405  -         1,967,405  
Small enterprise facility trust fund expenses 8, 21      1,810,497  -         1,810,497       1,240,734    -         1,240,734  
Other expenses - net 17      804,675  -         804,675       3,052,809  -         3,052,809  

113,328,003    2,045,680,545    2,159,008,548    107,671,293    2,104,181,526 2,211,852,819    

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF EXPENDITURES
OVER SUPPORT AND INCOME BEFORE TAX ( 20,494,468 ) -    ( 20,494,468   ) 13,229,164  -    13,229,164    

TAX EXPENSE 20          221,700    -    221,700    193,946  -      193,946    

NET EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF EXPENDITURES
OVER SUPPORT AND INCOME ( P 20,716,168   ) P -    ( P 20,716,168  ) P 13,035,218  P -    P  13,035,218   

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 | Amounts in Philippine Pesos

STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

  2016  2015

 Notes   Unrestricted     Restricted    Total     Unrestricted   Restricted    Total  

NET EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF EXPENDITURES
   OVER SUPPORT AND INCOME (P 20,716,168) P          -    (P 20,716,168) P   13,035,218    P            - P  13,035,218    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Item that will not be reclassified
     subsequently to profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
post-employment plan 18 ( 1,742,093 )    -    ( 1,742,093  ) (   1,888,672  ) -    (      1,888,672  )

Item that will be reclassified to profit or loss 8
Fair valuation of available-for-sale financial assets

Unrealized fair value gains (losses) - net      20,182,446     -     20,182,446   (  18,491,738  ) -    (    18,491,738   )
Fair value gains on disposal of available-for-sale
      financial assets reclassified to profit or loss ( 12,260,083)    -    (  12,260,083  ) (   1,751,134 ) -    ( 1,751,134)

     7,922,363    -           7,922,363   ( 20,242,872 ) -    (    20,242,872   )

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)      6,180,270     -           6,180,270   ( 22,131,544)  - (   22,131,544  )

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (  P 14,535,898 ) P          -    (P 14,535,898 ) (P 9,096,326   ) P            -    ( P  9,096,326)

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 | Amounts in Philippine Pesos

STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Notes Undesignated Designated  

Remeasurement 
of Defined Benefit 
 Post-employment  

Plan  

Revaluation 
Reserve on 

Available-for-sale  
Financial Assets Total  

Balance as of October 1, 2015 P 16,679,695    P 394,205,340    P   6,807,867    P  40,237,063    P  457,929,965  
Net excess (deficiency) of expenditures
     over support and income during the year ( 20,716,168) - - -    ( 20,716,168)
Net transfer 15       12,373,372 (    12,373,372   ) - -    -    
Other comprehensive income (loss) - net 8, 18 - - (  1,742,093 )    7,922,363       6,180,270  

Balance as of September 30, 2016 P 8,336,899  P 381,831,968   P 5,065,774    P 48,159,426    P 443,394,067  

Balance as of October 1, 2014 P 13,773,226     
P 384,076,591    P 8,696,539     

P 60,479,935    P 467,026,291  

Net excess (deficiency) of support and income
     over expenditures during the year      13,035,218    -    -    -    13,035,218  
Net transfer 15 (  10,128,749  )          10,128,749    -    -    -
Other comprehensive loss - net 8, 18 -    -    ( 1,888,672  ) ( 20,242,872   ) ( 22,131,544)

Balance as of September 30, 2015 P   16,679,695  P    394,205,340    P   6,807,867    P 40,237,063    P 457,929,965  

See Notes to Financial Statements.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6   | 79



|   R O A D  T O  5 O :  S C A L I N G  U P  S O L U T I O N S  T O G E T H E R

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 | Amounts in Philippine Pesos

STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS

  Notes  2016     2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Excess (deficiency) of support and income over expenditures before tax ( P 20,494,468  )  P   13,229,164  

Adjustments for:

Investment and interest income 7, 8, 16 ( 21,646,622 ) ( 21,634,128 )
Foreign currency exchange gains - net 17, 18 (   3,974,172 ) ( 4,180,469 )

Depreciation and amortization 10 2,341,499       1,967,405  

Impairment losses (recoveries) on receivables 9 ( 370,724 )      496,210  
Dividend income ( 53,768 ) ( 28,074 )

Deficiency of support and income over expenditures

before changes in operating assets and liabilities (  44,198,255 ) ( 10,149,892 )
Decrease (increase) in receivables (    65,251,714  )      42,859,410  
Decrease in biological assets  -       157,204  
Decrease (increase) in other assets      39,217,491  (  84,182,705 )
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses      43,434,722 ( 15,653,926 )
Increase in post-employment benefit obligation      6,427,893       5,569,012  
Increase (decrease) in deferred support ( 288,002,624 )      835,112,691  

Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities ( 308,372,487 )      773,711,794  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Increase in available-for-sale financial assets ( 19,772,842 ) ( 13,763,393 )
Interest received      21,298,208       22,993,165  
Acquisitions of property and equipment 10 ( 2,101,804 ) (   3,109,516 )

Dividend received         53,768       28,074  

Net Cash From (Used in) Investing Activities ( 522,670 )      6,148,330  

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents      12,216       590,093  

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (   308,882,941 )  780,450,217 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR      1,254,399,739       473,949,522  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR P   945,516,798  P   1,254,399,739  

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 | Amounts in Philippine Pesos

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Philippine Business for Social Progress, Inc. (the Foundation), founded in 1970 by a group of businessmen from 50 Philippine corporations, 
provides a formal institutional medium for the corporate sector to initiate, assist, manage or finance programs and projects for the social and 
economic improvement, promotion and advancement of the quality of life of the Filipino poor.  The Foundation’s activities are funded diversely, 
but majority come from donations appropriated by member companies from their annual net income and, from local and international donor 
institutions and corporate foundations.
 
The Foundation promotes the philosophy of efficiency, “self-help” and participation in its poverty reduction approaches. The Foundation is 
pro-active in the following areas: (a) basic education and the use of information technology in education, development and growth of micro, 
small and medium enterprises by making available credit and business support services, access to health and water in rural and urban centers 
to increase detection and cure rates of infectious diseases; (b) access to housing improvements and livelihood for urban poor communities; 
(c) development and dissemination of agriculture and aquaculture technologies to inject new skills and knowledge among farmers and fisher 
folks; and, (d) mobilizing relief goods for and rebuilding lives of disaster stricken communities.  
 
In all these, the Foundation forges partnerships with the business sector, government, and civil society towards a common development 
vision.       
 
The Foundation, as a non-stock, non-profit corporation, organized and operated exclusively for research and scientific purposes, is exempt 
from income tax pursuant to Section 30(e), Exemption from Tax on Corporations, of the Tax Reform Act of 1997 [Republic Act (RA) No. 8424].  
  
The registered office of the Foundation is located at the Philippine Social Development Center Bldg., Magallanes corner Real Streets, Barangay 655
Zone 069, Intramuros, Manila City.
  
The financial statements of the Foundation for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 (including the comparative financial statements as 
of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015) were authorized for issue by the Foundation’s Board of Trustees (BOT or the Board) on 
November 24, 2016.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized below. The policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
 
2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

(a)   Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
 
The financial statements of the Foundation have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  
PFRS are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board, and approved by the Philippine Board of Accountancy.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and 
expense.  The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that follow.
 

(b)   Presentation of Financial Statements

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. 
The Foundation presents statements of comprehensive income separate from the statements of profit or loss.
 
The Foundation presents a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when it applies an accounting 
policy retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification of items that has a material effect on the information in 
the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period. The related notes to the third statement of financial position 
are not required to be disclosed.
 
The Foundation does not present third statement of financial position as there were no retrospective restatement or reclassification of 
items that has a material effect on the information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period. 
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(c)   Reclassification of Accounts
  
Certain accounts in the 2015 statement of profit or loss have been reclassified to conform with the 2016 presentation and account 
classification. The following had no impact to the statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss and statement of cash flows.

 

(d)   Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Foundation’s functional and presentation currency, and all values 
represent absolute amounts except when otherwise indicated.
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Foundation are measured using its functional currency. Functional currency is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Foundation operates.

2.2 New and Amended PFRS Effective Subsequent to Fiscal Year 2016 but not Adopted Early

There are new PFRS, amendments and annual improvements to existing standards effective for annual periods subsequent to 2016 which 
are adopted by the FRSC. Management will adopt the following relevant pronouncements in accordance with their transitional provisions, and, 
unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have significant impact on the Foundation’s financial statements:

(i)    PAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure Initiative (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2016). The amendment encourages entities to apply professional judgment in presenting and disclosing information in the 
financial statements. Accordingly, it clarifies that materiality applies to the whole financial statements and an entity shall not reduce the 
understandability of the financial statements by obscuring material information with immaterial information or by aggregating material 
items that have different natures or functions.  It further clarifies that in determining the order of presenting the notes and disclosures, an 
entity shall consider the understandability and comparability of the financial statements.  

(ii)  PAS 16 (Amendment), Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41 (Amendment), Agriculture – Bearer Plants (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016).  The amendment defines a bearer plant as a living plant that is used in the production 
or supply of agricultural produce, is expected to bear produce for more than one period and has a remote likelihood of being sold as 
agricultural produce, except for incidental scrap sales. On this basis, bearer plant is now included within the scope of PAS 16 rather than 
PAS 41, allowing such assets to be accounted for as property, plant and equipment and to be measured after initial recognition at cost 
or revaluation basis in accordance with PAS 16. The amendment further clarifies that produce growing on bearer plants remains within 
the scope of PAS 41.  

(iii)  PFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018). This new standard on
financial instruments will eventually replace PAS 39 and PFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013 versions). This standard contains, among others, 
the following:

•       three principal classification categories for financial assets based on the business model on how an entity is managing its financial
instruments;

•     an expected loss model in determining impairment of all financial assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL), which generally depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of 
a financial asset; and,

•     a new model on hedge accounting that provides significant improvements principally by aligning hedge accounting more 
closely with the risk management activities undertaken by entities when hedging their financial and non-financial risk exposures.

As Reclassified As Reported

Grants and other contributions
Restricted P    2,053,689,577 P   2,077,519,753
Unrestricted 61,454,464 37,624,288

Project development and monitoring expenses
Restricted P  - P 10,239,026
Unrestricted   28,500,268 18,261,242

General operating expenses
Restricted P  - P 13,591,150
Unrestricted 59,447,400 45,856,250
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In accordance with the financial asset classification principle of PFRS 9 (2014), a financial asset is classified and measured at amortized 
cost if the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect the contractual cash flows 
that represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal outstanding.  Moreover, a financial asset is classified and 
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it meets the SPPI criterion and is held in a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets.  All other financial assets are 
measured at FVTPL.  

In addition, PFRS 9 (2014) allows entities to make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity 
instrument that is not held for trading in other comprehensive income.  

The accounting for embedded derivatives in host contracts that are financial assets is simplified by removing the requirement to consider 
whether or not they are closely related, and, in most arrangements, does not require separation from the host contract.  

For liabilities, the standard retains most of the PAS 39 requirements which include amortized cost accounting for most financial liabilities, 
with bifurcation of embedded derivatives.  The amendment also requires changes in the fair value of an entity’s own debt instruments 
caused by changes in its own credit quality to be recognized in other comprehensive income rather than in profit or loss.  

Management is currently assessing the impact of PFRS 9 on the financial statements of the Foundation and it will conduct a comprehensive 
study of the potential impact of this standard prior to its mandatory adoption date to assess the impact of all changes.

(iv)  Annual Improvements to PFRS (2012-2014 Cycle) (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016). Among 
the improvements, the following amendments are relevant to the Foundation but management does not expect those to have material 
impact on the Foundation’s financial statements:

•   PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments – Disclosures. The amendment provides additional guidance to help entities 
identify the circumstances under which a contract to “service” financial assets is considered to be a continuing involvement in those 
assets for the purposes of applying the disclosure requirements of PFRS 7. Such circumstances commonly arise when, for example, 
the servicing is dependent on the amount or timing of cash flows collected from the transferred asset or when a fixed fee is not paid 
in full due to non-performance of that asset.

•    PAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits – Discount Rate. The amendment clarifies that the currency and term of the high  
quality corporate bonds which were used to determine the discount rate for post-employment benefit obligations shall be made 
consistent with the currency and estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.

(v)  PFRS 16, Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019). This new standard will require lessees to 
account for leases ‘on-balance sheet’ by recognizing a ‘right-of-use’ asset and a lease liability. It also sets requirements on how to account 
for the asset and liability, including complexities such as non-lease elements, variable lease payments and option periods. It further 
changes the accounting for sale and leaseback arrangements and introduces new disclosure requirements. Management is currently 
assessing the impact of PFRS 16 on the financial statements of the Foundation and it will conduct a comprehensive study of the potential 
impact of this standard prior to its mandatory adoption date to assess the impact of all changes. 

2.3 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognized when the Foundation becomes a party to the contractual terms of the financial instrument. For purposes of 
classifying financial assets, an instrument is considered as an equity instrument if it is non-derivative and meets the definition of equity for the 
issuer in accordance with the criteria of PAS 32. All other non-derivative financial instruments are treated as debt instruments.

(a)    Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets 

Financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following categories: financial 
assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.  Financial assets are 
assigned to the different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the investments were 
acquired.
 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date. All financial assets that are not classified as at 
FVTPL are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Financial assets carried at FVTPL are initially 
recorded at fair value and the related transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss. A more detailed description of the four categories 
of financial assets is as follows:

(i)     Loans and Receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They arise when the Foundation provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. They 
are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the end of each reporting period which are 
classified as non-current assets. 
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The Foundation’s financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are presented as Cash and Cash Equivalents, Receivables 
(excluding Advances to partners and Advances to employees) and Financial advances and Refundable deposits (shown under Other Non-
current Assets) in the statement of financial position.  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, savings and demand deposits, 
and short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment loss, if any. 

(ii)    AFS Financial Assets 

This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of 
the other categories of financial assets. They are included in non-current assets in the statement of financial position unless management 
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months from the end of the reporting period. The Foundation’s AFS financial assets include 
investments held under trustee-managed funds and investment in bonds. 

All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses from changes in fair value are 
recognized in other comprehensive income, and are reported under Revaluation Reserve on Available-for-sale Financial Assets account in 
the statement of changes in fund balance, except for interest and dividend income, impairment losses and foreign exchange differences 
on monetary assets, which are recognized in profit or loss.  

When the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, that is, when there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost, the cumulative fair value gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss and is presented as reclassification adjustment within other comprehensive income even though the financial 
asset has not been derecognized.

(b)    Impairment of Financial Assets

The Foundation assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. The Foundation recognizes impairment loss based on the category of financial assets as follows:

(i)     Carried at Amortized Cost – Loans and Receivables

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables has been incurred, the amount of the impairment loss is 
determined as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
credit losses that have not been incurred), discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate or current effective interest 
rate determined under the contract if the loan has a variable interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss 
shall be recognized in profit or loss.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The reversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what 
the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized at the date of the impairment is reversed.  The amount of 
the reversal is recognized in the profit or loss.   

(ii)    Carried at Fair Value – AFS Financial Assets

When a decline in the fair value of an AFS financial asset has been recognized in other comprehensive income and there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal 
repayment and amortization) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or 
loss – is reclassified from Revaluation Reserves to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment even though the financial asset has not 
been derecognized.

Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss on equity instruments are not reversed through profit or loss. Reversal of impairment 
losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, except for financial assets that are debt securities which are recognized in profit 
or loss only if the reversal can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized.

(c)    Items of Income and Expense Related to Financial Assets

All income and expenses, including impairment losses, relating to financial assets that are recognized in profit or loss are presented as 
part of Other income or Other expense account in the statements of profit or loss.

Non-compounding interest, dividend income and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognized in profit or loss 
when earned, regardless of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.
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(d)    Derecognition of Financial Assets

The financial assets (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) are derecognized when the 
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets and all substantial risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to another party.  If the Foundation neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Foundation recognizes its retained interest in the asset and 
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Foundation retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Foundation continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for 
the proceeds received.

2.4 Biological Assets

Biological assets comprise of vermi.  Biological assets are measured at fair value less cost to sell based on estimated future cash flows which 
are calculated based on estimated selling prices reduced by the estimated farming costs to be incurred until those have reached saleable 
condition.

Expenditures related to the costs of day-to-day servicing such as feeding, labor costs, and cage maintenance for biological assets are expensed 
as incurred.  The cost of purchase including transaction costs are capitalized as part of biological assets. 

Changes in fair value of vermi are recognized in profit or loss.

2.5 Other Assets

Other current assets pertain to other resources controlled by the Foundation as a result of past events. They are recognized in the financial 
statements when it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the Foundation and the asset has a cost or value that can be 
measured reliably.
 
Other recognized assets of similar nature, where future economic benefits are expected to flow to the Foundation beyond one year after the 
end of the reporting period (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer), are classified as non-current assets.

2.6 Property and Equipment

Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value. As no finite useful life for land can be determined, the related carrying amount are not 
depreciated. All other property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and any impairment in value.  

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
Expenditures for additions, major improvements and renewals are capitalized; while expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to 
expense as incurred.  

Property and equipment acquired for a project through restricted contributions are recorded as grants expenses. The Foundation recognizes 
the asset only upon project completion or upon transfer of the ownership of the asset to the Foundation.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
 

Building and improvements               25 years
Hatchery facilities and other properties  10 to 25 years
Furniture, fixtures and other equipment    3 to 10 years
Transportation equipment                 5 years
Computer equipment                  3 years

Amortization of building improvements is computed based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, or the remaining life of the building, 
whichever is shorter.

The residual values, estimated useful lives and method of depreciation and amortization of property and equipment are reviewed and adjusted, 
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Fully depreciated and amortized assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use but no further charge for depreciation and 
amortization is made in respect to those assets.

An item of property and equipment, including the related accumulated depreciation, amortization and any impairment losses, is derecognized 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in 
profit or loss in the year the item is derecognized.
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2.7 Investment Properties

Investment properties consist of parcels of land held for rental or for capital appreciation and not for sale in the ordinary course of business, 
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
 
Investment property is initially recognized at cost which includes acquisition price plus directly attributable cost incurred such as 
legal fees, transfer taxes and other transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. Impairment loss on investment properties is recognized in the same manner as in property 
and equipment.  Accordingly, the carrying amount of an investment property is immediately written down to its recoverable amount 
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.8). Transfers from other accounts (such as 
property and equipment) are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of
owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party or holding the property for capital appreciation, while transfers 
from investment properties are made when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of the owner-occupation 
or commencement of development with a view to sell.

Investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 
from its disposal.  Any gain or loss arising from the disposal of investment property, determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets, is recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the year the item is derecognized.

2.8 Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Foundation’s property and equipment, investment properties and other non-financial assets are subject to impairment testing whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). As a result, assets are tested for impairment either individually or at the cash-generating unit level.

Impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amounts 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In determining value in use, management estimates the expected 
future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines the suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Foundation’s latest approved budget, adjusted as 
necessary to exclude the effects of asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and 
reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and assets-specific risk factors. 

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no longer exist. An impairment loss 
is reversed if the asset’s or cash generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

2.9 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities, which include accounts payable and accrued expenses (except for payables to government agencies and funds held 
in trust) are recognized when the Foundation becomes a party to the contractual terms of the instrument. These are recognized initially at 
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest method for those with maturities beyond one year, less 
settlement payments.

All interest-related charges incurred on a financial liability are recognized as an expense in profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due to be settled within one year or less after the end of each reporting 
period (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer), or the Foundation does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period. Otherwise, these are presented as non-current liabilities.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only when the obligations are extinguished either through 
discharge, cancellation or expiration. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration 
paid or payable is recognized in profit or loss.

2.10 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the resulting net amount, considered as a single financial asset or financial liability, is 
reported in the statement of financial position when the Foundation currently has legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The right of set-off must be available 
at the end of the reporting period, that is, it is not contingent on future event. It must also be enforceable in the normal course of business, in 
the event of default, and in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy; and must, be legally enforceable for both entity and all counterparties to the 
financial instruments.
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2.11 Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources and they can be estimated reliably 
even if the timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive 
obligation that has resulted from past events. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available 
at the end of the reporting period, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of 
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  

When time value of money is material, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values using a pretax rate that reflects market 
assessments and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.  
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
 
In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, or 
the amount to be provided for cannot be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements. Similarly, possible inflows of 
economic benefits to the Foundation that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not 
recognized in the financial statements. On the other hand, any reimbursement that the Foundation can be virtually certain to collect from a 
third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate asset not exceeding the amount of the related provision.

2.12 Income and Expense Recognition

Revenue comprises support in the form of grants/contributions and donations measured by reference to the fair value of support received or 
receivable by the Foundation from the donors and/or member organization.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that the revenue can be reliably measured; it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Foundation; and, the costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably. In addition, the following specific recognition criteria must also 
be met before revenue is recognized:

(a)   Revenue from restricted support including government grants – This is recognized upon fulfillment of the donor-imposed conditions 
attached to the support and/or to the extent that expenses are incurred. 
 
Parts of the restricted support are funds extended in the form of financial advances to qualified proponents. The financial advances are 
recorded as restricted grants expense and a corollary entry is setup to recognize the receivable upon release of the funds.  Interest charges 
on financial advances which also represent administrative fees on servicing the projects related to restricted grants are recognized and 
recorded as part of Deferred Support account in the statement of financial position. The repayments are generally used to support similar 
programs for which the original grants to the Foundation were intended.

Restricted support for which restrictions and conditions have not yet been met are classified as deferred support. At project completion 
date, any excess funds in the deferred support are returned to the donors unless otherwise agreed by both parties that the excess shall 
be retained by the Foundation and therefore credited to unrestricted support. However, excess funds after project completion that have 
been retained by the Foundation but with a commitment to the donor to continue the project are retained in the Deferred Support account.

(b)   Revenue from unrestricted support – This is recognized upon receipt of the support while the related expenses are reported when
incurred.  It also includes restricted support and reflows from project proponents for which the donor-imposed restrictions have been 
completed and that the Foundation no longer has an obligation to return those to the donors upon completion of the project.

(c)    Interest income – These are recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the effective yield on the asset.
 
(d)    Income from contracts – This pertains to service and/or consultancy fees for providing technical assistance on program management 

and implementation and is recognized upon rendering of the service and completion of the required output to other parties.  Associated 
costs directly related to the rendering of the services or completion of the output are recognized when incurred.

(e)    Dividends – Revenue is recognized when the Foundation’s right to receive payment is established.

Expenditures are recognized in profit or loss upon receipt of goods or utilization of services or at the date they are incurred.  

2.13  Leases

The Foundation accounts for its leases as follows:

(a)    Foundation as Lessee

Leases which do not transfer to the Foundation substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are classified as 
operating leases.  Operating lease payments (net of any incentive from the lessor) are recognized as expense in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as repairs and maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.
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(b)    Foundation as Lessor 

Leases which do not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating 
leases.  Lease income from operating leases is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

The Foundation determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.  It makes an 
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset.

2.14  Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The accounting records of the Foundation are maintained in Philippine pesos.  Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated 
into the functional currency at exchange rates which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates.  

Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss except for foreign currency gains and 
losses arising from the translation of foreign currency-denominated restricted cash, which form part of the Deferred Support account in the 
statement of financial position.

 
2.15  Employee Benefits

The Foundation provides post-employment benefits to employees through a defined benefit plan and defined contribution plans, and other 
employee benefits which are recognized and measured as follows:

(a)    Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan that defines an amount of post-employment benefit that an employee will receive 
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obligation for any benefits 
from this kind of post-employment plan remains with the Foundation, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have 
been acquired.  Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as well as qualifying insurance 
policies.  The Foundation’s defined benefit post-employment plan covers all regular full-time employees. The pension plan is tax-qualified, 
noncontributory and administered by a trustee.

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for a defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by an independent 
actuary using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows arising from expected benefit payments using a discount rate derived from the interest rates of a zero 
coupon rate government bond, as published by Philippine Dealing and Exchange Corporation (PDEx) that are denominated in the currency 
in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related post-employment liability.

Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
and the return on plan assets (excluding amount included in net interest) are reflected immediately in the statement of financial position 
with a charge or credit recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Net interest (presented as part of 
Other Expenses account in the statement of profit or loss) is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period, taking 
account of any changes in the net defined benefit liability or asset during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments.

Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment and curtailment.

(b)    Defined Contribution Plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan under which the Foundation pays fixed contributions into an independent entity 
(e.g., Social Security System). The Foundation has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after payment of 
the fixed contribution. The contributions recognized in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.  Liabilities or 
assets may be recognized if underpayment or prepayment, respectively, has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current 
assets as they are normally short-term in nature.

(c)    Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday entitlement) remaining at the end of the 
reporting period. They are included in Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses account in the statement of financial position at the 
undiscounted amount that the Foundation expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.
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2.16  Fund Balance

Fund balance is composed of undesignated and designated fund balances, revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets and remeasurement 
of defined benefit post-employment plan.

Undesignated fund pertains to accumulated balance of the excess (deficiency) of support and income over expenditures from unrestricted 
funds, net of amount transferred to designated fund.

Designated fund pertains to amounts specifically approved by the Board for future projects, unpaid committed grants and advances to project 
proponents.
 
Revaluation reserve on AFS financial assets pertains to gains or losses arising from the revaluation of AFS financial assets (see Note 2.3).

Remeasurement of defined benefit post-employment plan represents the cumulative balance of actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions used in the determination of post-employment defined benefit obligation.

2.17  Income Taxes

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in fund balance, if any.

Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, 
that are uncollected or unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They are calculated using the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the 
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a 
component of tax expense in profit or loss.
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax base 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Under the liability method, with certain exceptions, 
deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow such deferred 
tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled provided such tax rates have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Foundation expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in profit or loss. Only changes in deferred 
tax assets or liabilities that relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in fund balance are recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in fund balance, respectively. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Foundation has 
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority.

2.18  Related Party Transactions and Relationships
 

Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the Foundation and its related parties, regardless 
whether a price is charged.
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions. These parties include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control with the Foundation; (b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or 
indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Foundation that gives them significant influence over the Foundation and close members of 
the family of any such individual; and, (d) the Foundation’s funded post-employment benefit plan for its employees.
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship and not merely on the legal 
form.

 
2.19  Events After the End of the Reporting Period

Any post-year-end event that provides additional information about the Foundation’s financial position at the end of the reporting period 
(adjusting event) is reflected in the financial statements. Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material 
to the financial statements.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
  

The preparation of the Foundation’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires management to make judgments and estimates 
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes. Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  Actual results may ultimately vary from these estimates.

3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Foundation’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those involving 
estimation, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

(a)    Determining Impairment of AFS Financial Assets

The determination when an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, the 
Foundation evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost, and the 
financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes 
in technology and operational and financing cash flows.

Based on the evaluation of information and circumstances affecting the Foundation’s AFS financial assets, management concluded 
that the assets are not impaired as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 as disclosed in Note 8. Future changes in those information and 
circumstances might significantly affect the carrying amount of the assets.  

(b)    Distinguishing Investment Properties and Owner-occupied Properties

The Foundation determines whether a property qualifies as investment property.  In making its judgment, the Foundation considers 
whether the property generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity. Owner-occupied properties generate 
cash flows that are attributable not only to the property but also to other assets used in the production or supply process or rendering of 
services.
 
Some properties may comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use 
in the rendering of services or for administrative purposes. If these portions can be sold separately (or leased out separately under a 
finance lease), the Foundation accounts for the portions separately. If the portion cannot be sold separately, the property is accounted 
for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the rendering of services or for administrative purposes. 
Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property. 
The Foundation considers each property separately in making its judgment.

(c)    Distinguishing Operating and Finance Leases 

The Foundation has entered into various lease agreements. Critical judgment was exercised by management to distinguish each lease 
agreement as either an operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of ownership of 
the properties covered by the agreements. Failure to make the right judgment will result in either overstatement or understatement of 
assets and liabilities.

Based on management’s evaluation, all of the Foundation’s lease agreements are treated as operating leases.
 

(d)    Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies. Policies on recognition of provisions and 
contingencies are discussed in Note 2.11 and relevant disclosures are presented in Note 21.

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting 
period:

(a)   Impairment of Receivables

Adequate amount of allowance for impairment is provided for specific and groups of accounts, where objective evidence of impairment 
exists.  The Foundation evaluates the amount of allowance for impairment based on available facts and circumstances affecting the 
collectability of the accounts, including, but not limited to, the length of the Foundation’s relationship with the customers, partners, project 
proponents and other parties, each counterparty’s current credit status, average age of accounts, collection experience and historical loss 
experience. The methodology and assumptions used in estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Foundation to reduce 
any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

The carrying amounts of receivables and the analysis of allowance for impairment on such financial assets are shown in Notes 9 and 12.
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(b)   Fair Value Measurement for Financial Assets Other than Receivables

The Foundation carries certain financial assets at fair value, which requires the extensive use of accounting estimates and judgment.  In 
cases when active market quotes are not available, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument 
which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net base of the instrument.  The 
amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Foundation utilized different valuation methods and assumptions.  Any change in fair 
value of these financial assets would affect the amounts presented in other comprehensive income.  

The carrying values of the Foundation’s AFS financial assets and the amounts of fair value changes recognized on those assets are 
disclosed in Note 8.

(c)   Fair value Measurement for Biological Assets

The fair value of the Foundation’s biological assets represents the fair values of estimated net cash flows relating to such biological 
assets, determined by application of assumptions such as timing and volume of spawning and production, growth trends, mortality 
rates, climatic conditions such as floods and water temperature, productive life of the asset, and expected future sales price which can 
be affected by inflation. The valuation method utilized by the Foundation also assumes that the biological assets will be appropriately 
managed in the future to best agricultural industry practices and that the Foundation will continue exerting the same level of management 
commitment in investing in biological assets. Significant changes in these assumptions may affect the valuation of the assets and 
volatility in the results of the Foundation’s farming operation in the future.

There were no fair value gains or losses recognized related to biological assets in 2016 and 2015. 

(d)    Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment 

The Foundation estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected to be 
available for use. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ 
from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the 
assets. The carrying amounts of property and equipment are analyzed in Note 10.

Based on management’s assessment, there is no change in estimated useful lives of property and equipment in 2016 and 2015.  Actual 
results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. 
 

(e)    Determining the Fair Value of Investment Properties

The Foundation’s investment properties are composed of parcels of land held for lease and held for capital appreciation and both are 
measured using cost model.  The estimated fair values of investment properties as disclosed in Notes 5.3 and 11 are determined by 
the Foundation based on the appraisal reports prepared by an independent appraiser applying relevant valuation methodologies as 
discussed therein.

For investment properties with appraisal conducted prior to the end of the current reporting period, management determines whether 
there are significant circumstances during the intervening period that may require adjustments or changes in the disclosure of fair value 
of those properties.

A significant change in key inputs and sources of information used in the determination of the fair value disclosed for those assets may 
result in adjustment in the carrying amount of the assets reported in the financial statements if their fair value will indicate evidence of 
impairment.

(f)    Impairment of Non-financial Assets

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash-generating unit based on expected future 
cash flows and uses an interest rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions 
about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rate (see Note 2.8). Though management believes that 
the assumptions used in the estimation of recoverable amounts reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, 
significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss 
could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations.

(g)    Determining Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets

The Foundation reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Management 
did not recognize the deferred tax assets related to available net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) as disclosed in Note 20.2.
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(h)   Valuation of Post-employment Defined Benefit

The determination of the amounts of post-employment defined benefit obligation is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions 
used by an actuary in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, among others, discount rates and expected rate of salary 
increases.  A significant change in any of these actuarial assumptions may generally affect the expense, other comprehensive income or 
losses and the carrying amount of the post-employment defined benefit obligation in the next reporting period.

The amounts of post-employment defined benefit obligation and expense and an analysis of the movements in the estimated present 
value of post-employment defined benefit obligation are presented in Note 18.2.

(i)     Indirect Cost Rate

The Foundation estimates indirect cost rate (ICR) based on the audited disbursement report of the Foundation done by an independent 
auditor on a yearly basis, which is submitted to the donor for evaluation and approval. The approved ICR through a grant modification 
report will be submitted by the donor to the Foundation. This modification carries the new provisional ICR, which will be used by the 
Foundation for the current fiscal year subject to change based on the annual audited disbursement report.  Consequently, the Foundation 
is waiting for the 2016 grant modification and is using the most recent approved ICR.
 
In 2016, a change in the provisional ICR resulted in a refund to a donor amounting to P28,569,646 which is presented as a counterbalance 
in Grant and Other Contribution account in the 2016 statement of profit or loss. The provisional ICRs were finalized on September 2, 2015 
for the fiscal year 2011 to 2014, hence, resulting to a refund.

4.    CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

4.1 Carrying Amounts and Fair Values by Category

The following table presents a comparison by category of the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Foundation’s financial assets 
and financial liabilities:

2016 2015
Notes Carrying Values Fair Values Carrying Values Fair Values

Financial assets:
Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents 7 P 945,516,798 P 945,516,798 P 1,254,399,739 P 1,254,399,739
Receivables - net 9, 12 99,522,059 99,522,059 137,926,257 137,926,257
Refundable deposits 12 387,851 387,851 83,851 83,851

AFS financial assets
Trustee-managed funds 8 494,026,300 494,026,300 462,812,864 462,812,864
Investment in bonds 8 25,437,954 25,437,954 24,645,815 24,645,815

P 1,564,890,962 P 1,564,890,962 P 1,879,868,526 P 1,879,868,526

Financial liabilities –
At amortized cost

Accounts payable and
    accrued expenses 13 P 171,463,339 P 171,463,339 P 135,012,349 P 135,012,349

Management considers that the carrying amounts of the above receivables and all financial liabilities which are measured at amortized cost 
approximate their fair values because those instruments are short-term in nature or the effect of discounting for those long-term receivables 
are not significant.

See Notes 2.3 and 2.9 for the description of the accounting policies for each category of financial instruments. A description of the Foundation’s 
risk management objectives and policies for financial instruments is provided in Note 6.

4.2 Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The Foundation has no set-off financial instruments in 2016 and 2015 and does not have relevant offsetting arrangements. Currently, financial 
assets and liabilities are settled on a gross basis; however, each party to the financial instrument (particularly related parties) will have the 
option to settle all such amounts on a net basis.
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2016

            Trustee-managed funds P 411,369,382 P 82,656,918 P - P 494,026,300
Investment in bonds 25,437,954 - - 25,437,954

P 436,807,336 P 82,656,918 P - P 519,464,254

2015

            Trustee-managed funds P 440,195,211 P 22,617,653 P - P 462,812,864
Investment in bonds 24,645,815 - - 24,645,815

P 464,841,026 P 22,617,653 P - P 487,458,679

5.    FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURES

5.1 Fair Value Hierarchy

In accordance with PFRS 13, the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair 
value on a recurring or non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed in 
accordance with other relevant PFRS, are categorized into three levels based on the significance of inputs used to measure the fair value.  The 
fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

•       Level 1 :  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that an entity can access at the measurement date;

•    Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as
                prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and,

•       Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The level within which an asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement.

For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from 
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  

For investments which do not have quoted market price, the fair value is determined by using generally acceptable pricing models and 
valuation techniques or by reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same after taking into 
account the related credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the 
instrument.

When the Foundation uses valuation technique, it maximizes the use of observable market data where it is available and relies as little 
as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to determine the fair value of an instrument are observable, the 
instrument is included in Level 2. Otherwise, it is included in Level 3.

5.2  Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value

The fair value hierarchy of the Foundation’s AFS financial assets measured at fair value in the statements of financial position on a recurring 
basis as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 is shown below.

There are no financial liabilities measured at fair value as of September 30, 2016 and 2015.  Moreover, there were no transfers between Level 
1, Level 2 and Level 3 in both years.

Described below are the information about how the fair values of the Foundation’s AFS financial assets are determined.

(a)   Government Securities

The benchmark or reference prices of dollar-denominated government securities based on the weighted average of done or executed 
deals in an active market or bond exchange (i.e., PDEx) is categorized under Level 1, whereas, dollar-denominated government securities 
with fair values categorized within Level 2 is determined based on the prices of benchmark securities which are also quoted in an active 
market or bond exchange.
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2016 2015

            Land P 87,767,000 P 87,767,000
Buildings 5,332,700 5,332,700

P 93,099,700 P 93,099,700

(b)   Corporate Bonds

The fair value of corporate bonds categorized within Level 1 is determined based on the bid prices quoted in an active market or bond 
exchange.

(c)   Equity Securities

The fair values of equity securities were valued based on their market prices quoted in the Philippine Stock Exchange at the end of each 
reporting period; hence, included in Level 1. 

5.3  Fair Value Disclosures for Investment Properties Carried at Cost
 

The fair value of the Foundation’s investment properties as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, categorized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy 
is shown below.

As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, management believes that the fair value of the investment properties did not have significant change 
based on the latest appraisal performed in April 2014. The fair value disclosed for the Foundation’s investment properties was determined 
based on the appraisals performed by an independent appraiser with appropriate qualifications and relevant experience in the fair value 
measurement of similar properties in nearby locations. To some extent, the valuation process was conducted by the appraiser in discussion 
with the Foundation’s management with respect to the determination of the inputs such as the size, age, and condition of the land and building, 
and the comparable prices in the corresponding property location.  

In estimating the fair values of the investment properties, management takes into account the market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the assets in their highest and best use. Based on management assessment, the best use of the Foundation’s investment 
properties is their current use.  

The fair value of the Foundation’s investment properties were determined based on the following approaches:

(a)   Fair Value Measurement for Land

The fair value of land was derived using market data approach (direct sales comparison method) where the value of the land is based on 
sales and listings of comparable properties registered within the vicinity. The market data approach relies on the comparison of recent 
sale transactions or offerings of similar properties which have occurred and/or offered with close proximity to the subject property. 
 
The technique of this approach requires adjustments to sales and listings by considering the elements of comparison such as real 
property rights conveyed, conditions of sale, market and physical conditions, location and amenities.  

(b)   Fair Value Measurement for Buildings

The fair value of the buildings were determined using the cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct an 
asset of comparable usage, construction standards, design and layout, adjusted for obsolescence. The more significant inputs used 
in the valuation include direct and indirect costs of construction such as but not limited to, labor and contractor’s profit, materials and 
equipment, surveying and permit costs, electricity and utility costs, architectural and engineering fees, insurance and legal fees.  These 
inputs were derived from various suppliers and contractor’s quotes, price catalogues, and construction price indices. Under this approach, 
higher estimated costs used in the valuation will result in higher fair value of the properties.

There has been no change in the valuation techniques used by the Foundation during the year for its non-financial assets.  Also, there 
were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy in 2016. 

6.    RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Foundation is exposed to a variety of financial risks which result from its operating, investing and financing activities. The Foundation’s 
risk management is closely monitored by the Board, and focuses on actively securing the Foundation’s short-to-medium term cash flows by 
minimizing the exposure to financial markets. Long-term financial assets are managed to generate lasting returns.

The Foundation does not engage in trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options. The relevant financial risks 
to which the Foundation is exposed to are described below and in the succeeding pages.

|   R O A D  T O  5 O :  S C A L I N G  U P  S O L U T I O N S  T O G E T H E R94



2016 2015
US

Dollar
EU

Euro
Philippine

Peso
US

Dollar
EU

Euro
Philippine

Peso
Cash and cash

equivalents $ 2,016,829 € - P 97,326,118 $ 5,379,910 € 768 P 251,497,521
Trustee-managed

funds 2,084,084 - 101,078,051 2,038,413 - 95,275,426
Investment in bonds 527,135 - 25,437,954 527,296 - 24,645,815

$ 4,628,048 € - P 223,842,123 $ 7,945,619 € 768 P 371,418,762

2016 2015
Net Result
for the Year Fund Balance

Net Result
for the Year Fund Balance

Cash and cash equivalents P 22,277,948 P 22,277,948 P 93,499,301 P 93,499,301
Trustee-managed funds 23,136,766 23,136,766 35,413,876 35,413,876
Investment in bonds 5,822,748 5,822,748 9,160,849 9,160,849

P 51,237,462 P 51,237,462 P 138,074,026 P 138,074,026

6.1 Market Risk

The Foundation is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and 
certain other price risks which result from its operating, investing and financing activities.

(a)    Foreign Currency Risk

The Foundation has significant exposure to foreign currency risk arising from its investment transactions and financial instruments 
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in United States (US) dollar and European Union (EU) euro. The Foundation manages its 
exposure to the effects of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates by maintaining foreign currency exposure within a conservative 
level.  As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Foundation’s significant exposure to foreign currency risk consists of the financial assets 
(with peso equivalents) is presented below.

The exchange rate of the Philippine peso against the US dollar as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 is P48.26: $1.00 and
P46.74: $1.00, respectively. On the other hand, the exchange rate of the Philippine peso against the EU euro as of September 30, 2016 
and 2015 is P54.17: €1.00 and P52.80: €1.00, respectively. The Foundation has no EU euro denominated financial instruments as of 
September 30, 2016. 

In computing for the sensitivity of the net result for the year and fund balance with respect to the Foundation’s US dollar-denominated 
financial assets as of and for the year ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Foundation assumes a +/- 22.89% and +/- 37.17% change, 
respectively, in the US dollar/Philippine peso exchange rate.  
 
On the other hand, in computing for the sensitivity of the net result for the year and fund balance with respect to the Foundation’s EU 
euro-denominated financial assets for the year ended September 30, 2015, the Foundation assumes a +/- 80.76% change in the EU 
euro/Philippine peso exchange rate. As of September 30, 2016, however, the Foundation has no EU euro-denominated financial assets. 
The percentage changes were determined based on the average volatility of the US dollar/Philippine peso and EU euro/Philippine peso 
exchange rates for the past 12 months using standard deviation estimated at 99% (US dollar/Philippine peso). 

If the Philippine peso had strengthened against the US dollar and EU euro, then this would have the following decreases in the net results 
for the year and fund balance:
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Observed 
Volatility Rates

Impact on
Profit or Loss (+/-) Fund Balance (+/-)

2016

Overnight deposit facilities (+/-) 4.26% P 214,224 P 214,224
Savings deposit accounts (+/-) 0.09% 142 142
Time deposits (+/-) 0.36% 217,429 217,429

P 431,795 P 431,795

2015

Savings deposit accounts (+/-) 0.15% P 265 P 265
Time deposits (+/-) 0.42% 78,121 78,121

P 78,386 P 78,386

If the Philippine peso had weakened against the US dollar and EU euro, then this would increase the net results for the year and fund 
balance by the same amounts.

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume of foreign currency-denominated transactions.  
Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Foundation’s currency risk.

(b)   Interest Rate Risk

The Foundation is exposed to changes in market interest rates through its short-term placements included in its trustee-managed funds 
which are subject to variable interest rates (see Note 8).  

The following table illustrates the sensitivity (increase or decrease) of the Foundation’s profit or loss and fund balance for the year ended 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of the Foundation’s short-term placements: 

The above percentage changes have been determined using standard deviation at 99% level of confidence on the average volatility of 
the market interest rates for savings deposit and special savings deposit accounts and based on the volatility of the Bangko Sentral 
ng Pilipinas’ (BSP) compilation of domestic rates for short-term placements in the previous 12 months, with effect estimated from the 
beginning of the year, with all other variables held constant.  

The Foundation also holds financial assets which include investments in government securities, investment in bonds, and other financial 
instruments which have fixed interest rates. These financial assets although having fixed interest rates expose the Foundation to risk due 
to volatility in interest rate of other similar financial assets which the Foundation may or may not deal with.  Nonetheless, the estimated 
impact arising from this risk exposure is not significant.

(c)    Other Price Risk

The Foundation’s market price risk arises from its investments carried at fair value that are included in the trustee-managed funds and 
investment in bonds.  As part of the Foundation’s investment management agreement with trustee banks, the latter, in coordination with 
the Board, manages the market risk by monitoring the changes in the market price of the investments.

The observed volatility rates, using standard deviation estimated at 99% level of confidence, of the market values of the Foundation’s 
investments carried at fair value and their possible effect on the Foundation’s profit or loss and fund balance as of September 30, 2016
and 2015 are summarized in the succeeding page.
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2016 2015

+/-%
Increase

(Decrease) +/-%
Increase 

(Decrease)

Government securities 5.46% P 7,739,883 17.17% P 18,932,658
Listed equity securities 17.33% 22,989,278 12.52% 15,066,190
Corporate bonds 1.84% 2,396,915 1.77% 3,543,115

Investment in unit investment 
    trust funds 9.60% 2,957,205 7.86% 2,677,689

P 36,083,281 P 40,219,652

The percentage changes in market price used in the above analysis have been determined based on the average volatility in market price 
rates in the previous 12 months. 

6.2 Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty in a transaction may fail to fulfill its contractual obligations to the Foundation. The Foundation is 
exposed to this risk for various financial instruments arising from granting loans and providing financial advances to project proponents 
and donors, placing deposits with banks and investing in debt securities.  The Foundation continuously monitor defaults of counterparties, 
identified either individually or by group, and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. The Foundation’s policy is to deal only 
with creditworthy counterparties.  
 
The maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown in the statements of financial 
position or in the detailed analysis provided in the notes to the financial statements, as summarized below.

Notes 2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 7 P 945,516,798 P 1,254,399,739
AFS financial assets: 8

Trustee-managed funds 329,040,188 308,413,969
Investment in bonds 25,437,954 24,645,815

Receivables - net 9 52,901,059 32,422,339
Advances to project proponents - net 9, 12 46,621,000 105,503,918
Refundable deposits 12 387,851 83,851

P 1,399,904,850 P 1,725,469,631

Except for cash in banks and loans to intermediary financial institutions (IFIs) as discussed below, none of the financial assets are secured by 
any collateral or other credit enhancements.

As part of the Foundation’s policy, bank deposits and trustee-managed investments are only maintained with reputable financial institutions.

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external 
credit ratings. Included in cash and cash equivalents are cash in banks and short-term placements which are insured by the Philippine Deposit 
Insurance Corporation up to a maximum coverage of P500,000 for every depositor per banking institution.

With respect to receivables, the Foundation is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics.
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Neither Past Due nor Impaired Past Due or
Individually 

Impaired Total
High

Grade
 Standard

Grade

2016

Cash and cash equivalents P 945,516,798 P - P - P 945,516,798

Loans and receivables:

Advances to project proponents - 46,621,000 - 46,621,000

Loans receivables 3,043,045 - 9,758,478 12,801,523

Receivables 2,158,734 - - 2,158,734 

Refundable deposits 387,851 - - 387,851

Other receivables 47,699,280 - 2,483,469 50,182,749

AFS financial assets:

Trustee-managed funds 329,040,188 - - 329,040,188

Investment in bonds 25,437,954 - - 25,437,954

P    1,353,283,850 P 46,621,000 P 12,241,947 P 1,412,146,797

2015

Cash and cash equivalents P 1,254,399,739 P - P - P 1,254,399,739

Loans and receivables:

Advances to project proponents - 99,322,558 38,461,294 137,783,852

Receivables 3,043,045 - 9,758,478 12,801,523

Loans receivables 10,761,841 - - 10,761,841

Refundable deposits 83,851 - - 83,851

Other receivables 18,617,453 - 2,854,193 21,471,646

AFS financial assets:

Trustee-managed funds 308,413,969 - - 308,413,969
Investment in bonds 24,645,815 - - 24,645,815

P 1,619,965,713 P 99,322,558 P 51,073,965 P 1,770,362,236

The Foundation provides financial assistance in the form of financial advances to qualified project proponents for housing and livelihood 
projects. The project proponent, in return, lends the financial advances to individual beneficiaries. The project proponent guarantees the 
repayment of the said financial advances according to an agreed amortization schedule. To mitigate the risk on this activity, the Foundation 
has firm policies in place over the selection and qualification of project proponents. In addition, monitoring of the accounts and field visits to 
the proponents are conducted regularly.
 
The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial assets as of September 30, 2016 and 2015.

6.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that there are insufficient funds available to adequately meet the maturing obligations and commitments of the 
Foundation. The Foundation manages liquidity risk by holding sufficient, liquid assets of appropriate quality to ensure that short-term funding 
requirements related to its planned and on-going projects are met. In addition, the Foundation seeks to maintain sufficient liquidity to take 
advantage of interest rate opportunities when they arise.

As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Foundation’s financial liabilities amounting to P171,463,339 and P135,012,349, respectively, are 
expected to be settled within six months from the end of each reporting period.  
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2016 2015

Restricted P 876,242,513 P 1,159,982,886
Unrestricted 69,274,285 94,416,853

P 945,516,798 P 1,254,399,739

7.    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The breakdown of this account as to type of fund follows:

2016 2015

Debt securities:
Government securities P 116,310,301 P 85,642,778
Corporate bonds 130,072,969 200,153,538

246,383,270 285,796,316
Quoted equity securities 164,986,112 154,398,895
Other financial instruments 82,656,918 22,617,653

494,026,300 462,812,864
Less non-current portion 265,643,958 287,518,303

Current portion P 228,382,342 P 175,294,561

Restricted cash represents available funds on hand and in banks for projects undertaken under membership donations, grants and other 
contributions with donor-imposed restrictions. The Foundation is restricted from using the funds for purposes other than their intended use.

Cash in banks generally earn interest based on daily bank deposit rates.  Short-term placements were made for varying periods ranging from 
34 to 36 days and earned effective interest ranging from 0.15% to 2.23% in 2016 and 0.63% to 2.83% in 2015.

Interest income earned in 2016 and 2015 amounted to P110,188 and P97,694, respectively, and is shown as part of Other Income account in 
the statements of profit or loss.

8.    AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
  
AFS financial assets include the Foundation’s trustee-managed funds, investment in bonds and small enterprise facility trust fund as discussed 
below.

8.1 Trustee-managed Funds

This account is composed of the following:

Government and corporate debt securities have annual interest rates ranging from 2.16% to 4.25% in 2016 and 0.93% to 8.38% in 2015.  

Other financial instruments include savings and special savings deposit accounts with the BSP and unit investment trust funds.

Income earned from the Foundation’s trustee-managed funds amounted to P20,035,993 and P11,696,017 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, and 
is shown as part of Investment Income – net account in the statements of profit or loss (see Note 16).

The Foundation recognized unrealized fair value gains of P7,612,489 in 2016 and unrealized fair value loss of P21,423,110 in 2015 arising from 
changes in fair value of trustee-managed funds during those years, which are reported as adjustment to other comprehensive income in the 
statements of comprehensive income.  

The fair values of the Foundation’s trustee-managed funds are determined directly by reference to published prices in an active market
(see Note 5.2) except for savings and special savings deposit accounts which are measured at their face amount approximating their fair 
value.
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8.2 Investment in Bonds

Investment in bonds pertain to a dollar-denominated investment in Republic of the Philippines (ROP) bonds acquired in October 2002 with a 
face value of US$350,000 at a premium of US$35,000 and has an effective annual interest of 9.5%. The investment will mature in 2024.

Interest income earned from the Foundation’s investment in bonds amounted to P1,500,441 and P1,390,405 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, 
and is shown as part of Investment Income – net account in the statements of profit or loss (see Note 16).

The Foundation recognized unrealized fair value gains of P309,874 and P1,180,238 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, arising from changes in 
fair value of investment in bonds during those years which are reported as adjustment to other comprehensive income in the statements of 
comprehensive income.

The fair value of this investment as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 amounting to P25,437,954 and P24,645,815, respectively, is determined 
directly by reference to published price in an active market (see Note 5.2).

8.3 Small Enterprise Facility Trust Fund

The small enterprise facility trust fund was established as a result of a tripartite agreement between the Foundation, the Kreditanstalt fur 
Wiederaufbau (KfW) of the Federal Republic of Germany and GOP through the Land Bank of the Philippines (Landbank) to make funds available 
for the promotion of small enterprises in the countryside under the program Small and Medium Enterprise Credit (SMEC).
  
By virtue of a subsidiary loan agreement, Landbank extended and channelled the loan in full to the Foundation as the Project’s Executing 
Agency. Under the subsidiary loan agreement, the channelling of the loan from Landbank to the Foundation shall not constitute any liability 
of the Foundation to KfW for payment of obligations; thus, effectively converted the Euro dollar loan into peso loan payable by the Foundation 
to Landbank. The conversion of the loan in peso terms is also covered by a Memorandum of Agreement and Guarantee Agreement among 
the Foundation, KfW, GOP and Landbank on February 16, 1996, whereby GOP agreed to guarantee and assume the foreign currency risk with 
respect to the loan of Landbank from KfW.

The loan facility granted by Landbank, which was effectively in peso terms in accordance with the tripartite agreement, was signed in 1995 
for P251.15 million (EU euro 7.54 million), the KfW I loan, and is fully drawn. In 1998, Landbank provided another loan of P305.83 million
(EU euro 7.67 million), the KfW II loan, of which P139.95 million (EU euro 3.51 million) had been drawn as of September 30, 2002.  On May 29, 2002,
the Board approved the cancellation of the unwithdrawn loan amounting to P165.88 million (EU euro 4.16 million) due to low utilization of the 
fund.

The first term loan of P251,154,915 was payable in equal semi-annual installments of P4,188,753 from June 30, 2006 to December 30, 2035; 
the revised repayment schedule for the second term loan (as reduced) was payable in semi-annual installments of P2,315,523 from
June 30, 2009 to June 30, 2026 and P2,355,446 from December 30, 2026 to December 30, 2038.  
 
On November 23, 2011, the Foundation’s management decided to exit the SMEC program related to the KfW I and KfW II loans as the 
Foundation had incurred losses in implementing the said program for the past five years and management did not expect such program to 
provide the Foundation the scale needed to operate without incurring further losses.  Consequently, the Foundation made an agreement with 
Landbank for the settlement of the trust fund liability through six installment payments which commenced on May 10, 2012.  In 2013, however, 
the Foundation settled the full outstanding balance of the trust fund liability amounting to P82,782,663.

The Foundation’s loan agreement with Landbank carried an interest rate with a net spread of one percent (1%) per annum over all costs 
assumed by the Foundation. The overall costs include the KfW interest and the fees paid for the assumption of guarantee and foreign exchange 
risk and related taxes. Prior to full settlement of the loan in 2013, the loans were secured by assignment of receivables from IFIs included in 
the trust fund assets.

The Foundation, through Landbank, disbursed the funds in the form of loans to accredited IFIs up to a term of five years and at the weighted 
average interest rate of 91-day Treasury bill (T-bill) plus 1.5% or the Landbank Countryside Loan Fund III, whichever is higher, but at no time be 
lower than the floor of 6% to 9% per annum.  

From the interest income on loans to IFIs, counterpart fund is set aside and restricted and may be kept in bank accounts other than Landbank, 
as approved by the Board, for financing enterprise development, poverty alleviation and other related activities, and forms part of deferred 
support until expensed.  

In 2014, the tripartite agreement between the parties was effectively terminated following the Foundation’s full settlement of its outstanding 
loan from Landbank. Consequently, the remaining assets in the fund pertaining to loans receivables from IFIs were transferred to the custody 
and administration of the Foundation (see Note 9).
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Notes 2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year P 12,612,671 P 12,116,461
Impairment losses 17 - 496,210

Recoveries ( 370,724) -

Balance at end of year P 12,241,947 P 12,612,671

Income and expenses generated and incurred by the fund as shown in the statements of profit or loss, are as follows:

9.    RECEIVABLES

This account is composed of the following:

Notes 2016 2015

Income: 
Management fees 21.1 P 3,186,250 P 2,859,063
Miscellaneous 921,632 -

4,107,882 2,859,063

Expenses: 
Salaries and wages 18.1 1,400,234 1,042,526
Miscellaneous 410,263 198,208

1,810,497 1,240,734
 

Net P 2,297,385 P 1,618,329

Notes 2016 2015

Advances to partners P 59,464,441 P 55,973,222
Advances to project proponents 12 46,621,000 2,727,139
Advances to employees 13,241,518 15,482,880
Loans receivables 8.3 12,801,523 12,801,523
Receivables from donors 2,158,734 10,761,841
Others 13 50,182,749 21,471,646

184,469,965 119,218,251
Allowance for impairment ( 12,241,947) ( 12,612,671)

P 172,228,018 P 106,605,580

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment of receivables at the beginning and end of each reporting period is shown below.

On January 1, 2010, the Foundation entered into a grant agreement with Global Fund for the management and implementation of Sustaining 
Tuberculosis (TB) Control and Ensuring Universal Access to Comprehensive Quality TB Care (the “Project”) with grant number PHL-210-G11-T 
(the “Grant”) under the Rolling Continuation Channel (RCC) Phase 1 program of the Global Fund. The Grant is an award to the Philippines to 
augment the resources of the Philippine government in TB prevention and control.  

The Foundation was selected as the Principal Recipient of the Grant through a competitive and transparent selection process, under the 
auspices of the Country Coordinating Mechanism (CCM). CCM is a multisectoral body of TB stakeholders from the government, academe, 
business and the civil society sectors.  
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2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year P 368,030,370 P 171,224,283
Amount received 1,300,223,949 1,480,682,973
Amount disbursed ( 1,487,286,859) ( 1,283,876,886)

Balance at end of year P 180,967,460 P 368,030,370

This two-year project under the RCC Phase 1 covered the period from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2011 with a total grant amount of 
EU euro 43,679,429.  On April 2, 2012, the Project was extended up to December 31, 2014 under RCC Phase 2 program with an additional 
committed grant of EU euro 73,919,683, of which EU euro 51,541,023 was received by the Foundation. In March 2014, the Global Fund 
approved an incremental funding of US dollar 39,379,997 under its new funding model (NFM) covered by an amended grant agreement 
number PHL-T-PBSP (the “Amended Grant”) for a single stream of funding entitled “Intensifying and Mainstreaming Integrated DOTS in the 
Philippines” (the “NFM Project”) with implementation period effective January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2016. Under the Amended Grant, the 
funding of the NFM Project shall take into account the EU euro 22,378,660 undisbursed grant from the RCC Phase 2 program at the start of 
the new implementation period.  

At the Foundation level, the Project aimed to reduce the prevalence, incidence and mortality of TB by 50% in 2010 and beyond 50% thereafter.  
Under the NFM Project, such objective was set at 55% achievement by 2016 and also aims to focus, as a new endeavour, on strengthening the 
collaboration initiatives, diagnosis and management of TB-HIV cases in the country.  The NFM Project as well as its preceding program, support 
costs of treatment, personnel and operating costs of treatment centers, purchase of drugs and health products/equipment, development of 
the TB information system, foreign and local technical assistance and community mobilization efforts to control TB.  

The NFM Project has the following beneficiaries as indicated in the amended grant agreement:

a. TB patients with limited access to TB care and services (urban and rural poor, indigenous people and vulnerable groups such as TB 
patients in prisons and drug-resistant patients and patients in geographically isolated and disadvantaged areas);

b. Health providers both in public and private sectors who will be trained on the management of TB patients;
c. Communities where TB patients reside which will be capacitated to participate in TB control activities (patient groups); 
d. Public and private health service institutions; and, 
e. National Tuberculosis Program
  
Under the NFM Project, the Foundation, as the Principal Recipient of the Amended Grant, is in charge of the grant and project administration 
over the following implementing partners/sub-recipients:

a. Philippine Coalition Against Tuberculosis, Inc. (PHILCAT); and,
b. Culion Foundation, Inc. (CFI)

Prior to the effectivity of the NFM Project, the Foundation has collaborated with 10 organizations, including PHILCAT and CFI in the 
implementation of Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the Project.

The Foundation provides funding to the partners covered by separate sub-grant agreement to carry out the project activities. However, 
the Foundation acknowledges and agrees that providing grant to partners or making payments on behalf of partners does not relieve the 
Foundation of its obligations and liabilities under the Grant and the Amended Grant and the Foundation is responsible for the acts and 
omissions of all partners in relation to the projects. As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Foundation has outstanding advances to partners 
amounting to P59,464,441 and P55,973,222, respectively.

The analysis of the grants as of September 30 is shown below.

The remaining funds as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 is presented as part of the Deferred Support account in the statements of financial 
position (see Note 14).

Advances to project proponents and advances to employees pertain to project and operating funds provided by the Foundation, which are 
subject to liquidation during and at the completion of the project activities.

Other receivables include receivables arising from farm and hatchery sales, personal loans to employees and accrued income from investments.  
Also, this includes receivables from employees which are taken from staff training and development funds amounting to P1,441,871 and 
P2,941,795 as of September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  
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Furniture,
Fixtures 

and Other
Equipment

Hatchery
Facilities
and Other
Properties

Building and
Improvements

Computer
Equipment

Transportation
EquipmentLand Total

September 30, 2016
Cost P 3,711,393 P 19,940,278 P 7,777,938   P 5,219,823 P 6,482,776 P 1,190,532 P 44,322,740
Accumulated depreciation 

and amortization - ( 16,385,069) ( 5,962,834) ( 4,020,397) ( 6,156,766) ( 39,139) ( 32,564,205)

Net carrying amount P 3,711,393 P 3,555,209 P 1,815,104 P 1,199,426 P 326,010 P 1,151,393 P 11,758,535

September 30, 2015
Cost P 3,711,393 P 19,886,604 P 6,293,829 P 29,649,929 P 6,482,777 P 1,530,959 P 67,555,491

Accumulated depreciation 
and amortization - ( 16,213,501) ( 4,041,189) ( 28,061,018) ( 5,793,237) ( 1,448,316) ( 55,557,261)

Net carrying amount P 3,711,393 P 3,673,103 P 2,252,640 P 1,588,911 P 689,540 P 82,643 P 11,998,230

October 1, 2014
Cost P 3,711,393 P 19,377,513 P 9,866,123 P 29,117,893 P 7,017,031 P 1,530,959 P 70,620,912
Accumulated depreciation 

and amortization - ( 15,906,368) ( 9,435,688) ( 27,080,779) ( 5,928,465) ( 1,413,493) ( 59,764,793)

Net carrying amount P 3,711,393 P 3,471,145 P 430,435 P 2,037,114 P 1,088,566 P 117,466 P 10,856,119

Furniture,
Fixtures 

and Other
Equipment

Hatchery
Facilities
and Other
Properties

Building and
Improvements

Computer Transportation
EquipmentLand Equipment Total

Balance at October 1, 2015,
net of accumulated
depreciation and
amortization P 3,711,393 P 3,673,103 P 2,252,640 P 1,588,911 P 689,540 P 82,643 P 11,998,230

Additions - 123,951 54,054 635,788 - 1,288,011 2,101,804
Depreciation and amortization 

charges for the year - ( 241,845) ( 491,590) ( 1,025,273) ( 363,530) ( 219,261) ( 2,341,499)

Balance at September 30, 2016,
net of accumulated
depreciation and,
amortization P 3,711,393 P 3,555,209 P 1,815,104 P 1,199,426 P 326,010 P 1,151,393 P 11,758,535

Balance at October 1, 2014,
net of accumulated
depreciation and
amortization P 3,711,393 P 3,471,145 P 430,435 P 2,037,114 P 1,088,566 P 117,466 P 10,856,119

Additions - 509,091 2,068,389 532,036 - - 3,109,516
Depreciation and amortization 

charges for the year - ( 307,133) ( 246,184) ( 980,239) ( 399,026) ( 34,823) ( 1,967,405)

Balance at September 30, 2015,
net of accumulated
depreciation and
amortization P 3,711,393 P 3,673,103 P 2,252,640 P 1,588,911 P 689,540 P 82,643 P 11,998,230

10.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization of property and equipment at the beginning and end of each 
reporting period are shown below.

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property and equipment at the beginning and end of each reporting period is shown below.

The Foundation retired certain furniture and fixtures with total original acquisition cost of P5,640,683 in 2015. No similar retirement of fixed 
assets occurred in 2016. 
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Assets held for capital appreciation P 7,722,524
Assets held for rental 1,339,220

P 9,061,744

Notes 2016 2015

Current:

Input VAT 23.1(b) P 17,056,033 P 14,176,457
Creditable withholding taxes 20.2 2,150,525 2,372,225
Other prepaid expenses 60,554,074 178,362

79,760,632 16,727,044

Non-current:
Advances to project proponents 46,621,000 137,783,852

Current portion 9 ( 46,621,000) ( 2,727,139)
- 135,056,713

Allowance for impairment - ( 32,279,934)
- 102,776,779

Refundable deposits 387,851 83,851
Others 1,964,117 1,964,117

2,351,968 104,824,747

P 82,112,600 P 121,551,791

11.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

This account is composed of the following as of September 30, 2016 and 2015:

Assets held for capital appreciation consist of land and improvements owned by the Foundation in various locations that are neither used in 
operations nor held for sale in the ordinary course of business.

Investment properties held for rental consist of two parcels of land situated in Silay, Negros Occidental. These parcels of land were donated 
by Hawaiian-Philippine Company, Inc. (HPCI) by virtue of a deed of donation in favor of the Foundation in May 1975 when the Laurel-Langley 
Agreement expired.  As a condition to the deed of donation, the Foundation leased back the parcels of land to HPCI under a lease-back 
agreement covering a period of 25 years which is renewable for another 25 years. In 2000, HPCI exercised its option to renew the lease for the 
said term (see Note 21.2).

Rental income recognized from the investment properties amounting to P45,255 and P42,427 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, are reported as 
part Other Income account in the statements of profit or loss. The Foundation incurred and paid real property taxes amounting to P55,845 and 
P114,865 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, on these properties.

These investment properties have a total fair value of P93,099,700 as of  September 30, 2016 and 2015 (see Note 5.3). 

12.  OTHER ASSETS

This account consists of the following:

Advances to project proponents are charged with an annual interest of 2% to 6% to cover the administrative costs of servicing the projects.  
When advances to project proponents from restricted funds are subsequently collected without the donor-imposed restrictions, the same are 
recorded as unrestricted grants and other contributions.

Reflows from advances to project proponents which used to have donor-imposed restrictions are generally used to support similar programs 
for which the original grants to the Foundation were intended.
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2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year P 32,279,934 P 36,510,268
Write-off ( 32,279,934) -
Recoveries - ( 4,230,334)

Balance at end of year P - P 32,279,934

The changes in the allowance for impairment pertaining to the non-current portion of restricted advances to project proponents are shown 
below.

Note 2016 2015

Accounts payable P 133,808,329 P 104,742,647
Accrued expenses 37,655,010 30,269,702
Funds held in trust 9 13,568,999  8,328,064 
Payable to government agencies 6,719,998 5,512,127
Others 757,041 222,115

P 192,509,377 P 149,074,655

On July 28, 2016, the Board approved to write off the remaining allowance relating to advances to project proponents. The amount of recoveries 
on advances to project proponents from restricted funds are recognized as adjustment to the balance of Deferred Support account in fiscal 
year 2015. 

13.  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

The components of this account follow:

Accounts payable pertains to obligations to various suppliers and contractors arising from the normal conduct of the Foundation’s activities.  
It also includes written checks payable to third party vendors for purchases of goods and services, which are unreleased as of the end of each 
reporting period.

Accrued expenses consist of, among others, accruals for various project costs, employee benefits, and SMEC-related fees and liabilities.

Funds held in trust represent funds received from donors and other parties which is still undetermined as to restrictions and purpose.  
Receivables related to staff training and development amounting to P2,941,795 as of September 30, 2015, are reported as part of Others 
under Receivables account in the statements of financial position, and was recognized as part of Other Income account in the statement of 
profit or loss (see Note 9). 

  
14.  DEFERRED SUPPORT

 
Deferred support represents restricted funds received by the Foundation which remained unspent at the end of each reporting period and are 
to be utilized for specific projects and in compliance with the terms and conditions of the grant.  

Deferred support balance as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 includes the remaining funds related to Global Fund amounting to P180,967,460 
and P368,030,370 as of those dates, respectively (see Note 9). Of the total deferred support, P1,534,789,223 and P1,527,234,411 had already 
been appropriated by the Board for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and are committed for release to specific 
projects.
 
In general, unused funds at the end of the project are returned to the donors unless otherwise agreed. Certain funds and reflows of completed 
projects may be transferred to unrestricted grants and other contributions only upon approval of the Board.  
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Reserve for
Future

Projects

Unpaid 
Committed

Grants

Advances to
Project

Proponents Total

Balance at October 1, 2015 P 377,000,000 P 12,373,372 P 4,831,968 P 394,205,340   
Designations for the year

Approved - 14,515,000 - 14,515,000
Disbursed - ( 14,243,919) - ( 14,243,919)
Closure of savings of
       completed projects - ( 12,644,453) - ( 12,644,453)

- ( 12,373,372) - ( 12,373,372)

Balance at September 30, 2016 P 377,000,000 P - P 4,831,968 P  381,831,968     

Balance at October 1, 2014 P 377,000,000 P 2,244,623 P 4,831,968 P 384,076,591
Designations for the year

Approved - 25,469,763 - 25,469,763
Disbursed - ( 13,462,677) - ( 13,462,677)
Closure of savings of
      completed projects - ( 1,878,337) - ( 1,878,337)

- 10,128,749 - 10,128,749

Balance at September 30, 2015 P 377,000,000 P 12,373,372 P 4,831,968 P 394,205,340

Note 2016 2015

Investment income 8.1, 8.2 P 21,536,434 P 13,086,422
Foreign currency exchange gains 3,961,956 3,590,376

P 25,498,390  P 16,676,798 

15.  FUND BALANCE

The movements in the Foundation’s designated fund balance follow:

The Foundation, through the approval of the Board, designates reserve for future projects to ensure that the Foundation would be financially 
capable of supporting its future programs for social and economic development.

16.  INVESTMENT INCOME 

The breakdown of this account follows:

Investment income and foreign currency exchange gains mainly pertain to the Foundation’s trustee-managed funds and investment in dollar-
denominated ROP bonds presented as part of Available-for-sale Financial Assets account in the statements of financial position (see Note 8).
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Notes 2016 2015

Salaries and employee benefits 18.1 P 45,497,329 P 39,683,507
Communication, light and water 5,072,035 2,622,515
Professional fees 2,554,096 4,556,356
Repairs and maintenance 2,446,062 2,567,197
Security and janitorial 1,378,884 330,907
Taxes and licenses 23.1(f) 1,222,721 1,279,260

Dues and subscription 1,190,263 1,111,594

Transportation and travel 722,582 1,285,142
Office supplies 504,726 992,161
Property insurance 403,111 436,649
Miscellaneous 3,017,456 4,582,112

P 64,009,265 P 59,447,400

2016 2015
Unrestricted Restricted Unrestricted Restricted

Regular grants P 9,203,831 P 1,976,830,369 P 13,462,677 P 1,982,106,526
Financial advances - 68,850,176 - 122,075,000

P 9,203,831 P 2,045,680,545 P 13,462,677 P 2,104,181,526

Notes 2016 2015

Salaries and employee benefits 18.1 P 30,179,012 P 23,037,563
Communication, light and water 1,459,644 1,735,759
Rental 21.3 1,329,184 1,213,500
Transportation and travel 1,007,848 1,477,619
Professional fees 223,756 -
Office supplies 171,719 228,398

Security and janitorial 168,145 180,719
Repairs and maintenance 127,232 111,454
Miscellaneous 491,696 515,256

P 35,158,236 P 28,500,268

17.  EXPENDITURES

The details of grant expenses, unrestricted project development and monitoring expenses and general operating expenses are as follows:

17.1 Grant Expenses

17.2 Project Development and Monitoring Expenses

17.3 General Operating Expenses
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Notes 2016 2015

Net interest expense 
on post-employment
defined benefit 18.2 P 804,675 P 616,328

Farm expenses - net 18.1 - 1,940,271
Impairment losses on receivables 9 - 496,210

P         804,675 P 3,052,809

Notes 2016 2015

Salaries and wages P 55,307,251 P 67,538,995
Other short-term benefits 16,146,106 14,548,193
Post-employment defined benefit 18.2 5,623,218 4,952,684

P 77,076,575 P 87,039,872

Notes 2016 2015

General operating expenses 17.3 P 45,497,329 P 39,683,507
Project development and 
     monitoring expenses 17.2 30,179,012 23,037,563
Small enterprise facility 

trust fund expenses 8.3 1,400,234 1,042,526
Grants expenses - 21,708,709
Farm expenses - net 17.4 - 1,279,752
Other expense - net - 287,815

P   77,076,575 P  87,039,872

17.4  Other Expenses 
 
This account is composed of the following:

18.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

18.1 Salaries and Employee Benefits Expense 

Expenses recognized for salaries and other employee benefits are presented below.

The amount of employee benefits is charged and allocated to the following accounts in the statements of profit or loss:

18.2  Defined Benefit Post-employment Plan

(a)   Characteristics of the Defined Benefit Plan

The Foundation maintains a trustee-managed and non-contributory retirement plan, which took effect on October 1, 1989, covering all of 
its regular, full-time employees. The normal retirement age is 60 with a minimum of 10 years of credited service. The plan also provides 
for an early retirement at age 50 with a minimum of 10 years of credited service, subject to the approval of the Board.  Normal retirement 
benefit is an amount equivalent to 150% of the final monthly covered compensation (average monthly basic salary during the last
12 months of credited service) for every year of credited service.  
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2016 2015

Present value of the obligation P 51,165,330 P 40,941,258
Fair value of plan assets ( 27,464,996) ( 25,410,910)

P 23,700,334 P 15,530,348

2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year P    40,941,258 P    42,242,315
Current service cost 5,623,218 4,952,684
Interest expense 2,100,287 2,141,685
Remeasurements – actuarial losses  

(gains) arising from:
Experience adjustments 2,171,731 ( 368,984)
Changes in financial assumptions 1,862,760 ( 182,485)
Changes in demographic assumptions (          1,223,274)           323,482

Benefits paid (   310,650) (     8,167,439)
 
Balance at end of year P   51,165,330 P   40,941,258

2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year P 25,410,910 P   34,169,651
Interest income 1,295,612 1,525,357
Return on plan assets (excluding 

amounts included in net interest)   1,069,124 (     2,116,659)
Benefits paid (     310,650) (     8,167,439)

Balance at end of year P 27,464,996 P  25,410,910

(b)    Explanation of Amounts Presented in the Financial Statements

Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the post-employment defined benefit costs and the amount of contributions.  All 
amounts presented below are based on the actuarial valuation reports obtained from an independent actuary in 2016 and 2015. 

The amounts of post-employment benefit obligation recognized in the statements of financial position are determined as follows:

The movements in the present value of the post-employment defined benefit obligation recognized in the financial statements are as 
follows:

The movements in the fair value of plan assets are presented below.
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2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents P      3,819,498 P      1,904,790

Loans receivables 1,373,685 1,627,420

Quoted equity securities:
Holding firms 3,032,901 1,224,058
Unit investment trust funds 1,524,376
Energy and Utilities 646,771 436,364
Real property development 621,102 477,427
Financial Insitutions 544,129 642,645
Telecommunications 292,176 363,290
Others 1,378,587 1,006,706

8,040,042 4,150,490

Debt securities:
Philippine government bonds 11,583,945 15,158,922
Corporate bonds 2,647,826 2,569,288

14,231,771 17,728,210

P     27,464,996 P  25,410,910

2016 2015
Reported in profit or loss

Current service cost P 5,623,218 P        4,952,684
Net interest expense 804,675 616,328

P  6,427,893 P    5,569,012

Reported in other comprehensive income
Actuarial gains (losses) arising from:

Experience adjustments (P   2,171,731) P    368,984
Changes in financial assumptions ( 1,862,760) 182,485
Changes in demographic assumptions          1,223,274 (          323,482)

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts
included in net interest expense)    1,069,124 (      2,116,659)

(P 1,742,093) ( P    1,888,672)

The composition of the fair value of plan assets at the end of each reporting period by category and risk characteristics is shown below.

The fair values of the above equity and debt securities are determined based on quoted market prices published in the Philippine Stock 
Exchange and PDEx, respectively.

The plan assets earned returns of P1,295,612 and P1,525,357 in 2016 and 2015, respectively.  

Plan assets include loans and advances to key management personnel amounting to P501,940 and P537,433 as of September 30, 2016 
and 2015, respectively (see Note 19.2).

The components of amounts recognized in profit or loss and in other comprehensive income in respect of the post-employment defined 
benefit plan are as follows:
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2016 2015

Discount rates 4.59% 5.13%
Expected rate of salary increases 7.00% 7.00%

Current service cost is presented in the statements of profit or loss as part of Salary and Employee benefits under various expenses 
accounts.

The net interest expense is included in Other Expenses account in the statements of profit or loss (see Note 17.4).
 
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were included within item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 

In determining the amounts of the defined benefit post-employment obligation, the following significant actuarial assumptions were used:

Impact on Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation
Change in 

Assumption
Increase in 
Assumption

Decrease in 
Assumption

2016
Discount rate +/- 1.0% ( P 3,365,005 ) P     3,758,205
Salary growth rate +/- 1.0% 3,215,737 (     2,961,866 )

2015
Discount rate +/- 1.0% ( P 2,865,365 ) P       3,212,284
Salary growth rate +/- 1.0% 2,782,195 (        2,552,131 )

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on published statistics and mortality tables. The average remaining working 
lives of an individual retiring at the age of 60 is 20 for both male and female.

These assumptions were developed by management with assistance of an independent actuary. Discount factors are determined close 
to the end of each reporting period by reference to the interest rates of a zero coupon rate government bond with terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the retirement obligation. Other assumptions are based on current actuarial benchmarks and management’s 
historical experience.

 
(c)    Risks Associated with the Retirement Plan 

The plan exposes the Foundation to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

(i)     Investment and Interest Risks

The present value of the defined benefit post-employment obligation is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference 
to market yields of government bonds.  Generally, a decrease in the interest rate of a reference government bond will increase 
the plan obligation.  However, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s investments in debt securities 
and if the return on plan asset falls below this rate, it will create a deficit in the plan. At the end of each reporting period, the plan 
is significantly composed of investment in debt securities and has relatively balanced investment in cash and cash equivalents 
and equity securities.  Due to the long-term nature of the plan obligation, a level of continuing equity investments is an appropriate 
element of the Foundation’s long-term strategy to manage the plan efficiently. 
 

(ii)    Longevity and Salary Risks

The present value of the defined benefit post-employment obligation is calculated by reference to the best estimate of mortality 
of the plan participants both during and after their employment, and to their future salaries. Consequently, increases in the life 
expectancy and salary of the plan participants will result in an increase in the plan obligation.

(d)    Other Information

The information on the sensitivity analysis for certain significant actuarial assumptions, the Foundation’s asset-liability matching strategy, 
and the timing and uncertainty of future cash flows related to the retirement plan are described below. 

(i)     Sensitivity Analysis 

The following table summarizes the effects of changes in the significant actuarial assumptions used in the determination of the 
defined benefit post-employment obligation as of September 30, 2016 and 2015:
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2016 2015

Within one year P - P -
More than one year to five years 3,346,920 1,890,356

More than five years to ten years - -
More than ten years to 15 years - -

More than 15 years to 20 years 28,051,883 23,047,358

More than 20 years - -

P 31,398,803 P    24,937,714

The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. This analysis may not 
be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur 
in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. Furthermore, in presenting the sensitivity analysis, the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation was calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of each reporting 
period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognized in the statements of financial 
position.

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the previous years.  

(ii)    Asset-liability Matching Strategies

To effectively manage the risks related to the retirement plan, the Foundation ensures that the investment positions are managed 
in accordance with its asset-liability matching strategy to ensure that long-term investments included in the plan assets are in 
line with the timing of the obligations under the retirement scheme. This strategy aims to match the plan assets to the retirement 
obligations by investing in long-term fixed interest securities (i.e., government or corporate bonds) with maturities that match the 
benefit payments as they fall due and in the appropriate currency. The Foundation actively monitors how the duration and the 
expected yield of the investments are matching the expected cash outflows arising from the retirement obligations. In view of this, 
investments are made in reasonably diversified portfolio, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a material 
impact on the overall level of assets.  

A large portion of the plan assets as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 consists of debt securities, although the Foundation also 
invests in equity securities, lending and holding cash and cash equivalents. The Foundation believes that equity securities offer the 
best returns over the long term with an acceptable level of risk. The majority of equities are in a diversified portfolio of local blue chip 
entities.  There has been no change in the Foundation’s strategies to manage its risks from previous periods.

(iii)   Funding Arrangements and Expected Contributions

As of September 30, 2016, the plan is underfunded by P23,700,334 based on the latest actuarial valuation. While there are no 
minimum funding requirement in the country, the size of the underfunding may pose a cash flow risk in about 20 years’ time when a 
significant number of employees is expected to retire.

The Foundation has no formal plan to make contribution to the plan in the next reporting period.

The maturity profile of undiscounted expected benefit payments from the plan follows:

19.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

19.1 Key Management Personnel Compensation

Short-term compensation given to the Foundation’s key management personnel amounted to P6,147,730 in 2016 and P6,220,990 in 2015.

19.2  Retirement Plan

The Foundation’s retirement fund for its defined benefit post-employment plan is administered and managed by a trustee bank.  The fair value 
and composition of the plan asset as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 are presented in Note 18.2.

The post-employment plan allows its key management personnel to obtain interest-bearing loans and advances from the plan assets.  
As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, loans and advances to key management personnel amount to P501,940 and P537,433, respectively
(see Note 18.2).

On June 19, 2013, a related party under common management obtained an unsecured, interest-bearing loan amounting to P990,000 from the 
plan assets.  The loan bears an interest of 6.26% per annum and will mature on March 21, 2022.

 
The retirement fund neither provides any guarantee or surety for any obligation of the Foundation nor its investments covered by any 
restrictions or liens.
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Year Incurred Amount Expired Utilized Balance Valid Until

2014 P     5,292,436 P - P 4,803,412 P    489,024 2017
2013 5,420,013 - ( 5,420,013) -

P   10,712,449 P - ( P 10,223,425) P   489,024

20.  INCOME TAX AND TAX EXEMPTION

20.1 Income Tax Exemption and Status

As disclosed in Note 1, the Foundation is exempt from income tax pursuant to Section 30 of the Tax Reform Act of 1997.  However, income 
derived from its properties, real or personal, or from any of its activities conducted for profit regardless of the disposition made of such income, 
is subject to tax.
 
On December 27, 1999, the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued a five-year certificate of registration to the Foundation in accordance with 
Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 13-98.  This certification provides the Foundation with certain incentives such as: (a) full or limited deduction by 
the donors of their grants and contributions pursuant to Section 34 (H) of the National Internal Revenue Code (NIRC); and, (b) exemption for 
the donor’s tax pursuant to Section 101 of RA No. 8424.  

The certification issued by the BIR is subject to the representations and commitments set forth in the accreditation issued to the Foundation 
by the Philippine Council for Non-Government Organization Certification (PCNC) on July 13, 1999.  In 2015, PCNC granted renewal of the 
Foundation’s accreditation for another five years with a tax-qualified donee institution status.

In July 2013, the BIR issued Revenue Memorandum Order (RMO) No. 20-2013 requiring corporations and associations enumerated under 
Section 30 of the NIRC, as amended, to file for Applications for Tax Exemption/Revalidation with the Revenue District Office (RDO) where they 
are registered.  Under the RMO, tax exemption rulings and certificates issued prior to June 30, 2012 shall remain valid until December 31, 2013.  
The Foundation has filed in December 2013 its application in compliance with the RMO and is still awaiting approval from the RDO.

20.2  Net Operating Loss Carryover

The Foundation did not recognize deferred tax assets arising from NOLCO incurred on the Foundation’s incidental taxable activities since the 
Foundation does not expect to be in a taxable position in the future relative to its incidental taxable activities. Unrecognized deferred tax asset 
related to NOLCO as of September 30, 2016 and 2015 amounted to P146,704 and P3,213,735, respectively.

The Foundation is required to pay minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) computed at 2% of gross income as defined under the tax regulations, 
or the regular corporate income tax (RCIT), whichever is higher, on income arising from operations not covered by its tax exemption as a
non-stock, non-profit corporation. The Foundation is liable for MCIT amounting to P221,700 and P193,946 in 2016 and 2015, respectively, on 
its taxable activities and is presented as Tax Expense in the statements of profit or loss.

The Foundation’s NOLCO related to its taxable activities as of September 30, 2016 follows:

The details of the Foundation’s MCIT and the period until which they can be applied against RCIT are as follows:

Year Incurred Amount Expired Balance Valid Until

2016 P 221,700 P - P 221,700 2019
2015 193,946 - 193,946 2018
2014 159,166 - 159,166 2017

P 574,812 P - P 574,812

The Foundation claimed the itemized deductions in computing for its income tax due on its taxable activities.
     
As of September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Foundation has creditable withholding taxes amounting to P2,150,525 and P2,372,225, respectively, 
net of P221,700 and P193,946, MCIT due for 2016 and 2015, respectively, which is presented as part of Other Current Assets account in the 
statements of financial position (see Note 12).
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2016 2015

Within one year P 45,255 P 45,255
More than one year but not more
    than five years 183,848 181,020
More than five years 192,332 240,415

P 421,435 P             466,690

21.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies relating to the operations of the Foundation:
 

21.1 Agreement with Department of Finance (DOF)

In September 1989, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) and the Foundation entered into a grant agreement for 
the SMEC project pursuant to which USAID agreed to provide funds to IFIs for lending to small and medium scale enterprises located outside 
of the National Capital Region. The SMEC Project included a grant credit component amounting to US$12,000,000 or P286,870,000,000, and 
a research and policy analysis component and a training and loan development component amounting to US$1,000,000.

A trust fund, managed by the Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP), was established for purposes of this facility.  The DOF, representing 
the ROP as beneficiary of the funds, assumed control and ownership over the SMEC fund after the grant expired on December 31, 1992. The 
DOF has approved the implementation of the SMEC Project until September 30, 2019.  A Project Implementation Committee (PIC) composed 
of private and public sector representatives (of which the DOF is a member) oversees this SMEC project. The Foundation has no remittances 
for the year ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.

For implementing the SMEC project, the DOF compensates the Foundation by way of a management fee of 1.75% of the principal amount 
disbursed from the Liquidity Facility Fund, effective October 1, 2000.  The Foundation earned management fees amounting to P3,186,250 and 
P2,859,063 in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The breakdown of the total assets managed by the Foundation on behalf of DOF as beneficiary of the SMEC fund which are not recognized as 
part of the Foundation’s assets is shown below.

2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents P 86,787,366 P 93,979,136
Loans and other receivables - net 187,169,321 180,049,470

P     273,956,687 P      274,028,606

21.2  Operating Lease Commitment – Foundation as Lessor
 

The Foundation has a lease agreement with HPCI covering the lease of two parcels of land with remaining term of 11 years up to 2025 based 
on the leaseback option of the original term of the agreement which HPCI has exercised (see Note 11). The lease agreement, treated as 
operating lease, provides for annual rentals to be paid by HPCI to the Foundation, based on percentages ranging from 1.6% to 3.4% of the fair 
market value of the leased properties amounting to P1,145,161 at the inception of the lease. Moreover, the lease agreement also stipulates 
that, should the fair market value of the leased property during the extended period be higher than that of the original value at the inception 
of the lease, the rental should be adjusted based on the higher fair market value using the original stipulated rate, provided that the annual 
rental will not exceed 25% of the amount of rental for the said years. Rental income recognized from the properties amounted to P45,255 and 
P42,427 in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The future minimum rental receivables under this operating lease as of September 30 are as follows:

 

21.3  Operating Lease Commitment – Foundation as Lessee

The Foundation entered into lease agreements for the lease of its regional office spaces in Davao and Cebu.  These leases, which are accounted 
for under operating leases, have terms of one year and are renewable upon expiration through mutual consent between the parties.  The total 
rental payments recorded under Project Development and Monitoring Expenses account amounted to P1,329,184 and P1,213,500 in 2016 and 
2015, respectively (see Note 17.1).  As of September 30, 2016, the minimum future rental payments under these operating leases to be made 
by the Foundation within one year from end of reporting date amounted to P1,334,535.
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Balance at beginning of year P 14,176,457
Services lodged under other accounts 3,674,460
Goods other than for resale
      or manufacture 496,065
Applied against output VAT ( 1,290,949)

Balance at end of year P      17,056,033

21.4 General

In the normal course of the Foundation’s operations and undertakings, it makes various commitments and incurs certain contingent liabilities 
that are not reflected in the financial statements. Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and 
contingencies will not have any material effects on the financial statements.

 

22.  FUND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The general objective of the Foundation’s fund management is the preservation of the fund balance and to work towards its growth so that the 
imperatives of development work can be sustained.

The Foundation manages the fund structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. To preserve the fund balance, it is the Foundation’s policy to allocate 50% of income derived from 
investments to the designated fund.

The Foundation’s goal in fund management is to ensure the long-term continuity of the fund and its services through the following undertakings:

a. Investing the fund in high yielding, low risk instruments;
b. Calibrating disbursements for Foundation operations and assistance to partners to the amount of funds readily available; and, 
c. Limiting operating expenses to a maximum of 12% to 15% of total support and income and 12% to 15% against total expenditures.

The Foundation has complied with its undertakings.  For the year ended September 30, 2016, the operating-expense-to-total-support-and-
income ratio is 5%, while the operating-expense-to-total-expenditures ratio is 4%.

23.  SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE BUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE 

Presented below is the supplementary information which is required by the BIR under its existing revenue regulations to be disclosed as part 
of the notes to financial statements.  This supplementary information is not a required disclosure under PFRS.

23.1 Requirements under Revenue Regulations (RR) 15-2010 

(a)   Output Value-added Tax (VAT)

In 2016, the Foundation declared output VAT amounting to P787,313 based on the total Vatable revenues from rendering of services 
amounting to P6,560,941 reported as part of Other Income account in the 2016 statement of profit or loss.  The tax bases for rendering 
of services are based on the Foundation’s gross receipts for the year, hence, may not be the same as the amounts reported in the 2016 
statement of profit or loss.

As discussed in Note 20.1, the Foundation, as a non-stock and non-profit corporation, is exempt from paying VAT on receipts of grants 
and contributions and donations along with its income tax exemption pursuant to Section 30 of the Tax Reform Act of 1997, as amended 
by RA No. 8424.  
  
Output VAT declared during the year were set off against the Foundation’s available input VAT on purchases of goods and services.

 
(b)    Input VAT
 

The movements in input VAT in 2016 are summarized below.

The balance of input VAT as of September 30, 2016 is presented as part of Other Current Assets account in the 2016 statement of 
financial position (see Note 12).
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Note

General operating expenses 18.2 P
            

1,222,721
Project development 
        monitoring expenses 18.1 31,103

P 1,253,824

Compensation and employee benefits P 35,001,342
Expanded 14,044,109
Final 563,222
Fringe benefits 5,788

P 49,614,461

(c)   Taxes on Importation

In 2016, the Foundation did not have customs duties and tariff fees paid on importation as there were no importations made during the 
year.

(d)    Excise Tax

The Foundation did not have any transactions in 2016 which are subject to excise tax.

(e)    Documentary Stamp Tax

The Foundation did not incur any documentary stamp taxes in 2016 as it did not execute any documents, instruments, loan agreements 
and papers evidencing the acceptance, assignment, sale or transfer of an obligation, and any right or property hereunto during the year.

(f)    Taxes and Licenses

The details of Taxes and Licenses for the year ended September 30, 2016 follow:

Real property taxes P           1,089,452
Municipal licenses and permits 110,031
Annual registration fees 42,669
Miscellaneous 11,672

P          1,253,824

The amounts of taxes and licenses are allocated as follows

(g)   Withholding Taxes

The details of total withholding taxes for the year ended September 30, 2016 are shown below.

(h)    Deficiency Tax Assessments and Tax Cases

As of September 30, 2016, the Foundation does not have any final deficiency tax assessments from the BIR nor does it have tax cases 
outstanding or pending in courts or other bodies outside of the BIR in any of the open taxable years.
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Grants and contributions P 2,026,133,977
Members’ donations 76,056,200

P 2,102,190,177

Exempt
Regular 
Tax Rate

Investment Income P 11,309,490 -
Rental  - P 4,724,451
Realized foreign exchange gains  - 4,180,469
Management fees  - 4,107,882
Contract income  - 3,087,193
Miscellaneous - 1,795,521

P 11,309,490 P 17,895,516

Exempt
Regular 
Tax Rate

Grants expenses - restricted P 2,045,680,545 P -
Grants expenses - unrestricted 9,203,831 -
Trustee fees - 2,099,478
Contract expense - 2,029,563
Salaries and wages - 1,810,497
Rental - 760,476
Miscellaneous - 110,511

P  2,054,884,376 P        6,810,525

23.2  Requirements under RR 19-2011

RR 19-2011 requires schedules of taxable revenues and other non-operating income, costs of sales and services, itemized deductions and 
other significant tax information, to be disclosed in the notes to financial statements.   

The Foundation’s revenues are exempt from income tax (see Notes 1 and 20). However, income derived by the Foundation from its properties, 
real or personal, or from any of its activities not covered by the exemption or activities conducted for profit regardless of the disposition made 
of such income, is subject to the regular corporate income tax.

The amounts of taxable revenues and income, and deductible costs and expenses presented below are based on relevant tax regulations 
issued by the BIR; hence, may not be the same as the amounts reflected in the 2016 statement of profit or loss.

(a)    Revenues

The details of the Foundation’s exempt revenues for the year ended September 30, 2016 is presented below.

(b)   Non-operating and Other Income

The details of non-operating and other income in 2016, which are subject to regular tax rate are shown below.

(c)    Cost of Sales and Services

The details of the Foundation’s deductible cost of sales and services in 2016 are shown below.
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Exempt
Regular Tax 

Rate

Salaries and employee benefits P 76,481,016 P -
Communication, light and water 3,491,026 -
Professional fees 2,777,852 -
Repairs and maintenance 2,573,294 -
Transportation and travel 1,730,430 -
Depreciation and amortization 1,479,933  861,566
Rental 1,329,184 -
Taxes and licenses 1,222,721 -
Office supplies 676,445 -
Insurance 403,111 -
Security and janitorial 168,145 -
Miscellaneous 9,118,962 -

101,452,119 861,566
Application of NOLCO - 10,223,425

P 101,452,119 P 11,084,991

(d)   Itemized Deductions

The amounts of itemized deductions for the year ended September 30, 2016 are as follows:
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 Donors  Project Name 
 Funds 

 Received this 
 Year

 Grants 
 Expenses this 

 Year

 Deferred 
 Support as of 
 September 30, 

2016

 Amount 
 Approved by 

 Donors

1 The Global Fund Sustaining TB Control and Ensuring Universal Access to Comprehensive Quality TB Care P  1,300,223,949.14 P 1,487,293,501.25 P  180,967,459.54 P  3,110,791,537.00 

2 United States Agency for International Development Innovations & Multi-Sectoral Partnerships to Achieve Control of Tuberculosis (IMPACT)  213,902,713.97  205,142,525.91  7,131,453 .11  1,386,311,428.95 

Micro Enterprise Disaster Assistance (MIDAS) for Resiliency Fund Project

BE SECURE

3 Oxfam GB Development of Municipal Septage Management Services  24,204,991.99  973,058.71  23,556,933.28 23,471,082.00

4 Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade Classroom Construction Support (Philippines)  11,083,335.10  126,444,087.07  533,519,595.65  973,341,562.00 

Brokering Business Investments in the Bangsamoro to Achieve Inclusive
     Development and Growth

5 Accenture, Inc. Accenture PC Donation Project (Luzon)  9,226,428.10  8,555,587.87  16,412,716.37  25,597,340.99 

Accenture Inc Desktop Computers Donation to Public Schools in Cebu City Project

Accenture Skills to Succeed Near Hire Training and
     Employment Facilitation Program Batch 3

Accenture Inc - Senior High School Program - Asia Pacific College

Accenture Inc - Senior High School Program with APEC Schools

Accenture Support to Marikina Watershed Year 4

2016 Accenture Trees Project

Grant Management for Passerelles Numeriques Cebu Year 3

Assumpta Technical High School Scholarship Project

2016 Accenture Trees Project 2

Accenture Skills to Succeed Youth Training and Employment 2016

Accenture Ready for School Visayas 2016

6 Telstra Foundation Philippines, Inc. Telstra - Barugo 1 Central School Classroom Repair Project  8,823,572.24  3,306,152.95  6,171,814.08  2,437,726.10 

Telstra Teletech Project Bayanihan

Telstra Teleperformance Assistance to Maligaya HS

BP Incubation Group 1

Telstra Support for the Bayanihang Pampaaralan National Coalition

7 Philippine Disaster Resilience Foundation Scholarship for Senior High School Students in Selected
     Typhoon Yolanda Affected Areas

 8,796,786.00  3,532,364.85  5,264,421.15  15,603,406.00 

Mangrove Enrichment and Rehabilitation Project

8 Fundacion Humanismo y Democracia Reduccion Dela Vulnerabilidad De Las Comunidades Afectadas Por El 
     Tifon Bopha-Agusan Del Sur

 7,831,334.78  6,087,067.14  6,613,688.65  12,222,311.59 

Batad Central School Classroom Reconstruction Project

9 Petron Corporation Tulong Aral High School Scholarship Program  7,794,348.01  6,631,783.00  2,712,745.05  16,631,685.01 

10 International Container Terminal Services, Inc. Parola Household Wastes Livelihood Project  6,079,228.35  4,218,998.66  3,857,729.10  7,146,280.55 

ICTSI Potable Water System Project

ICTSI Safe Motherhood Caravan

ICTSI Support to the Marikina Watershed Project

ICTSI Parola Solid Waste Management Project Year 3

11 International Rescue Committee IRC Potable Water System Project for Yolanda Affected Communities in Iloilo  5,824,352.71  322,964.97  3,781,288.32  29,041,400.00 

Typhoon Yolanda Relief and Recovery in Iloilo (Fishing Value Chain Development)

12 Insular Life Assurance Co Ltd Insular Life San Fernando Central Elementary School Classroom Reconstruction Project  4,926,460.00  1,741,775.65  4,715,830.73  4,729,280.00 

Insular Life Classroom Construction Project San Jose Public Schools

13 Standard Chartered Bank Standard Chartered Banca ng Buhay: School Boat for Mobility and Livelihood Project  4,000,000.00  2,213,647.67  1,786,352.33 4,000,000.00

Standard Chartered Corp. Assist. on Recovery of Economic Livelihood
     of the Displaced Families Proj

14 Siam Cement Group SCG Sharing the Dream 2016 High School Scholarship Program  3,925,900.00  3,532,646.61  2,243,395.69  7,218,000.00 

15 Unilever Philippines, Inc. Project Sweep (A Unilever Solid Waste Recovery Project)  3,603,269.84  1,738,430.10  1,864,839.74 2,821,154.40

Unilever Coconut Working Group Support Project

16 Pioneer Hi-Bred Phils., Inc. Dupont Pioneer Farming Academy/Community Disaster
     Evacuation Center Project in Leyte

 3,225,000.00  2,328,135.09  673,673.14  6,450,000.00 

17 Mondelez Philippines Inc. Mondelez Joy Schools Program 2016 NCR  2,464,650.35  5,444,815.92  1,892,814.09  10,443,893.20 

Mondelez Joy Schools Yr.3 NCR

Mondelez Joy School - Panalaron Central School Rebuilding Project Year 2

18 Cargill Philippines Assist to Recovery and Rehabilitation of Haiyan-Affected Coconut Areas  2,000,000.00  4,654,184.69  912,315.75  11,184,762.00 

Cargill Support to the Marikina Watershed Project

19 Philippine Long Distance Telephone (PLDT) Company Support to Technical and Vocational Education and Training of
     Surigao State College of Technology

 2,000,000.00  714,589.73  2,000,000.00  1,418,548.50 

20 Others  214,089,534.94 170,804,227.00  275,834,985.13

  TOTAL P 1,844,025,855.52 P 2,045,680,544.84 P 1,081,914,050.90  Not applicable 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 2015 | Amounts in Philippine Pesos

SCHEDULE OF TOP 20 DONORS
ON THE BASIS OF RESTRICTED FUNDS RECEIVED
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List of Donors
20-12 Property Holdings, Inc.
2GO Group Inc.
A. Soriano Corporation 
AAI Charity Foundation, Inc.
AAI Worldwide Logistics, Inc.
AB Capital and Investment Corporation
Aboitiz and Company, Inc.
Aboitiz Foundation, Inc.
Academe Foundation, Inc.
Accenture Philippines
Accenture Inc.
ACE Charitable Foundation
Ace Insurance Philippines
ACS Manufacturing Corporation
ADB Step-Up Reflows
AEON Land Development Corporation
AES Philippines
Adventist Development and Relief Agency 
Philippines
Agencia Espanola de Cooperacion 
Internacional para el Desarollo
Agencia Espanola Extremeña de 
Cooperacion Internacional para el Desarollo
All Transport Network
Alliance Media Printing, Inc.
Alsons Development and Investment 
Corporation
Alvarez Foundation
Amarela Resort Corporation
American Wire and Cable Company
AMWAY Gesselschaft
Anflo Management and Investment 
Corporation
Angelo King Foundation, Inc.
Antoinette Molleno
Antonio Moraza
Antonio Y. Aboitiz
Apl de AP Foundation
Apo Cement Corporation
Airfreight 2100, Inc.
Asalus Corporation (Intellicare)
Asian Appraisal Company, Inc.
Asian Development Bank
Asian Development Bank - Japan Fund for 
Poverty Reduction
Asian Development Bank STEP UP Reflows
Assumption Alumnae Association, Inc.
Atlantic Coatings, Inc.
Autoliv Cebu Safety Manufacturing, Inc.
Auto Nation Group, Inc.
Auto Nation Group (Cats Motors)
Avon Manufacturing, Inc.

Axelum Resources Corporation

Bahay ni Angelo King Foundation
Bali Oil Palm Produce Corporation
Bangko Kabayan Foundation, Inc.
BASF Philippines
Banco de Oro
BDO Foundation
BDO Unibank, Inc.
Bio-tech Environmental Services 
Philippines, Inc.
BISCOM, Inc.
BMZ/KKS
Bohol Bee Farm
Brother International (Philippines) 
Corporation
Brummer and Partners, Inc.

C-One Trading Corporation
Cargill Philippines, Inc.
Catholic Relief Services
Caucus of Development NGO Networks
CDO Foodsphere, Inc.
Cebu Dynamic Youth
Cebu Furniture Industry Foundation
Cebu Iwakami
Cebu Landmasters, Inc.
Cebu Mitsumi Multi-purpose Cooperative
Cebu Trip Rent a Car
Center for Asian Philanthropy and Society 
(CAPS)
Communications Electrical Equipment and 
Supply Company (CELEASCO)
CEMAP
Cemex Philippines
Cemex Philippine Foundation, Inc.
Cement Manufacturers’ Association of the 
Philippines (CEMAP)
Central Azucarera Don Pedro
Charities Aid Foundation of America
Chemonics International, Inc.
Childfund  International Philippines
Childrens Hour Philippines, Inc.
China Trust and Banking Corporation 
(CTBC Philippines)
Chubb/ACE Insurance
Citibank NA Philippines (GCIB)
Citi Philippines
City Savings Bank, Inc.
Claire Yap
Cleanway Environmental Management 

Solutions, Inc.
Coca-Cola Foundation Atlanta, Inc.
Coca-Cola Foundation Philippines, Inc.
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial 
Research Organisation
Coral Bay Nickel Corporation
Corithian Commercial Corporation
Cotabato Light and Power Company
Country Bakers Life Insurance Corporation

Davao Light and Power Company, Inc.
Davao United Builders Construction (DUBC) 
Corporation
DDB Philippines, Inc.
Degalen Corporation
Del Monte Philippines, Inc.
Delegation of European Union to the 
Philippines
Deloitte Philippines (Navarro Amper & Co.)
Deloitte Philippines Outreach, Inc.
Department of Finance
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade - 
Australia
Department of Social Welfare and 
Development
Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale 
Zusammenarbeit
Deutsche Knowledge Services Pte. Ltd.
Dionisio Banaay III
Diwa Learning Systems, Inc.
Dole Philippines, Inc. – Stanfilco Division
Don Antonio O. Floirendo Sr Foundation, Inc.
Digitel Telecom
DISOP Philippines
Dow Chemical Pacific Ltd.
Dr. Pablo O. Torre Memorial Hospital
DUBC Construction Corporation
Dumaguete City Development Bank
DuPont Far East, Inc.
Du Pont Far East, Inc. (Pioneer Hi-Bred 
Philippines, Inc.)
DuPont Pioneer
Dupont Pioneer Philippines, Inc.
Duros Development Corporation

East Asia Utilities Corporation
East West Seed Company, Inc.
East West Seeds Foundation
EHD Logistics, Inc.
Ephraim Signo
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Elena Tan Foundation
Embassy of Japan
Employees of Abbott 
Employees of Fluor Corporation
Employees of PBSP and Friends 
Employees of The Hershey Company 

Enderun Colleges, Inc.
ePLDT, Inc.
Epson Precision (Philippines), Inc.
Ernesto Yu Foundation, Inc.

Far East Corn Refining, Inc.
Fairchild Semiconductors
Fast Cargo Logistics
Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation 
and Development (Germany)
Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation 
and Development (BMZ)
FGP Corporation
First Consolidated Bank
First Gen Corporation
First Philippine Holdings Corporation
Fluor Daniel, Inc. (Philippines)
Fluor Philippines
Flying V
Fooda Saversmart Corporation
Foodflow, Inc.
Foundation for a Sustainable Society Inc.
Fresh Fruits Ingredients, Inc.
F. R. Sevilla Industrial and Development 
Corporation
Funai Electric Cebu, Inc.
Fundacion Humanismo y Democracia

Gina Aboitiz
Give2Asia
Give2Asia Philippines
Give2Asia-PepsiCo
GlaxoSmithKline
Global Giving
GMR Megawide Cebu Airport Corporation
Golden Prince Hotel adn Suites
Gothong Southern Shipping Lines, Inc.
Goulburn Concept, Inc.
Grand Challenges Canada

Harbest Agribusiness Corporation
Hawaiian-Philippine Company
Hayakawa Electronics
Headways
HELP from Germany International Labor 
Organization
Holcim Philippines
Honda Cars – CDO
Honda Cars Makati
Hospira Philippines, Inc.
Ho Tong Hardware, Inc.
Holcim Philippines, Inc.
IBM Philippines, Inc.
Ina Ronquillo
Inland Corporation
Integrated School for Young Children
International Container Services, Inc. / 
ICTSI Foundation
Intel Foundation
Intel Semiconductor, Philippines
Intel Semiconductor (US) LLC
Inter-Church Organization for Development 
Cooperation
International Labor Organizations
International Rescue Committee
Isabela Leaf Tobacco, Inc.

Jardine Distribution, Inc.
J Park Island
Jaime Jose Aboitiz
Japan International Cooperation Agency 
JEWM Agro-Industrial Corporation
Jollibee Group Foundation, Inc.
Jose Antonio Aboitiz 
Juanito King & Sons, Inc.
Juanito I. King Foundation, Inc

Karl Kubel Stiftung fur Kind und Familie
Kasilak Development Foundation
Kawasaki Motors (Phils.) Corporation
Konrad Adenauer Foundation

Lamoiyan Corporation
Lao Integrated Farm, Inc.
League of Corporate Foundations 
Lear Automotive
Lear Automotive Services (Netherlands) 
B.V. Philippine Branch 
Lear Corporation

LeonioLand Holdings, Inc.
Levi's Foundation, USA
Lexmark Research and Development 
Corporation
Loralaine Siosa
Lorelei Chico
Ludo and Lu Ym Corporation

M & H Food Corporation (Henlin)
Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation
Macare Medicals, Inc.
Macondray Plastics Products, Inc.
Mactan Bank
Mactan Rock Industries, Inc.
Manila Bankers Life Insurance Corporation
Manila Water Company, Inc.
Magsaysay Transport and Logistics Co.
Magsaysay Transport Group, Inc.
Makoto Metal Technology, Inc.
Maria Cristina Aboitiz-Juan
Maria Luisa Booth
Marilag Corporation
Mary Ann Aboitiz Arculli
Mariwasa Siam Ceramics
Maynilad Water Services, Inc.
McMai (Cebu) Trading Corporation
MCWD
MEDICard Foundation, Inc.
Medicard Philippines, Inc.
Mega Packaging Corporation
Megawide Construction Corporation
Megawide Corporate Foundation, Inc.
Menzi and Company, Inc.
MERALCO
Meralco Foundation
Mercury Drug Corporation
Mercury Drug Foundation, Inc.
Metal Prodigy, Inc.
Methode Electronics Far East
Metro Pacific Investments Corporation
Metro Wear, Inc.
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company
MIDAS Reflows
Milaor Trading Corporation
Mindanao Container Corporation
Mindanao International Container Services
Modern Glass Distributors, Inc.
Monark Equipment Corporation
Monde Nissin MY San
Mondelez Philipppines, Inc.
Monocrete Realty and Development 
Corporation
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Moog Controls Corporation
Motolite
MSA Lorry Hauling Services Corporation
MSM Cebu, Inc.
Mt. Kitanglad Agri-Development 
Corporation
Mt. Kitanglad Agri-Ventures, Inc.
My Hotel
MY San Monde Nissin Corporation

National Grid Corporation of the Philippines 
(NGCP)
National Marine Corporation
Navarro Amer and Company
NEH Philippines, Inc.
Nestle Philippines, Inc.
Nicolas Paradies
Ninoy and Cory Aquino Foundation
Nippon Foundation
Ng Khai Development Corporation
NKC Manufacturing, Inc.
Nutri Asia, Inc.
NXP Semiconductor

One Meralco Foundation, Inc.
OPASCOR
Oriental & Motolite Marketing Corporation
Oriental Port and Allied Services 
Corporation
Oxfam GB
Oxfam

Pacific Paint (Boysen) Philippines, Inc.
Pacific Traders and Manufacturing 
Corporation
Paglas Corporation
Pall Roces Corporation
Panasonic Japan
Panasonic Philippines
Parity Values, Inc.
Partnership for Development Assistance in 
the Philippines, Inc.
Patrick Talavera
PBSP Outing 2015 White Team
PEBA Tandem Manufacturing
People’s Agri Service and Supply, Inc.
Pepsico, Inc.
Petron Corporation
Petron Foundation, Inc.
Pfizer, Inc.
Pfizer Philippines Foundation
PGA Cars, Inc.
PEZA – Mactan
Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy Products 
Corporation

PhilAm Foundation, Inc.
Philbest Canning Corporation
Phil Seven Foundation/7-Eleven
PHILUSA Corporation
Philex Mining Corporation
Philippine Airlines Foundation
Philippine Associated Smelting and 
Refining Corporation
Philippine-Australia Community Assistance 
Program
Philippine Business for Education
Philippine Daily Inquirer, Inc.
Philippine Disaster Resiliency Foundation
Philippine EDS Techno Service, Inc.
Philippine Health Food Manufacturing, Inc.
Philippine Italian
Philippine Investment Management 
(PHINMA), Inc.
Philippine Long Distance Telephone (PLDT) 
Company
Philippine Seven Corporation
Philippine Seven Foundation, Inc.
Philippine Stock Exchange  Foundation, Inc.
Philippine Tobacco Flue-Curing and 
Redrying Corporation
Philippine Water Spring Resources, Inc.
Philippine Tonan Corporation
Philips Electronics and Lightning, Inc.
Philtranco Service Enterprises, Inc.
PhilPacific Insurance Brokers and 
Managers, Inc.
Phoenix Petroleum Philippines, Inc.
Pilipinas Kao, Inc.
Pilipinas Kyohritsu, Inc.
Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corporation
PILMICO Foods Corporation
Pinoy Relief Fund
Plantation Bay
Plaza de Luiza Development, Inc. 
Play Innovations, Inc. (Kidzania)
PLDT-Smart Foundation, Inc.
Ponderosa Farms, Inc.
Prudential Guarantee and Assurance, Inc.
Pulp Specialties Philippines, Inc.
Punongbayan & Araullo

Qualfon Philippines, Inc.
Quest Fellowship
Quezon Power (Philippines), Limited Co.

R. Greenspan
Ramcar, Inc.
Ramgo International Corporation
Ramon Aboitiz Foundation, Inc.
Randy Banaag
Realpage Philippines, Inc.

Regency Inn, Inc.
Regent Foods Corporation
Rene Ronquillo
Rex Group of Companies
RGV Real Estate Center, Inc.
Rio Tuba Nickel Mining Corporation
River Valley Distribution
Rizal Theatrical Company, Inc.
Robert Booth
Rocca Drug Corporation
Rosa Fiore House Corporation
Rotary Club of Cebu South
Rotary Club of Kapolei Sunset
Roxas and Company, Inc.
Roxas Holdings, Inc.
Royalco Philippines, Inc.
Ruchel Pascual

Saguittarius Mines, Inc.
S & R Membership Shopping
Sagres Corporation
Salome Tan Foundation
San Miguel Brewery
San Miguel Corporation
San Miguel Corporation Foundation, Inc.
San Miguel Yamamura Packaging 
Corporation
Sawo, Inc.
SCOPE-DED/GIZ
Servicio Filipino, Inc.
Shangri-La’s Mactan Resort and Spa
Shell Chemical
Shell Companies of the Philippines
Siam Cement Group
Sitangkai Seaweeds Export Company
SM Foundation, Inc.
SM Investments Corporation
SMART Communications, Inc.
Solid Cement Corporation
Specialty Pulp Manufacturing, Inc.
St. Luke’s Medical Center – Global
Sta. Ana, Rivera and Company, CPA’s
Sta. Maria Industrial Park
Standard Chartered Bank
Stradcom Corporation
STEAG State Power, Inc.   
Sultan Kudarat Milling & Trading, Inc.               
Sun Life Financial
Sunstar Publishing, Inc.
Sunvar Realty Development Corporation
Suyen Corporation
Suzuki Philippines
Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. (SGV)
Sycip, Gorres, Velayo (SGV) Foundation, Inc.
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Tagum Agricultural Development 
Corporation (TADECO)
Taiyo Yuden Philippines, Inc.
Tao Corporation
Techno Freeze, Inc.
Teena Avilla
Telstra Foundation (Philippines), Inc.
Telus International Philippines Community 
Board
TFL Logistics
TGP Pharma, Inc.
The Asia Foundation
The Bellevue Manila
The Bookmark, Inc.
The Ford Foundation
The Generics Pharmacy Franchising 
Corporation
The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis 
and Malaria
The Hershey Company-ROHQ
The Insular Life Assurance Company, Ltd
The Net Group Realty Estate Management 
Corporation
The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.
The Philodrill Corporation
Tinapayan Festival
Tokyo Steel Philippines Corporation
Toshiba Info Equipment Philippines, Inc.
Toyota-Batangas City
Trakwell Transport Link, Inc.
Transitions Optical Philippines, Inc.
Transworld Brokerage Corporation
Tri-bar One Logistics Company
Trumpets, Inc.
TSM Shipping (Philippines), Inc.
TVI Resources Development (Phils.), Inc.
Tzu-Chi Foundation

UBS Securities Philippines, Inc.
Unifruitti Tropical Philippines, Inc.
Unilever Philippines, Inc.
Union Bank of the Philippines
Union Galvasteel Corporation
United Laboratories, Inc.ds
United Nations Development Program - 
Business Call to Action
United Pulp & Paper Company, Inc.
United States Agency for International 
Development
United States Agency for International 
Development-AECOM
United Way Worldwide
United Way Worlwide/Citi Foundation
University of Asia and the Pacific
University of San Carlos Campus Lions 
Club

United States Agency for International 
Development - Educational Development 
Center
United States Agnecy for International 
Development (BeSecure)

Victory Liner Foundation, Inc./Doña Marta 
Hernandez Foundation
Virginia Food, Inc.
Visayan Electric Company, Inc.
Vivant Corporation

W Group Inc.
Warehouse One System
Watsons Personal Care Stores (Phils.), Inc.
WebDotCom
Welding Industries of the Philippines, Inc.
Wellmade Motors and Development 
Corporation
WF Freight Cargo
W.P. Smith Stiftung
World Bank
World Food Programme
Wyeth Philippines, Inc.

Xavier Aboitiz

Yutivo Corporation

Zuellig Corporation
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